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Beijing City
tEH @Cylinder gas HEHMET
1 cylinder project in Beijing.
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Chonggqing City
BE™ @ Piped gas EEME  Cylinder gas EHME
3 piped gas projects, including Tongnan.
3EEERRIRE - BiEEmR -
1 cylinder gas project in Chongaing.
1 {ERENRIEEIREED °
Fujian Province
Bed @ Piped gas EEMR
40 piped gas projects, which covers 8 regions (total 9 regions) in
Fujian Province including Zhangzhou; Longyan; Sanming; Nanping;
Ningde and Fuzhou etc.
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Efitik @ Cylinder gas FEZMT
BAE 1 cylinder gas project in Baise.
1 EEERRER R B e -
Guizhou Province
BME OPiped gas EIEMR  Cylinder gas EEMT
13 cylinder gas projects, including Guizhou; Changshun; Southwest Panva; Zunyi
Panva and Xingyi Panva.
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1 piped gas project in Zhenfeng county.
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Hebei Province @ Cylinder gas MR
AR 1 ¢ylinder gas project in Rengiu.
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Henan Province @ Cylinder gas f#3IRS
AEHE 1 cylinder gas project in Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou.
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Henan Province

Hubei Province

AdLE

ebei Province

. EEMRIER
Cylinder gas project

) EEMRIER
Piped gas project

) BERBKIER

Barrelled drinking water project

Hubei Province

HitE @ Cylinder gas KRR
1 cylinder gas project in Jingzhou.
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Hunan Province

HEE @ Cylinder gas FERMR
9 cylinder gas projects including Hunan and Xupu.
9 fEERMTIAE - BENERAE

Jilin Province

HHE © Gas AR

1 gas project in Yanbian.
1 EARIE B LS ©

Shaanxi Province
BEE ® Piped gas EEMR  Cylinder gas HEMT
2 piped gas projects, including Yanliang and Fuping.
2 EEEREIEE  BEERRET -
1 cylinder gas project in Xi‘an.
1 BRI B AR o

Sichuan Province

)il ® Piped gas EIEMR / Cylinder gas HEHMRE

5 piped gas projects, including Mianzhu; Yanting; Hanwang and Beichuan.

SEEERRIER - AERIT - B ORER)I -
3 ¢ylinder gas projects located in Chengdu and Deyang.
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Tianjin City

REM @ Cyliander gas %45, Barrelled drinking water #8388 f7k
5 cylinder gas projects in Tianjin.
5 {EERPARIE B (LA RIET ©
1 barrelled drinking water project in Tianjin.
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Yunnan Province
EME @ Cylinder gas EHMR
17 cylinder gas projects, including Yunnan; Yunnan Panva;

Baoshan Panva and Yunnan Jiehua.
17 [EREERURE - BREER  ERET - RUETIRERMREL -



27

37

67

83

89

91

93

95

99

222

224

Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 AR S

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

RERBEREMEZEKBARRE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI RE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mMEERBER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RERERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

Corporate Information

DRAEHR

Five-Year Financial Summary

LERKHE



On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we”), | am pleased to
present the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March
2018 (the “Year”) to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)").

After a long period of practice and exploration, the Group has
identified the development direction of its interim and short-
term business. The business of the Group will be defined as the
operation and management of the sales, distribution and supply
chain, which take end-users as our services target, and adopt
the whole supply chain procedure, which includes procurement,
logistics (transportation, warehousing, distribution) and end-
selling (B2B&B2C), into the business area of the Group's enterprise
operational management.

Currently, the Group's business is divided into four major types of
operational management systems: (1) provision of piped gas; (2) sales
and distribution of cylinder gas; (3) production and sales of barrelled
drinking water and (4) food ingredients and fast moving consumer
goods (“"FMCG") supply chain business.

Provision of piped gas is an urban pipeline distribution business
and operated under the brand name of “Civigas” (CVG), It is a
business system using urban gas pipeline network to complete the
procurement, logistics, and end-selling of flammable gases fuel
namely natural gas (NG), liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) and dimethyl
ether (DME) (collectively referred to as “piped gas”), etc.

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas also operated under the brand
name of “Civigas” (CVG), but the business system is using tank
containers (pressure or cryogenic) as carriers storing flammable
gases fuel including liquefied natural gas (LNG), LPG and DME etc.
(collectively referred to as “cylinder gas”) separately to finish the
procurement, logistics, and end-selling of cylinder gas.
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The production base of barrelled drinking water is in Tianjin, though
the use of our distribution network of cylinder gas to complete the
logistics, and end-selling of barrelled drinking water to end-users.

The food ingredients and FMCG supply chain business will be
the other business area the Group intended to focus and actively
developed. The supply chain system of food ingredients will be
operated under the brand name of “Civi Kitchen” and “Yelang
Kitchen” while FMCG will be operated under the brand name “Civi
Home"”. As the new business growth point of the Group, we will
summarise and develop a business model that is suitable for the
Group’s development, work steadily to expand the Group's business
scope in the supply chain of food ingredients and FMCG and create
new profit growth point for the Group; increase the enterprise value
of the Group to reward all Shareholders.

In 2017, the domestic GDP reached approximately RMB80,000
billion, representing an increase of 6.9%. China upholds her
philosophy on new development, and persistently focusing on
improving the quality of development and efficiency, as well as
making the supply-side structural reform as her main theme. By
organising and motivating various projects, China’s economy
develops in a stable yet thriving condition, which results better than
expectation, maintaining both economy and society grow in a stable
and healthy way.

Benefiting from the advancement of the macro-economy and the
determination of the state to settle the environmental pollution, the
apparent consumption of China natural gas grew rapidly in 2017,
representing an increase of 15.3%, whom growth rate is higher
than the previous two years. Through the strong business expansion
and the capability of management and support, the Company,
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates have grasped the
opportunity brought by the external favorable condition, and actively
develop more customers in order to boost the sales volume. During
the Year, the sales volume of piped gas and cylinder gas reached
780.88 million m* and 470,402 tons respectively, representing
a significant increase of 31.81% and 33.08% respectively. The
monumental increase in sales volume drove the revenue of the Year
increased 23.81% to RMB 1.2 billion. The profit for the Year from
continuing operations also increased 31.33% year-on-year to RMB
0.23 billion.
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The Group has added 6 cylinder gas projects during the Year and are
mainly located at Guizhou, Henan, and Hebei Provinces among which
the project in Hebei marked a new journey for the Group to develop
the market in Hebei. Through the expansion and development of
new projects, we expand our business scope and business volume.

As at 31 March 2018, by ensuring the stability of the financial
position, the Group carefully utilises fund for reasonable investment
and seizes the opportunity of business development. During the
Year, the capital structure of the Group was being improved through
the allotment and issuance of subscription shares to a substantial
shareholder to set off the consideration payable. The consolidated
debt-to-capitalisation ratio of the Group, representing the ratio
of total borrowings to total borrowings and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, decreased significantly to 5.98% (2017:
13.57%).

The Board believes that the recent transaction price of the
Company’s shares (“Share(s)”) reflects the undervaluation of the
Shares and does not reflect the true value of the Group. After
considering the current working capital status of the Group, during
April to May 2018, the Group used a total of approximately HKD13
million in repurchase of Shares on the open market and cancelled the
repurchased Shares subsequently. The Share repurchase can increase
the value of the Shares and thus bring benefits to the Shareholders.
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In 2018, clean, low-carbon and high-efficiency have gradually
established as new energy consumption indicators. NG; LNG; LPG
and DME etc are clean energy, and its development and application
have always been the national attention. In the face of worsening
air quality deterioration, the National Development and Reform
Commission and the National Energy Administration required to
speed up the national progress of replacing coal with natural gas
(referred to as “Coal to Gas”). The “13th Five-Year Plan for the
Development of Renewable Energy” (RE/RER+=H &) and the
“13th Five-Year Plan for the Development of Natural Gas" (k%A 5 3%
B+ =H4%l) of China proposed that, by 2020, the proportion of
natural gas among primary energy consumption will have reached
10%, the total mileage of pipeline will have reached 104,000 km,
the overall guaranteed supply will have reached 360 billion m?,
urban gasification rate will have reached 57%. During the period
of 13th Five-Year Plan, the “Coal to Gas” project will increase gas
consumption of 45 billion m?, substitute coal-fired boiler of 189,000
tons of steam. In 2017, the apparent consumption of LPG in China
increased from the previous year. The annual cumulative apparent
consumption amounted to 38.894 million tons, a year-on-year
increase of 14.34%. The national policies and economic growth shall
promote the sustainable development and growth of the urban gas
industry.

Looking ahead, China will continue to carry out ecological
civilisation construction and green low-carbon energy strategy,
while the demand of fuel gas market will continue to grow, brining
possibilities for the fuel gas business of the Group to grow. The
Group will continue to strengthen the development of residential
household customer connection, deepen the potential of industrial
and commercial customers, and further enhance the scale and
management standard of the retail supply of fuel gas business,
constantly consolidating the value of the Group, and release the true
value of the Group through capital open market, and create a better
return for the Shareholders.
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The market demand for food ingredients and FMCG supply chain
business stems from the steady progress of urbanisation in China.
With the growth of the urbanisation rate, the scale of market
expands accordingly; the disposable income level of people increased,
the consumption level in turn rises. The Group will make full use of
national policies, seize market opportunities and expand the Group’s
influence in food ingredients and FMCG industry. Steadily expanding
the business scale, continuous attempts to integrate new business
with existing businesses, strive to achieve economies of scale, further
optimise the Group's income structure, increase corporate value, and
create new benefit growth point for all Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the staunch
support of all Shareholders and the community over the year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman

Beijing, 29 June 2018
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”), under the  #HZE2018F3A31HLFE ([REE]|) KEH
leadership of the directors and management of the Company, all of PREIEANAEEREEENEET RE
our staff executed the development strategies of the Group seriously, ERRTAEENEREE BRTX T2

thus successfully achieving the business goals for the Year. TERZ-
Changes in
25
2017 amount
RMB'000 RMB'000 %

Items HE AREFTT  AR®T:R Bk
Revenue from continuing operations: HEEEEBRA

Provision of piped gas HEEEMRA 536,555 35,138 6.55

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas HERD HRERR 424,081 204,151 48.14

Production and sales of barrelled drinking water EERBERESRAK 8,888 (8,454) (95.12)

Total &t 969,524 230,835 23.81
Segment results of continuing operations: BEEZEBIBEE:

Provision of piped gas HEEEMA 53,452 28,905 54,08

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas HERDHELRR 39,714 (16,845) (42.42)

Production and sales of barrelled drinking water EERBERERAK 6,274 (6,492) (103.47)

Total Bt 99,440 5,568 5.60
Share of results of associates EEBEARER 19,259 14,889 71.31
Share of results of joint ventures EHEBELEXE 129,773 18,570 14.31
Finance costs B (14,779) 2,131 (14.42)
Others Eft (26,341) 8,107 (30.78)
Income tax expense RS (32,284) 5,578 (17.28)
Profit for the year from continuing operations FENEEBAEE RN 175,068 54,843 31.33
Discontinued operation: BREREER:
Profit for the year from discontinued operation BRIHEEERAEE GF 53,433 (53,433) (100.00)
Profit for the year KEERF 228,501 1,410 0.62
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A2 T EH ABMEREF 205,895 (4,439) (2.16)
Earnings per share BREF
From continuing operations REFELEER

Basic (cents) ER(ARES) 2.20 cents 2 0.62 cents 2 28.18

Diluted (cents) B (ARES) 220 cents 7 0.58 cents % 26.36



Analysis of results

Profit for the year from continuing operations

Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Income tax expense

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised in respect of available-

for-sale investments
Share-based payments

Adjusted EBITDA* from continuing operations

Breakdown as follows:
The Group
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

REZDH

BRGEEHAFELT
STIIEB LR
FERA
REREH
R
SAEREDZAERR
RAHHERERR RERR

A B B A ER AR

BEGEEBEBERBNER
BRmnE

anmr:
ARE
ElEBENAZES
REAELRZE

* Adjusted EBITDA represents profit before income tax, finance
costs, depreciation and amortisation and impairment, excluding

share-based payments.

*

Changes in

28

2017 amount
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥FR
175,068 54,843
14,779 (2,131)
36,615 2,325
32,284 (5,578)
11,620 (6,752)

- 2,177

12,212 1,011
282,578 45,895
133,546 12,436
19,259 14,889
129,773 18,570
282,578 45,895

%
BA

31.33

(14.42)

6.35
(17.28)
(58.11)

n/a 7iE A
8.28

16.24

9.31
71.31
14.31

16.24
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Management Discussion and Analysis
TEE®R S

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

EREE @

Revenue:

Piped gas

Cylinder gas

Barrelled drinking water

: The turnover in 2018 increased 6.55% from

approximately RMB537 million in 2017 to
approximately RMB572 million; the increase
is mainly attributable to the rise in sales
volume and average gas price.

. As cylinder gas is being used stably and

persistently in industrial and commercial
("CN") market, the cylinder gas revenue
increased continuously, among which the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei markets becomes the
main driving force of the Group's cylinder
gas business.

. During the Year, affected by the increase

in the labour cost and the Group allocated
relevant staff to actively expand the
cylinder gas business in Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei regions, the sales volume of barrelled
drinking water slowdown compared to the
last year.
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Segment results:

Piped gas

Cylinder gas

Barrelled drinking water

Under the dual impetus of China’s
macroeconomic growth stabilisation this
year and the strict environmental protection
policy, the overall demand for natural gas
has shown a relatively substantial increase
compared with the previous two years.
Benefited from the increase in the number
of new connected residential household
and C/I customers during the Year and the
increase in gas sales volume, the segment
performance of piped gas increased by
approximately 54.08% from the same
period of last year.

. The decrease in segment results is mainly

attributable to the impairment loss
recognised in respect of other receivables;
goodwill and available-for-sale investments
as well as the increase in initial set-up cost
and operational expenditure of new project
companies.

Loss is mainly attributable to the decrease
of revenue and sales volume and sunk
costs.
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2017

Non-
Controlling  controlling Total
[tems HH FHR SRR =
No. of projects (unit) HRYE ()
Piped gas EBMR 12 40 52
Cylinder gas ERRR 26 26 52
Barrelled drinking water BERKAK 1 - 1
Total no. of projects HE&H 39 66 105
New connected customers for piped gas &M R EBRT
in the reporting period FEERAFY
Residential household customers (unit) EEERAR(P) 35830 146,944 182,774
C/I customers (unit) IBZAF(F) 881 2,748 3,629
Total connected customers (unit) BEEBFEH(F) 36,711 149,692 186,403
Accumulated connected customers BEME R
for piped gas EERAFY
Residential household customers (unit) EEERAR(P) 330,327 1,006,695 1,337,022
C/I customers (unit) IBZAF(F) 5,927 7,004 12,931
Total accumulated connected customers (unit) ZifEEEEREFLE (F) 336,254 1,013,699 1,349,953
Sales volume of piped gas (10,000 m?) BERRHER (BUHX)
Residential household customers tx BERAF 7,084 3,684 10,768
C/l customers IH%RP 14,922 33,553 48,475
Total sales volume of piped gas EEMRBHEES 22,006 37,237 59,243
Sales volume of cylinder gas (tons) BERRHEER () 82,969 270,517 353,486
Sales of barrelled drinking water (bottle) REHAKHEEE (R) 1,905,435 - 1,905,435
Notes: B 5
1. For details of new projects, please refer to “New projects during the 1. FMZIEBFBERIARFR [HEHAFILIEE |
reporting period”in this report. A o
2. Operation statistics, including all statistics from subsidiaries, associates 2. HEHBEEMBAR BEARREERLEZ

and joint ventures, are presented according to the entire interests of the
projects.

FrEZEIIZIAR 2 28 matH -



For the year ended 31 March 2018, revenue from continuing
operations of the Group amounted to approximately RMB 1,200.36
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 23.81%, while
profit for the Year from continuing operations was approximately
RMB229.91 million (2017: RMB175.07 million), representing a year-
on-year increase of 31.33%. Basic and diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations were RMB2.82 cents and RMB2.78
cents respectively (2017: basic and diluted earnings per share were
RMB2.20 cents). The overall gross profit margin of the Group was
24.84% (2017: 28.02%), representing a decrease of 3.18% as
compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the increase in sales proportion of cylinder gas (with
lower margin) as a recurring income and the increase in its average
purchase price. The decrease in net profit margin from 23.57% in
2017 to 19.15% in 2018 was mainly due to the decrease in gross
profit margin and the profit from discontinued operation recognised
in last year.

Provision of piped gas is our main business and our main source of
income. During the Year, revenue of approximately RMB571,693,000
was recorded from our provision of piped gas business, representing
a year-on-year increase of RMB35,138,000 or 6.55%) over last
year, which accounted for 47.63% (2017: 55.34%) of our total
revenue from continuing operations. The overall gross profit margin
of provision of piped gas business for the Year was 27.52% (2017:
26.34%).

The piped gas business mainly relies on the gas pipeline which were
built by the Group to transport flammable gas fuels to end-users.
Profit comes from two main aspects: connection of gas pipeline and
sales of piped gas. Currently, the piped gas the Group distributing is
mainly natural gas.
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During the Year, revenue from piped gas connection construction
contracts was approximately RMB122,095,000, representing a
decrease of RMB16,546,000 or 11.93% over the corresponding
period last year. Gross profit margin from piped gas connection
was approximately 55.74% (2017: 52.98%). Revenue from piped
gas connection construction contracts represented approximately
21.36% (2017: 25.84%) of the total revenue of the provision
of piped gas business. During the Year, there was an addition of
38,080 units of residential household customers and 1,087 units
of C/I customers from subsidiary companies. As at the end of the
reporting period, the accumulated number of connected residential
household customers from subsidiary companies was 368,407 units;
and the accumulated number of connected C/I customers from
subsidiary companies was 7,014 units, representing a growth of
11.53% and 18.34% respectively over the corresponding period last
year. The overall connection rate of the Group’s piped gas projects
continues to rise, but there is still a gap compared with the average
gas connection rate of mature markets in China of 70-80%. It is
expected that the number of newly connected residential household
customers will increase steadily, bringing the Group a steady increase
in gas connection income. A comparison of the accumulated
connected customers of the Group among the years of 2016 to 2018
is shown in Graph 1.
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Provision of piped gas business (Continued)
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Piped Gas Connection (Continued)

Graph 1: Comparison of the accumulated number of connected units

among the past three years
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During the Year, revenue from piped gas sales was approximately
RMB449,598,000, representing an increase of RMB51,684,000
or 12.99% over the corresponding period last year, while the
gross profit margin of piped gas sales is 19.86% (2017: 17.06%).
Revenue from piped gas sales accounted for approximately 78.64%
(2017: 74.16%) of the total revenue from the provision of piped
gas business. Our total piped gas sales from subsidiary companies
achieved approximately 248.08 million cubic metre (“m3"),
representing a year-on-year increase of 12.73%. Among the total
sales, 82.62 million m? were sold to residential household customers,
which represented a year-on-year increase of 16.63%; 165.46
million m3 were sold to C/I customers, which represented a year-
on-year increase of 10.88%. The gas sales volume of residential
household customers increased steadily is mainly due to the newly-
connected residential household customers gradually use natural gas.
Meanwhile, in the C/I aspect, the demand from the “Coal to Gas” C/I
customers continuous to grow, which become the main driving force
of the growth of piped gas sales volume. A comparison of the sales
volume of piped gas of the Group among the years of 2016 to 2018
is shown in Graph 2.

Graph 2: Comparison of the total sales volume of piped gas among
the past three years
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The sales and distribution of cylinder gas is another major business
of the Group. The sales and distribution of cylinder gas is mainly
through transport vehicles and tank containers (pressure and
cryogenic). Currently, the cylinder gas distributed by the Group
includes liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), liquefied natural gas (LNG)
and dimethyl ether (DME).

During the Year, sales and distribution of cylinder gas from subsidiary
companies was 118,755 tons in total, representing an increase of
43.13% over the corresponding period last year. Revenue from
cylinder gas accounted for approximately 52.34% (2017: 43.74%)
of our total revenue from continuing operations. The gross profit
margin of cylinder gas business was 22.46% (2017: 28.74%).
The increase in sales volume and revenue are mainly due to the
stable usage of C/I market, as well as the significant growth in
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei regions. The decrease in gross profit margin
is mainly due to the increase in its average purchase costs. A
comparison of the sales volume of cylinder gas of the Group among
the years of 2016 to 2018 is shown in Graph 3.

Graph 3:Comparison of the sales volume of cylinder gas among the
past three years
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EEERE e

Production and sales of barrelled drinking water business T EREERBRAKER

During the reporting period, affected by the increase in the labour RMERA ZHTRAEMTE RN EEFR
cost and the Group allocated relevant manpower to actively expand HEAABEBERENEEMENEREMAE
its cylinder gas business in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei regions, the sales % EKAKEENHEESERE - RMALELES

volume of barrelled drinking water business had been slowdown. MSEA TG ABRELER BRARBEXKA <%
We are now consolidating the market situation and adjusting out IKEET - & R
business strategy continuously, and actively developing the barrelled g;’é
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Graph 4: Revenue structure for continuing operations of the Group
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During the reporting period, we have invested 6 cylinder gas projects.
As at 31 March 2018, the number of domestic projects under our
management amounted to 107. The projects are mainly diversified
across Sichuan, Yunnan, Fujian Provinces and Tianjin. The local
commercial and industrial business of our new projects resided are
more developed and the development prospects are very impressive,
which can further expand our scale of gas sales and generate
economies of scale, reduce operating costs; and seize market share.
In the face of energy structure adjustment of China, and the advance
of urbanisation and industrialisation, we expect the continuous
emergence of new project opportunities in the future.
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As at 31 March 2018, the consolidated financial position of the

Group is as follows:

R2018F3A318  AEBEMGZRAE TN R

Non-current assets FEMBNEE

Current assets mENE E

Current liabilities mENBE

Non-current liabilities EREBERE

Net assets FEE

Equity attributable to owners of PAN/NEIE PNy

the Company

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A =

Total equity R

Among those: Hrp

Bank balance and cash RITEBRIRS

Total borrowings [EP=E

Net cash e FHE

Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio* 434 B{&EE AN, R *
* Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio is the ratio of total borrowings

to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the Company

Currently, the sources of the operating and capital expenditure of
the Group are operating cash flow, internal current capital, and bank
borrowings. The Group has sufficient funds to meet future capital
expenditures and operational needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the operating cash
flow before movements in working capital is approximately
RMB153,543,000, representing an increase of RMB18,802,000 or
13.95% over the corresponding period last year. The increase is
mainly due to the growth in operational revenue.

Net cash used in investing activities is approximately RMB93,740,000,
representing an increase of RMB10,646,000 or 12.81%, which is
mainly due to the increase of capital expenditure during the Year.

2017 Change
RMB'000 = 8
ARBTT AR¥ETTT
1,805,364 219,992
551,794 58,610
(480,157) 76,720
(50,888) 26,640
1,826,113 381,962
1,657,176 370,370
168,937 11,592
1,826,113 381,962
392,287 17,343
(260,268) 131,268
132,019 148,611
13.57% (7.59)%
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Net cash from financing activities is approximately RMB2,653,000,
representing a decrease of RMB69,625,000 or 96.33%, which is
mainly due to the repayment of bank borrowings.

At 31 March 2018, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB129,000,000 (2017: RMB260,268,000), which
mainly comprised domestic bank borrowings (2017: bank borrowings
and consideration payable) denominated in RMB of the project
companies in China. Bank borrowings, in which interest is calculated
by reference to the interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of
China plus certain basis points, are mainly applied to gas pipelines
construction, as general working capital and for operating expenses.
Apart from the borrowings of approximately RMB111,000,000
(2017: RMB91,500,000) which were secured by certain assets
with carrying amount of approximately RMB158,413,000
(2017: RMB103,074,000), others were unsecured. Short-term
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB113,000,000 (2017:
RMB217,768,000), while others were long-term borrowings due after
one year. Details of the capital and other commitments and pledge
of assets are set out in notes 43 and 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

The long-term capital of the Group comprised equity attributable to
owners of the Company and borrowings, which was confirmed by
the sound debt-to-capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed
“Liquidity and capital resources”above.

On 27 July 2016, the Board resolved to grant share awards (the
“Award Shares”) in respect of 208,000,000 shares of the Company
(the “Share(s)”) to the entitled grantees, who are certain Directors,
chief executive of the Company and employees of the Group by way
of issue of 208,000,000 new Shares approved by the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) at the special general meeting
held on 14 October 2016. Details of the Award Shares are set out in
the Company'’s circular dated 23 September 2016. On 30 September
2017, a total of 208,000,000 Shares were vested; issued and allotted
to the entitled grantees pursuant to the terms of Award Shares.
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On 29 December 2017, the Company and Dr. Mo Shikang ("“Dr.
Mo"), the chairman of the Board and an executive director, entered
into the subscription agreement whereby Dr. Mo agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company agreed to allot and issue an aggregate of
1,888,865,067 subscription Shares at the subscription price of
HKDO0.104 per subscription Share to set off the consideration payable
on a dollar-to-dollar basis. The subscription agreement was approved
by the independent Shareholders at the special general meeting held
on 9 March 2018. The Company issued and allotted the subscription
Shares to Dr. Mo on 16 March 2018. Details of the subscription
agreement are set out in the Company's circular dated 2 February
2018.

As all of our operations are in China and substantially all of its
revenue and expenses are denominated in RMB, there was no
significant foreign exchange risk in its operation. We currently do not
have foreign currency hedging policy but monitor the market trends
of exchange rates closely, and adopt appropriate measures when
necessary.

As at 31 March 2018, the capital and other commitments of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB61,711,000 (2017:
RMB22,194,000), mainly attributable to running district gas pipelines
construction and prepaid lease payments. Please refer to note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements for details.

At 31 August 2015, Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Civigas”, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) together with the joint
venture partner entered into a guarantee agreement with a bank,
whereby Beijing Civigas and the joint venture partner have agreed to
provide a joint and several corporate guarantee in favour of the bank
for the loan of RMB100,000,000 granted to Fujian Province An Ran
Gas Investments Co., Ltd. (“Fujian An Ran"”) (as borrower), a joint
venture of the Group. Details of this transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 August 2015. Up to 31 March
2018, Fujian An Ran has repaid the whole facility line while such
facility line is revolving in nature and could be drawn in the future.
Save as disclosed, as at 31 March 2018, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.
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The Board is of the view that the recent trading price of the Shares
reflects that the Shares have been undervalued thus failing to reflect
the true value of the Company. Having taken into account the
current working capital position of the Group, the Directors consider
that there would be no material adverse effect on the working
capital and gearing position of the Group in conducting the Share
repurchase and the Share repurchase could enhance the value of
the Shares thereby benefitting the Shareholders. Subsequent to the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company repurchased its own Shares on the Stock Exchange as
follows:

EFeRn OIHBRHXZERREDEBERE
i BMAERRARFAZELEEBE BEBAE
BRIZZEEES IR BEFERA ETRNDE
BEAKEZZEES RENBERN T EEK
BERTHEE BERMHEBEARABRNDEE #
MABRRGERME R EPRRERBERNFR
B ARBERBE R PTEER DT

Number of Aggregated
ordinary Price per Share repurchase
Shares of HKDO0.07 Highest Lowest cost
HKD HKD HKD'000
BREERY
0.07TEBR
Z ¥ E BRER #[E fB AR AS
5= (K
BT BT BEBTT
Month of repurchase B8 A%
April 2018 20184 H 43,828,000 0.120 0.104 4,992
May 2018 201845 H 63,430,000 0.129 0.119 7,933

The Share repurchase complied with the terms and conditions of
the general mandate to the Directors to repurchase the Company'’s
Shares that passed by the Shareholders in the Company’s 2017
annual general meeting. 43,828,000 and 63,430,000 ordinary Shares
repurchased were then cancelled on 4 May 2018 and 25 May 2018
respectively.

As at 31 March 2018, we had approximately 1,800 employees,
most of them were stationed in China. The employees’ salaries are
determined from time to time with reference to their duties and
responsibilities, business performance of the Group and profitability
and market conditions. In addition to pension funds, individual
employees may be granted discretionary bonus, share options and
award shares as rewards for their outstanding performance.

CERMFTAERARTRN7TERRAFAE £
EREBBZRTES R ZIER GG
LA [B] % 2K R B A% {9 o AT [B1 f& 2 43,828,0004% K&
63,430,000/ & BAREBEE 2 RIMN201845H4H
N201845 258 1 sF s o

R2018F 38318 HMEHE 41,8008 EE - K
HoERPBERN -BEEHFMNI2EFEREASE
ErBE - ¥BRR BREDERTSRDET -
BRIRKEIN EREEEIERRE emER
BEENIETEAL - BB AR AE R SR ED AR 10 LA VE B2 -



During the reporting period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or repurchased any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company repurchased its own Shares in the
aggregate amount of 107,258,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange.
For details, please refer to the “Events after the end of the reporting
period” above.

We adhere to pursue long-term sustainable development in
the communities in which our business and operations located.
We understand the importance of the views and interests of its
stakeholders (such as Shareholders, regulators, employees and the
public) when making business decisions. We will continue to advance
in corporate governance, energy conservation, remuneration of
employees, general social welfare and etc.

As a responsible clean energy distributor, we are committed to the
promotion and the use of clean energy in order to minimise the
environmental damage caused by energy demand for economic
development. Through the construction of urban-gas distribution
network, we encourage C/I customers and residential households to
replace high polluting coal and oil with clean energy, and vigorously
promote the “Coal to Gas” project. Coal-fired boilers are replaced
by natural gas boilers to reduce pollutant emission. During the Year,
we (including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) sold piped
gas and cylinder gas of 780.88 million m? and 470,402 tons in total,
achieved a saving (substitution) of approximately 1.71 million tons
standard coal, reduced emissions of carbon dioxide 4.26 million tons,
sulfur dioxide 0.13 million tons and, nitrogen oxide 0.06 million tons.

We are committed to be a responsible party in society, and strive to
actively contribute to local community. We encourage employees
to participate in various volunteer activities, establish a strong
community network, render assistance and support to people in
need, so that employees have opportunities to go out of workplace
to establish relationships with others. They can gain experience
related to teamwork when contributing to local community.

More information in relation the management of environmental,
social and governance (“ESG"”) of the Company during the Year be
disclosed in an independent ESG report, which will be released and
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.681hk.com) in due course.
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The economic structure of our country is continuously optimised,
the resource utilisation rate is constantly improved, and the circular
industry is under development. Green traffic and green construction
have grown rapidly, and energy-saving and emission reduction are
initially taking effect. The tremendous achievements made in energy
development of China have created a new situation in the reform of
energy development with Chinese characteristics and has provided
the Group with a good environment for growth.

Natural gas, LPG, and DME and other flammable gas fuels are
all clean energy and are all important components of urban gas.
In 2017, the 13 agencies including the National Development
and Reform Commission published and issued the “Opinions on
Accelerating the Use of Natural Gas”, and proposed to gradually
cultivate natural gas as one of the main sources of energy for
China’s modern clean energy system. By 2020, the share of natural
gas in the primary energy consumption structure will strive to
reach around 10%. By 2030, it will strive to increase the share of
natural gas in primary energy consumption to about 15%. With the
deepening of the state’s implementation of atmospheric governance
and environmental protection policies in recent years, focus on the
centralised improvement of scattered companies, accelerate the
comprehensive management of bulk coal pollution, promote the
treatment of coal-fired boilers in a deep-going manner, and strongly
promote “Coal to Gas”, we believe that the fuel gas market will
continue to expand.

The piped gas distribution mainly includes the long-distance
transmission of high-pressure gas pipelines, the urban transmission
and distribution of medium-pressure gathering pipeline networks,
and the terminal distribution of low-pressure courtyard pipeline
networks and household pipeline networks. Along with the increase
in fuel gas demand, the space for construction and development of
gas pipeline is huge. The Group’s piped gas mainly concentrates on
the construction of urban medium-pressure pipeline network and
the construction and use of terminal courtyard pipeline network and
household pipeline network, and it aims at end-users to develop the
piped gas business.
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As the construction of gas pipelines is affected by the investment
cost, user’'s degree of adaptability, geographic location and many
other factors, as well as the advantages of cylinder gas itself, many
users still choose to use cylinder gas. The Government adopts
concept of “when it is necessary to use pipe, then use pipe;
necessary to use cylinders, then use cylinders” in dealing with the
fuel gas supply method. The cylinder gas has been the focus of
the Group’s development over the years and the market has great
potential.

The Group will continue to make strategic planning in advance
in accordance with policy and market changes, seize the business
opportunities brought by the favorable business environment,
fully tap market and customer potential, actively expand C/I users,
steadily develop residential household users, and actively seize the
opportunity to enter new markets and further enhance the scale and
management standard of the piped gas and cylinder gas businesses,
constantly consolidating the value of the Group.

Barrelled drinking water is commonly used in the daily lives of
households and has become an indispensable product in lives.
With the implementation of the new national standard, the
standardisation of the barrelled drinking water industry will be
conducive to the development of the purified water market. From
the perspective of the overall development of the industry, the
growth in consumer demand will still drive the development of the
industry. It is expected that by 2021, the demand for purified water
market will exceed RMB80 billion. The Group will cater to the market
demand, vigorously develop barrelled drinking water, and increase
the proportion of barrelled drinking water in the Group's revenue.
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Compared with fuel gas, food ingredients (including rice, flour, dry
foods, oil, seasoning, and fresh foods such as fruits and vegetables,
frozen foods), and FMCG (refers to daily use (hybrid) products and
pre-packaged foods) are more frequently used by all types of users,
and are more encrypted and inseparable. They are essential for
people’s lives.

The food ingredients and FMCG supply chain business will be
the other business area the Group intended to focus and actively
developed. The supply chain system of food ingredients will be
operated under the brand name of “Civi Kitchen” and “Yelang
Kitchen” while FMCG will be operated under the brand name “Civi
Home"”. As the new business growth point of the Group, we will
summarise and develop a business model that is suitable for the
Group’s development, work steadily to expand the Group’s business
scope in the supply chain of food ingredients and FMCG and create
new profit growth point for the Group; increase the enterprise value
of the Group to reward all Shareholders.

In order to streamline its business operations, the Group is actively
considering the possibilities of spinning-off certain business segments
on different capital markets. As of the date hereof, no concrete plan
has been finalised.

In order to streamline its business operations, the Group is actively
considering the possibilities of seeking a separate listing of certain
business segments on different capital markets by way of spin-off. As
of the date hereof, no concrete plan has been finalised and in this
regard, the Company would update further the Shareholders and the
investing public on a timely basis.

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2018
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Biography of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Mo Shikang

Chairman of the Board

Aged 60

Director since 30 April 2004

Chairman since 1 August 2013

Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

Holds entirely interests in Ping Da Development Limited, a substantial
shareholder of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the
Report of the Directors under this annual report

Other positions held within our Group:

o chairman of Nomination Committee

o member of Remuneration Committee

o chairman of the board of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly
owned subsidiary of our Group

o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

Academic background:

o Bachelor degree in Sciences from the Tianjin Normal
University, China

o Master degree in Economics from the Tianjin University of
Finance and Economics, China

o PhD degree in Economics from the Nankai University, China

Experiences:

o has substantial experiences in the development and
management of sales and distribution chain projects in China

Other:

o father of Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive director of our Company
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Aged 64
Director and Deputy Chairman since 21 March 2005
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

° member of Remuneration Committee

o MBA degree from the La Trobe University, the Australia

o joined the initial financial securities industry in China in late
1980s

o acted as senior management in various securities companies
including Wanguo Holdings Limited, Guotai Securities
Company Limited and Guotai Junan Securities Company
Limited, engaged in the provision of services to securities and
financial investment; securities brokerages; investment banking;
financial research and analysis

o has extensive experiences in financial and capital markets
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Aged 54

Director since 1 December 2008

Deputy Chairman since 23 March 2015

Term of office: 9 September 2016 (re-elected) to 2019 AGM

o director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

o Master degree in Business Administration from the University
of Hong Kong

o fellow practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (FCPA (Practising))

° fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)

o associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (ACS)

o associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (ACIS)

o Independent non-executive director of the following companies,
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:
> Tianli Holdings Group Limited

(stock code: 00117)
> Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited
(stock code: 00846)
> China First Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 01269)
> Huayu Expressway Group Limited
(stock code: 01823)
> Flyke International Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 01998)
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independent non-executive director of the following

companies, shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise

Market (“GEM") of the Stock Exchange:

> Madison Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as
“Madison Wine Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 08057)

> SuperRobotics Limited (formerly known as
“SkyNet Group Limited”) (stock code: 08176)

resigned of the following companies, shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:
> National Agricultural Holdings Limited
(stock code: 01236) as an independent non-executive
director on 11 September 2015
> Perfect Group International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 03326) as a non-executive director
on 1 March 2017
> PT International Development Corporation Limited
(formerly known as “ITC Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 00372) as an independent non-executive
director on 27 September 2017
> China Huishan Dairy Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 06863) as an independent non-executive
director on 15 December 2017
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Telecom
Service One Holdings Limited (stock code: 08145) on 27
December 2017, shares of which are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange

over 25 years of professional experiences in auditing,
accounting and financial management for both private and
listed corporations
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Aged 41
Director and Managing Director since 1 September 2015
Term of office: 9 September 2016 (re-appointed) to 2019 AGM

o a director and the president of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd.,
a wholly owned subsidiary of our Group
o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

o Degree in Economics from the Renmin University of China

J Legal Professional Qualification* from the Ministry Justice of
the People’s Republic of China

o registered as a non-practising member of the Beijing Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

o has over 10 years of experience in the management of the
Group and is familiar with the scope of the Group’s
operation in all aspect

o has worked in Grant Thornton (Beijing) Certified Public
Accountants and was responsible for auditing

o has engaged by Wah Ying International (Holdings) Limited*
and was in charge of various investment business projects

o has extensive experiences in investment banking sector,
auditing and merger and acquisition

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 28
Director since 13 January 2015
Term of office: 21 August 2015 (re-appointed) to 2018 AGM

o director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

o Bachelor degree in Business Administration with First Class
Honours from University of Bedfordshire, the United
Kingdom

o Master of Science in Agricultural Economics with Distinction
from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

o PhD degree from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

o engaged as an food and safety analyst in a private entity
in China

° daughter of Dr. Mo Shikang, our chairman of the Board and
an executive director of our Company
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Aged 68
Director since 11 April 2005
Term of office: 9 September 2016 (re-elected) to 2019 AGM

. member of Audit Committee
° member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o Bachelor degree, Master degree and PhD degree in Economics
from Nankai University, China

o Professor of the Virtual Economics and Management Research
Center of Nankai University, China

o independent non-executive director of Tianjin Faw Xiali
Automobile Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000927), shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive Director of China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Limited (stock code: 02799), shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive director of China Literature Limited
(stock code: 00772), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive director of Yingli Green Energy
Holdings Co., Limited

o The 8th Sun Yefang Economics Prize
o The 3rd China High School Humanity Social Science
Research Excellent Award

o lecturer of Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
o professor and associate professor of the Faculty of Economics,
Nankai University, China
o resigned as independent director of AVIC Electromechanical
Systems Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002013), shares of which
are listed on the Small & Medium Enterprises Board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, on 26 March 2018
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Aged 61
Director since 24 July 2013
Term of office: 21 August 2015 (re-elected) to 2018 AGM

. member of Audit Committee
° member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o professor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

o doctoral tutor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

° officer, professor and doctoral tutor of the China Research
Center for Competitiveness and Evaluation in the Renmin
University of China

o part-time tutor in the following universities in China:
Anhui University

Anhui University of Finance and Economics
Beijing University of Technology

Hebei University

Henan University of Economics and Law
Lanzhou University of Finance and Economics
Shandong University of Finance and Economics
Shanxi University of Finance & Economics
Shijiazhuang University of Economics

YYVYVYVYYYYY

o winner of the Government of the State Council Special
Contribution Expert Government Allowance* in China

o the century talent of Ministry of Education* in China

o national candidate of the Ministry of Personnel New Century
Hundred Thousand Talents Project* in China

o candidate of the Beijing Hundred Project* in China

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 51
Director since 23 December 2006
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

° chairman of Audit Committee
° chairman of Remuneration Committee
° member of Nomination Committee

o Bachelor degree in Social Sciences from the University of
Hong Kong

o Master degree in Finance from the University of Strathclyde,
the United Kingdom

o Master degree in accounting from the Curtin University of
Technology, the Australia

J member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA)

o fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)

o certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia

o vice-president of Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code:

01823, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) and is responsible for the accounting and
financial management

o independent non-executive director of Easy One Financial
Group Limited (stock code: 00221), shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
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e resigned as an independent non-executive director of the o  BAENUTRRZBYIFNITESEL EiRk

following companies, shares of which are listed on the Main 19 TE B 2 BT AR B AR

Board of the Stock Exchange:

> Xtep International Holdings Limited >  H2017F5ASHBHTI R EBRZERE
(stock code: 01368) on 8 May 2017 PRAF (RERIE:-01368)

> Momenturn Financial Holdings Limited (formerly Known > 201766 H6HBHT FR&/IERE
as “Infinity Financial Group (Holdings) Limited”) BRAF (FifE [T FERE (FR)E
(stock code: 01152) on 6 June 2017 Raall) (REFRSE:01152)

e has over 20 years of professional experiences in auditing, o  HERAREMARZE it RHMBERES
accounting and financial management for both private and HZ2BE20F 2 EELR

listed corporations

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a BUBYIFNESERBARATIRBEEH B
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and as Miss 35 M TEEEEE/NMATEEARFE L
Mo Yunbi, an executive Director, has entered into a service contract EBETFFHNRGEAY FTAESARELRNA
with the Company for no specific year, all Directors are subject to ZAFIMAIRBEBBEXSHMBRARES LM
retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-election in the RABTERESREFTG LN EARARRTEREFERXR
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the gERET

Company’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.



The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the "Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report, amended from
time to time, contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) (the "Listing Rules”). As far as the Code
Provision is concerned, during the year ended 31 March 2018 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company complies with all
aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the "Director(s)”) acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year"”) that
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as a going
concern basis in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements required by the Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amended from
time to time. This responsibilities include designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control systems relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

The board of Directors (the "Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code”), amended from time to time, as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, they all
confirmed in writing that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.
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In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees, who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Model Code. Besides, the Company has
adopted internal control policy in relation to the disclosure of
inside information of the Company (the “Inside Information
Policy”).

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code and/or the
Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees was noted
by the Company.

The NC is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
diversity of the Board, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of the Directors,
monitoring the re-appointment and succession planning of the
Directors and assessing the independence of each independent
non-executive Director.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experiences appropriate to the requirements of the businesses
and the development of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. Other than Dr. Mo Shikang is the father of Miss
Mo Yunbi, the Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 March
2018 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications
and diversity on the Board are regularly reviewed by the
nomination committee of the Company (“NC”) to ensure that
the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and
deep knowledge of the Group alongside new directors who
bring fresh perspectives and diverse experiences to the Board.

The Board complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to (i) the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (ii) independent non-executive
director representing at least one-third of the Board; and (iii)
the audit committee of the Company (“AC”) should comprise
only independent non-executive directors.

The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out
on pages 27 to 36 of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in this
annual report and all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
Company also maintains on its website (www.681hk.com)
and on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) an
updated list of its Directors (by category) identifying the role
and function.
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The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures and criteria for the appointment, re-
election, resignation, re-designation, rotation, retirement and/
or removal of the Director(s) in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws.

Pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws and/or the Code Provisions
of the Listing Rules, (1) at each annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM") not less than one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation; (2) each
Director shall retire from office no later than the third AGM
after he/she was last re-elected as Director by shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) the general meeting of
the Company and (3) each Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director by the Board should retire
from the Board at the conclusion of the first general meeting
of the Company but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as the Director by the Shareholders at the same
meeting.

During the Year, Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Zhang Hesheng and Mr.
Sin Ka Man retired from the Board by rotation at the conclusion
of the AGM hold on 29 August 2017 (the “2017 AGM") and
were then re-elected as the Directors by the Shareholders with
separate resolutions passed in the 2017 AGM in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant
to paragraph A4.2 of the Code Provision, Mr. Fan Fangyi, Miss
Mo Yunbi and Prof. Zhao Yanyun (“Prof. Zhao") shall retire
from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of forthcoming
AGM (“2018 AGM") but, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the 2018 AGM.
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Prof. Zhao has served as an independent non-executive Director
for around 5 years in his further re-election as Director at
the 2018 AGM. During his 5 years of tenure, Prof. Zhao has
demonstrated his ability to provide an independent view to the
Company’s matters. Notwithstanding during his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director, the Board and the
Nomination Committee are of the view that Prof. Zhao is able
to continue to fulfill his role as required and thus recommended
him for re-election at the 2018 AGM in accordance with the
Listing Rules. Prof Zhao has made a written annual confirmation
of independence for the Year pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The Board and the NC have also recommended the re-election
of all the abovementioned retiring Directors standing for re-
election at the 2018 AGM.

Detailed biographical information of all the abovementioned
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the 2018 AGM will
be dispatched to Shareholders with this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered
into a service contract with the Company for specific term
of three (3) years and Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive Director,
has entered into a service contract with the Company for
no specific years. Save as disclosed above, the Company did
not enter into any service contract with other Directors. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.
For independent non-executive Director who has served the
Company for more than nine (9) years, his further appointment
will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
Shareholders and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying
that resolution will include the reasons the Board believes he is
still independent and should be re-elected.
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The Board normally has at least four (4) scheduled meetings a
year to review financial information, internal control systems,
risk management systems, corporate strategy, operating
performance and the progress of the various on-going projects
of the Group, if any, and meets at other times as and when
required. The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient time
and attention to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
During the Year, a total number of nine (9) Board meetings,
three (3) AC meetings, one (1) NC meeting and two (2)
Remuneration Committee (“RC”) meetings were held. Minutes
of these meetings are currently kept by the Company Secretary
of the Company and are open for inspection by the Directors
and Board Committees’ members.

In consideration of the Code Provision on Directors’ time
commitments, the Chairman held a private Board meeting
(without the presence of the managing Director and executive
Directors) in 2018 to review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibility to the Company, and
whether he/her is spending sufficient time in performing them.
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During the Year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have
spent sufficient time performing their responsibilities. The
individual attendance records of each Director, on a named
basis, at the meetings of the Board, AC, NC and RC as well as
the Shareholders’ meeting(s) (AGM and special general meeting
as “SGM") during the Year are set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of meetings during the Directors’ tenure of office

SGM AGM
Name of Directors FE3d RREAAE HRREEAE
Number of Meetings eE8E 1 1
Executive Directors YnEs
Dr. Mo Shikang EtrFET i n
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RNELE i 1/1
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KR ZEE 11 N
Mr. Fan Fangyi BhERE i 1/1
Miss Mo Yunbi B2 1L 1
Independent Non-executive BYF#{TES

Directors

Dr. Liu Junmin BRRRL 1L i
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEAR 110 1"
Mr. Sin Ka Man RRERLE 1L i

The high attendance record at the Board and its committee
meetings during the Year, which was reviewed by the NC
and RC in June 2018, demonstrated the Directors’ strong
commitment to the Company.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held
by the Directors in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identities and the time
involved (the "Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors
have agreed to disclose their Commitments to the Company
and the change, if any, in a timely manner and then confirm
their other directorships, major appointments and interests to
the Company (if any) twice a year.
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The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the senior management. The Board
currently provides leadership and approves strategic polices
and plans with a view to enhance Shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company and the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The Board has full
support of the managing Director and the senior management
to discharge its responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
systems, risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, change of Directors, ad hoc projects and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to managing and executive Directors
and the senior management. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific business
unit and/or corporate merge and acquisition and to implement
the strategies and polices set by the Board. Each Director
may seek for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon making
request to the Board. All members of the Board are provided
with monthly updates to enable them to discharge their duties.
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Through active participation in meetings of the Board, Board
committees and general meetings of the Company, the
independent non-executive Directors currently bring a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences, skills
and independent judgment on the issues of strategy, policy,
performance accountability, resources, key appointments,
connected transactions and standards of conduct to the Board.
Independent non-executive Directors have taken and/or shall
take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent
Board Committee, comprising all independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, has formed and/or will form to advise
the independent Shareholders on those connected transactions
to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the SGM.
All independent non-executive Directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction and performance of
the Company. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received, from each independent non-
executive Directors for the Year, a written annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board and the Nomination Committee considered all of
the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the independent guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance including company securities, employment
practices, regulatory crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax
liabilities and public relation, etc, for the Directors and senior
officers of the Group, which is reviewed by the Board on a
regular basis. The Company undertakes an annual review of
the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy
in light of recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review benchmarks the amount of cover
against other similar companies and considers whether separate
cover be required for members of the Board.
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All Directors are required to comply with their duties to act in
the best interest of the Company and have particular regard to
the interest of the Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others,
all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of
their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract
or other proposal to be considered by the Board at meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company,
a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any
of his/her close associates is materially interested.

The Board and Board Committees members are supplied with
comprehensive meeting papers and relevant materials within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended meeting
date (in any event no less than three (3) days before the date of
the meeting). All Directors and the Board Committees members
are given opportunities to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board and Board Committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-making process,
the Directors and the Board Committees members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.

All Directors and the Board Committees members have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who ensures that the Board and Board Committees
receive appropriate and timely information for its decision-
making and the Board and Board Committees procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are being followed.
The Directors and the Board Committees members can obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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The Board receives from the management monthly
management accounts, explanation and analysis of the
operation performance of the Group and relevant information
which enable the Board to make an informed assessment for
approving the financial statements. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board Committees,
to ensure that the Directors and member of the Board
Committees are supplied with all the requested information in a
timely and appropriate manner.

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director,
who perform similar role as chief executive officer, to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities
of the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director are
clearly defined. The chairman of the Board provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the management, the chairman of the Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate
information and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The position of the chairman of the Board is currently
held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

The chairman of the Board ensures that the Board works
effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. He also ensures all Directors are properly briefed on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. The chairman of the
Board encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. He
pushes all Directors to make a full and active contributions to
the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as whole.
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The Managing Director focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Managing Director is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, internal control
system, risk management system control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The position of
the managing Director is currently held by Mr. Fan Fangyi.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group
structure, Board and Board Committees meetings procedures,
business, management and operations of the Company, etc. and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements in
Bermuda and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from
the strategic, planning and management perspective, the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as
the essence of corporate governance and the trends in these
areas, be therefore arranged for newly appointed Directors(s), if
any, after he/she joined the Board.

The Board acknowledges that continuous professional
development and training of Directors is an ongoing process
to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and
knowledge.

Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and materials
to develop and refresh Directors” (Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Zhang
Hesheng, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Mr. Fan Fangyi, Miss Mo Yunbi,
Dr. Liu Junmin, Prof. Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man) knowledge
and skills from time to time. All the information and materials
are relevant to the Group’s business, the economy, corporate
governance, rules and regulations, accounting, financial or
professional skills and/or directors” duties and responsibilities. There
are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to each Director. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses. The company secretary is responsible to keep records
of training taken by each Director. The NC reviewed the training
records of each Director in June 2018.
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The company secretary, being an employee of the Company,
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and
reports to the Board. She keeps close contact with all Directors
and ensures that the operation of the Board and all Board
Committees are in compliance with the procedures as set forth
in the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules. Additionally,
the company secretary is responsible for compiling and
regularly submitting draft minutes of Board meetings and Board
Committee meetings to the Directors and committee members
for their comment, and final version of minutes for their
records, within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings.
Each Director may obtain advice from and the assistance of
the company secretary to ensure that the meeting of Board
and Board Committees procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed. To ensure the possession of up-to-
date knowledge and market information to perform her duties,
the company secretary attended sufficient professional training
during the Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which includes developing and reviewing the Company's
policy and practices on corporate governance, assessing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. During the Year, the Board
reviewed, monitored and assessed the policy and practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development to Directors and senior management, policies and
practice on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement
and the compliance with the Model Code under the Listing Rule
and disclosure requirements in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Board kept under review in light of the changing legal and
regulatory requirements.
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the
AC, NC and RC. All Board committees of the Company have
been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are disclosed in the corporate website of the Company
(www.681hk.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The members of the AC at present are all independent non-
executive Directors whereas, the majority of NC and the RC
comprise independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under "Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at Company’s expenses.

The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
has been suggested under the Code Provision. The AC currently
comprises independent non-executive Directors, among
them one independent non-executive director possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. None of the members of the
AC is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor. The AC currently comprises the following three
members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman
(i) Dr. Liu Junmin

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun
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The main duties of the AC include the followings:

(a)

To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
responsible staff of accounting and financial report
function, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

To review the relationship with the external auditor and
its independence by reference to the work performed and
services provided by the external auditor, their fees, their
firm’s standards and practices and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and/or removal of external
auditor;

To review the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in the annual report, if any, and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Shareholders as a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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The AC held three (3) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report to, inter alia,

(M

7)

review and approve the draft audited and unaudited
consolidated financial statement together with and the
respective draft result announcements, including changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental
areas; significant adjustments resulting from the audit
(if any); going concern assumption; compliance with
accounting and auditing standards and compliance with
the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting to the Board for consideration and
approval;

assess the independence and the external auditor of the
Company and the effectiveness of audit process;

review the relationship with the external auditor and then
recommend the re-appointment of the external auditor of
the Company and recommend its remuneration;

evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control and risk management
which covered all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance together with the associated
procedures;

review and approve the internal audit programme, review
the internal audit reports and discuss any significant
issues with the management;

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget; and

review the current continuing connected transactions.

The attendance record of the meetings of AC during the Year is
set out on page 43 of this report.
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During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditor in respect of
audit service and non-audit services provided by the auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services BR 7% 14 &
Audit for the Year KEEEZ
Others )

The written terms of reference has been suggested (amended
from time to time) under the Code Provision.The NC comprises
the following four members, major of them are independent
non-executive Directors:

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang*, chairman

(i) Dr. Liu Junmin®

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

(iv)  Mr. Sin Ka Man”

# Executive Director

* independent non-executive Director

The main duties of the NC include the followings:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed

changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

review the Board diversity with reference to the Board
diversity policy;

assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive.

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) and has posted it on the Company’s website
(www.681hk.com), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board, the summary of which are set out
below:

(a)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The NC has been delegated by the Board to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board on an annual basis.
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The NC held one (1) meeting during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1

(6)

assess the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with
the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board;

evaluate the performance of the Board with reference to
the Board performance report;

study the independence of each independent non-
executive Director in accordance with the Listing Rules;

identify those Directors to be retired from the Board by
rotation in the AGM and then be re-elected as Director in
the same meeting in accordance with the Company'’s Bye-
laws and the Listing Rules;

propose the maximum number of Director of the Board in
the AGM; and

review the service contract(s) to be entered with the
independent non-executive Director(s).

The attendance records of the meeting of the NC during the
Year is set on page 43 of this report.
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(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Analysis of the diversity of the Board by NC is shown by the
following charts:
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The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
of RC has been suggested under the Code Provision. The RC
currently comprises the following five members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man”, chairman
(i) Dr. Mo Shikang*

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng?*

(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin®

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

* independent non-executive Director

# Executive Director

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the
remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management.
The RC has primary responsibility for making recommendations
on and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the Board after consultation with the Chairman
and Deputy Chairmen, assessed performance of the executive
Directors and accessed to professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, when necessary. The RC is also responsible
for establishing a formal and transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates be participated in
deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration be
determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities of
Directors in the Group, business performance, profitability and
market conditions.
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The RC held two (2) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1

)

(5)

review the summary of remuneration package paid to
each Directors and senior management of the Company;

study the current remuneration package, policy and
structure of all Directors (including appointment(s),
resignation(s) and retirement(s) during the Year, if any);

propose remuneration packages in the coming year with
reference to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the Group
and market conditions, the corporate objective and goal
set by the Board with reference to salaries paid by the
comparable companies to Directors;

consider the service contract(s) to be entered with the
independent non-executive Director(s); and

review the procedures of remuneration policy, procedures
and structure for fixing the remuneration packages.

The attendance records of the meeting of the RC during the
Year is set out on page 43 of this report.

BEAFERAREAH FHZES LR
TZQQRe#H U (EFERE):

(1

(5)

B

BEMARBAZEERSREREX
NzHmMEa e

ELREREZT (BRAFERME &
EMREES (WF) ) 2HITHMA
B BERMAERE:

REHEMAS ETF2ZEZZRK
REME AEBEEBHRE LB E

KGR  EE G L 2 AR T Et
REBREAELBARMESEINZ

e
EEREBIIFNTEENAEERR]
NZRBEK R

BT H AL 2 KK 2R
BRI -

ZECHEAFE 2GR NFLEH

KA EF43H



The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of
internal control and risk management of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed
to implementing an effective and sound internal control
and risk management systems to safeguard the interest of
Shareholders and the assets of the Group. During the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, the Board, through
the AC, reviewed the implementation of the systems of
internal control and risk management and reviewing of all
relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions system. A review be conducted at
least annually on the effectiveness of the systems of internal
control and risk management. During the Year and up to the
date of this annual report, a meeting has held reviewing and
monitoring effectiveness of our major subsidiaries in relation
to the progress of completion on operational targets, market
development, customer service, production and operations
management, safety management system, finance, construction
works, ad hoc projects and overall performance.

The Group has maintained a tailored governance structure
with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate delegation
of responsibility and authority to the management. The
internal control and risk management systems of the Group
are designed to identify and evaluate the significant risks and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure
to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.
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The Group which currently engages in the businesses of the
sales and distribution of fuel gas including piped gas and
cylinder gas as well as production and sales of barrelled
drinking water in China, has established internal control and
risk management systems which are designed and structured in
accordance with its specific business and operation functions.

The main features of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group comprise primarily: (i) the setting
of objectives, budgets and targets, subject to the close
monitoring and periodic update and evaluation by the
responsible departments, management and the Directors; (ii)
the establishment of regular reporting of financial information
supplemented by other regular and ad hoc reports for review
and appraisal by the management and the Directors on a timely
manner to ensure the management and Directors are supplied
with all the requested information to assess the business
performances of the Group in arriving at appropriate plans
and actions; (iii) the delegation of authority and establishment
of clear lines of accountability to ensure an effective day-to-
day management, administration and operation of the Group;
and (iv) the periodic review and evaluation of the systems
and control procedures to ensure their appropriateness to the
changing business and operation environment as well as to
identify any areas of material risks and weaknesses for the
purpose of proper mitigation and improvement.
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The Board monitors the Group’s business risk, operating
risk management and internal controls. An internal audit
department is also maintained to carry out internal audit
functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control
and risk management systems to identify the potential risks
which may arise in the operation and financial aspects of the
Group's business for implementation of appropriate measures
and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and
the audit plan of the internal audit department for the Year,
which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach
and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are reviewed and approved by the AC in conjunction with
the Management. The internal audit department executes its
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for its
assignments. These reports are submitted to the management,
the Board and the AC for review on a regular basis.

During the Year under review, the Board, through the AC, has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems and the internal audit functions
of Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial reporting system, operational and compliance
controls and risk management system as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staffs of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting system, and
their training programmes and budget. The Board and the
AC confirmed that during the Year under review, there were
no significant control failings or weaknesses identified which
might have a material impact on the Company's financial
performance or condition and the required procedures and
human resources are in place to ensure adequate internal
controls within the Group.

The Board monitors the Group's business risks, operating risk
management and internal controls. An external audit has been
conducted to carry out the internal audit functions to ensure
proper compliance with the internal control systems and risk
management system to identify the potential risks which may
arise in the operation and financial of the Group’s business
for implementation of appropriate measures and policies on a
continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit programme
of external audit company, which are formulated based on a
risk assessment approach and focuses on areas with relatively
higher perceived risks, are approved by the audit committee
at the end of the preceding financial year in conjunction with
the management. The external audit company executes their
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for their
assignments. These reports are submitted to the management,
the Board and the AC for review on a regular basis. Such
reports are also circulated to the external auditor on an annual
basis.
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The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information
Policy for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information as
set out in the Inside Information Policy are summarised below:

Handling of Inside Information

(a) Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases where a
decision by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures
set out in the Inside Information Policy to maintain the
confidentiality of information. Until an announcement is
made, the Directors and the management should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

(b) Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and/or the
company secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information announcement,
can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

() The Group's finance department shall keep track of the
Group's threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the
percentage ratios as defined in the Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arise.

Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the websites
of the Exchange and the Company (www.681hk.com). The
electronic publication system of the Exchange is the first
channel of dissemination of the Group’s information (www.
hkexnews.hk) before any other channels.
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The Company has committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors on
relevant information/developments in a timely manner, subject
to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted from
time to time. The Company also replied the enquiries from
Shareholders timely. The Directors host the AGM each year to
meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company’s website at www.681hk.com contains important
corporate information, biographical details of current Directors,
organisation structure, annual and interim reports with
comprehensive and user-friendly information about the Group,
as well as announcements and circulars issued by the Company
in order to enable the Shareholders and the investor community
to have timely access to updated information about the
Company and the Group.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
a SGM and state the purpose therefor at the Company’s
registered office in Bermuda at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

The Company has adopted communications policy with
Shareholders and investors that provide ready, equal and timely
access to understandable information about the Company, the
policy is posted on the Company’s website (www.681hk.com).
The Board is welcome to Shareholders for their comments and/
or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders may send their
comments and/or enquiries to the Board by addressing them
to the Company secretary who ensures these enquires and/or
comments to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposal for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposal
to the Company secretary.
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Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder wish to
propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting of the Company, the Shareholder
should deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be
given to the head office of the Company within the 7-day
period commencing the day after the despatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and
announced by the Directors from time to time). The relevant
procedures are posted on the Company’s website (www.681hk.
com).

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’'s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Tengis Limited, whose
contact details are stated in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the
management are committed to the constructive use of AGM as
a forum to meet with Shareholders and to hear their views and
answer their questions about the Group and its business.

Dr. Mo Shikang, the chairman of the Board, did and would
use his endeavours to attend all Shareholders’ meetings.
The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for the
chairmen of RC, NC and AC or their alternates be available to
answer questions at each AGM of the Company. A member
of the independent Board committee of the Company also
be available to answer questions at any general meeting
of the Company, if any, to approve connected transactions
or any other transactions that are subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

The Board did and would arrange auditor to attend every AGM
of the Company to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.
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Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
are unable to attend general meetings of the Company can
appoint proxies to attend and vote at general meetings of the
Company. The chairman of general meetings of the Company
would provide explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then would answer questions (if any)
from the Shareholders regarding voting by way of poll. The
Company would send notice of the AGM of the Company to
the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before each
AGM of the Company and at least 10 clear business days
before all other general meetings of the Company.

The Company’s website (www.681hk.com) is maintained
for the dissemination of the Company’s announcements,
press releases and other relevant financial and non-financial
information on a timely basis.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Executive Director maintains
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep
them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) are pleased to
present this report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year").

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of fuel gas including
the provision of piped gas, sales and distribution of cylinder gas
and production and sales of barrelled drinking water in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). Further discussion and
analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on
pages 2 to 26 of this annual report. All these sections form part of this
report of the Directors.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 are set
out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
89 to 90 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil).

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 14 August 2018 to Friday, 17 August 2018 (both dates
inclusive), for the purpose of determining the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) eligibility to attend and vote at
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday,
17 August 2018 (the “2018 AGM") and during which period
no transfer of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) will be
effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2018 AGM,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 13 August 2018.
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A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 224 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report.

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

208,000,000 Award Shares (as defined below under section headed
"AWARD SHARES"”) were vested; allotted and issued to certain
Directors and the employees of the Group on 30 September 2017 by
the Company pursuant to the terms of Award Shares.

1,888,865,067 new subscription Shares were allotted and issued to Dr.
Mo Shikang, the chairman of the Board and an executive Director, on
16 March 2018 by the Company to set off the outstanding amount of
cash consideration payable by the Company to Dr. Mo under the sale
and purchase agreement dated 5 September 2014.

Details of above transactions may refer to the below sections of
“AWARD SHARES” and “CONNECTED TRANSACTION" in this report
accordingly.

Further details of the movement in the share capital, Share Options
and Award Shares of the Company, if any, during the Year are set out
in notes 33 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

“SHARE CAPITAL AND
above, no equity-linked

Save as disclosed under the section of
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS”
agreement was entered into during the Year.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 93 to 94 and note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report respectively.

AEEBEREMRFEXENEERBERR
BN ANFRF224H - W B TBRAFHRNES
g E@mE—#kn

EA$$F$%I2%% BEMEREMEREE
ZEBHEBFDRIEHNAFERIEE M S RKMIFE16
ﬂmo

1B IE 2B A5 1630 - 208,000,000 EEEN AL (5 (E
ERTXHERL] —8A)ER2017F9730
ARE EERETTHEIEENAREEBET -

MR2018F3A16BHARAIERAARARIESS
FTREENTEETEHEEE D% KRBT
1,888,865,067 R EAR MDA EHA R A WEUF

2014¢9H5E EEWJ ZENEBTZ2RERER
BH o

PR ZFBFERMARE T [EEERD | K& [FE
BR ]8R

RAEAFEARRG RN -BREKERRNDED
(B ) WE—TFB D RIEHR R FERG S T TFIH
RMFE33/%39 -

B Bt —86 [ MABRMDER I N 225 A
BRI FRA BT AR B -

RAFEARERRNAR 2 FHEEBFBD R
NAFEREOBETUHGAERSENERGSUE
= MIET48 o



As at 31 March 2018, the Company did not have any distributable
reserve (2017: nil).

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2018
is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers taken
together accounted for 2.52% and 9.86% of the Group’s total
revenue from continuing operations for the Year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 18.34% and 57.19% of
the Group's total purchase from continuing operations for the Year,
respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any of
the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Dr. Liu Junmin
Prof. Zhao Yanyun
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out on
pages 27 to 36 of this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and Miss
Mo Yunbi, an executive Director, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for no specific year, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-election in the
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM") in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant to
paragraph A4.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report annexed as Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Mr. Fan Fangyi and Miss Mo Yunbi, being executive Directors,
and Prof. Zhao Yanyun, being an independent non-executive Director,
shall retire from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of 2018
AGM but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2018
AGM.

There is no service contract, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of any Director proposed for
re-election at the 2018 AGM.

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis and five highest
paid individuals (four of them are Directors) are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report .
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The Company had received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Liu Junmin, Prof,
Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man of their independence for the Year
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

As at 31 March 2018, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“"Model Code"”) were as follows:
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Notes:

1. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial
owner.

2. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by his spouse.

3. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by Ping Da
Development Limited (“Ping Da"), a company beneficially and wholly-
owned by Dr. Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2018 (i.e.
9,041,819,203 shares).

Save as disclosed above and under section headed “DIRECTORS
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below, as at 31
March 2018, none of the Directors nor their associates had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and/or
debentures of the Company or any of its Associated Corporations
which had been entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this report, no transactions, arrangements
and contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a
party and in which a Director or an entities connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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As at 31 March 2018, the number of outstanding option Shares
granted under the Share Option Scheme (if any) and the Award
Shares (defined under sections headed “SHARE OPTION” and
“AWARD SHARES"” below) for the Directors to subscribe the shares of
the Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are set out in the
sections headed “SHARE OPTION” and “AWARD SHARES” in this
report, respectively.

Apart from the aforesaid and disclosed in this annual report, at no
time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors, their spouse and children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

As at 31 March 2018, the interests of those persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Name of Shareholder Capacity
RRE®B 54

Ping Da (note) Beneficial owner
i (M) ERBEBA

(L) = long position & &

Note: This represents the Shares held by Ping Da, a company wholly-owned
by Dr. Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on the total number of
Shares in issue as at 31 March 208 (i.e. 9,041,819,203 Shares).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company any of its Associated
Corporations, which had been recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

During the Year, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholders or
any of their respective close associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the
Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report and within
the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float
of the Company's securities as required under the Listing Rules.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Shareholders approved a resolution of adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in the AGM of the
Company held on 9 September 2016.

As at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report, nil share option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed
and/or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme:

Purpose

Participants

Provide incentives to the eligible persons
to contribute to the Group, to enable
the Group to recruit and retain quality
employees to serve the Group on a
long-term basis and to attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-
time), Director (including non-executive
director and independent non-executive
director), consultant, adviser, partner,
joint-venture partner, service provider,
customer and/or agent of the Company
or any of its subsidiary or any person,
who in the absolute discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group at the time when an option
is granted to such person.
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Price of Shares

Total number of Shares

available for issue
and the percentage
of the issued share
capital that it
represents as at the
date of this annual
report

Maximum entitlement

of each participant

Period within which
the securities must be

taken up under the
option

Minimum period for

which an option must

be held before it can
be exercised

Determined by the Board and shall at
least be the highest of:

(a)

(b)

the nominal value of the Share;

the closing price of the Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer, which must be a trading
day; and

the average closing price of the
Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations
sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date
of offer.

694,495,413 Shares, being approximately
7.68% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Not applicable.
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Amount payable on
acceptance

No amount is payable on acceptance of
an offer.

Period within which
calls/loans must be
made/repaid

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective
until 8 September 2026, after which no
further options will be granted, but in
all other respects the provisions of this
scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in respect of any option granted
prior to the termination of this scheme
and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue.

Remaining life of the
scheme

On 27 July 2016, the Board resolved to grant shares award (“Award
Shares”) in respect of issue and allotment of 208,000,000 new
Shares, to which was the entitled grantees, who are certain
Directors, chief executive of the Company and employees of the
Group (the “Grantees”) that was approved by the Shareholders at
the special general meeting held on 14 October 2016. The Award
Shares were duly vested; allotted and issued to the Grantees on 30
September 2017 by the Company pursuant to the terms of Award
Shares. Details of the Award Shares are set out in the Company's
announcements on 27 July 2016 and 14 October 2016, the
Company'’s circular dated 23 September 2016 and note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of
contributions to Hong Kong's Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
the PRC statutory public welfare fund respectively. Details of which
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statement.
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As disclosed in the section headed “AWARD SHARES"”, the Board
resolved to grant Award Shares in an aggregate of 208,000,000
new Shares on 27 July 2016 (“Date of Grant”). Out of which,
an aggregate of 141,000,000 Award Shares were granted to the
then certain Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Hesheng, Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus, Mr. Fan Fangyi, Mr. Jin Song (now as chief strategy
officer, has retired as a non-executive Director at the conclusion of
AGM of the Company held on 9 September 2016), Dr. Liu Junmin,
Prof. Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man. The total value of the
Award Shares granted to the Directors as the Date of the Grant
and at the date of special general meeting dated 14 October 2016
approving the grant of the Award Shares were HKD16,215,000
and HKD19,881,000 respectively and the subscription price of a
nominal sum of HKD1 has been payable by each of the Grantees.
Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the grant of the Award
Shares (the “Grant of Award Shares”) to the certain Directors
constituted connected transactions of the Company which
is subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholder’s approval requirements. The Grant of the Award
Shares were approved by independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting held on 14 October 2016. All the Award Shares
were vested; allotted and issued on 30 September 2017. Details
of the Award Shares are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 July 2016 and 14 October 2016, the circular
of the Company dated 23 September 2016 and note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The Grant
of the Award Shares is to (1) align the interest of the Directors
with the continue performance of the Group; (2) recognise the
contributions the Directors over years of their services; (3) motivate
the Directors (4) provide an additional form of reward to the
Directors; and (5) attract and retain the Directors for the continual
operation and development of the Group.

On 29 December 2017, the Company and Dr. Mo, the chairman
of the Board and an executive Director, entered into the
subscription agreement whereby Dr. Mo agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company agreed to allot and issue an aggregate of
1,888,865,067 new Shares at the subscription price of HKD0.104
per Share (the “Subscription”) to set off the outstanding
balance of cash consideration of RMB155,768,480 payable by
the Company to Dr. Mo under the sale and purchase agreement
dated 5 September 2014 entered into between the Company
and Dr. Mo in relation to the acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of True Vanguard Holdings Limited from Dr. Mo
together with the debt due from True Vanguard Holdings Limited
to Dr. Mo. Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Dr. Mo is the
connected person of the Company, the Subscription constituted
connected transactions of the Company which is subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholder’s
approval requirements. Independent Shareholders approved the
Subscription in the special general meeting of the Company held
on 9 March 2018. 1,888,865,067 new Shares were issued and
allotted to Dr. Mo on 16 March 2018, in accordance with the
terms and conditions as stated in the said subscription agreement,
details of which may refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 29 December 2017, 8 January 2018, 19 January 2018, 2
February 2018 and 16 March 2018 respectively and the circular of
the Company dated 2 February 2018.
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On 14 December 2016, Xi‘an Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas”)
entered into a new natural gas supply agreement (“2017-2019
Natural Gas Supply Agreement”) with Shaanxi Provincial Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Natural Gas”) to renew the continuing
connected transactions for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. The annual cap amount
for the transactions for each of the three years ended/ending 31
December 2017, 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 under
the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement be RMB148,205,000,
RMB 180,260,000 and RMB210,152,000 respectively.

Shaanxi Natural Gas is a shareholder of Xi'an Civigas (being a 51%
owned subsidiary of the Group) holding 40% equity interests in Xi'an
Civigas, by virtue of its interests in Xi'an Civigas, is regarded as a
connected person of the Company pursuant to chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. It was expected that the highest applicable percentage
ratio of the transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply
Agreement and the annual cap amounts will be more than 5% as
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions
under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement is (i) between
the Group and a connected person at the subsidiary level, (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better, and (iii) approved by the Board
and confirmed by the independent non-executive Directors, that are
therefore exempted from the circular (including independent financial
advice) and shareholders’ approval requirements, as it has been as
required under Rule 14A.101(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, but
are subject to annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of the transactions was
disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 15 December 2016.

Shaanxi Natural Gas is principally engaged in the distribution and
pipeline transportation of natural gas, the sale of city gas, as well as
the operation of gasification projects. It is one of the leading natural
gas providers in Shaanxi Province, China. Through purchasing the
natural gas from Shaanxi Natural Gas, it can stable the supply in the
region Xi‘an Civigas serves.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the amount of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions was within the
maximum aggregate value as stated in the 2017-2019 Natural Gas
Supply Agreement.
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Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply
Agreement as disclosed by the Group in the annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement
and confirmed that these transactions entered into by the Group
were:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no transactions which need
to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 41 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.
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The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time.
All Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the Year. Employees of
the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information, have been requested to comply with provisions of
Model Code.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the
date of this report. The company repurchased and then cancelled in
aggregate of 107,258,000 Shares.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in
connection with their duties. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company.

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of Directors since the date of Company’s 2017 Interim
Report is as follows:

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, being a deputy chairman and an executive
Director, resigned as an independent non-executive director of China
Huishan Dairy Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 06863) on 15
December 2017 and Telecom Service One Holdings Limited (stock
code: 08145) on 27 December 2017 respectively, shares of which are
listed on the Main Board and the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange respectively.

Dr. Liu Junmin, being an independent non-executive Director,
resigned as independent director of AVIC Electromechanical Systems

0., Ltd. (stock code: 002013), shares of which are listed on the
Small & Medium Enterprises Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
on 26 March 2018.

The fee of each independent non-executive Director, namely, Dr. Liu
Junmin, Prof. Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man, has been increased
to HKD15,000 per month with effect from 1 April 2018, such
increment has been approved by the remuneration committee of the
Company and the Board respectively.
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Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have
significant impact on the Group. The Board reviews and monitors
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the Year, to the best of the Company's knowledge, the
Company has complied with the requirements under memorandum
of association and Bye-laws of the Company, the Listing Rules, the
SFO, the Companies Act 1981 Bermuda and other law applicable to
the Company. Details of the Company’'s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 37 to 66 of this annual
report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) being the auditor of the
Company, will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment in the 2018 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2018
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2018
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINESE PEOPLE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages
89 to 221, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

REEEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’s subsidiaries

= S0y NI SR 0p -

We identified annual impairment assessment of goodwill
of Group’s subsidiaries as a key audit matter due to the
involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in
determining the recoverable amounts of cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill have been allocated, which
are derived from value in use calculations using discounted
cash flow models.

BIIRA %%WEE?’&ETZ%%EF%@Z{EEWEE%—IEE%E
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s goodwill is allocated to
respective CGU relating to sales and distribution of cylinder
gas (formerly named as “transportation, distribution and
retail of liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”)"”) operation in
the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC"”) amounting to
approximately RMB7.1 million. Details are disclosed in notes
4 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management's assessment of goodwill impairment is highly
judgmental and is dependent on certain significant inputs
including the growth rates, budgeted gross margin and
discount rates applied, all of which vary based on the relevant
industry growth and management’s expectation for the
market development of sales and distribution of cylinder gas
operation in the PRC.
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As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, impairment loss of RMB4.9 million has been
recognised against the goodwill allocated to the sales and
distribution of cylinder gas for the year ended 31 March
2018.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESNAHRARFTERETEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the management's
impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’s
subsidiaries included:

BAAEREHAKRENB AR ZHBET

TREF G Z

EitRRFERE:

Understanding the Group's impairment
assessment process, including the impairment
model, basis of allocation of goodwill to CGUs,
the preparation of the cash flow projections
("Cashflow Forecasts”) and key management
assumptions adopted in these Cashflow Forecasts
through enquiries with the management;

BBEAEIEE R EKIZHTE%%LE
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Challenging the appropriateness of the key
assumptions adopted by the management in
the Cashflow Forecasts, such as the budgeted
gross margin, discount rates and forecast growth
rates applied and comparing them with available
market data and our knowledge of the current
market development in the PRC;

EREEENREREBRATAEMANEERR
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Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGUs to test the
accuracy of management’s projections; and

RBENRERERANRRSELEMHREE
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Reviewing the Cashflow Forecasts by stress testing
key assumptions, assessing the impact on the
sensitivity analysis, and understanding the degree
to which assumptions would need to move before
impairment would be triggered.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GERAEMZEIARSER

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z201853831HILLEE

2018 2017
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Lo AR TR ARBT T
Continuing operations FEREEK
Revenue WA 5 1,200,359 969,524
Cost of sales and services $HE R AR TS A (902,188) (697,908)
Gross profit EH 298,171 271,616
Other gains and losses Hib Uz &8 7 (26,920) (16,642)
Other income H AU A 8 20,935 11,604
Finance costs BIRS AR AR 11 (12,648) (14,779)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (101,834) (84,800)
Administrative expenses THRAX (103,578) (108,679)
Share of results of associates il /NI 34,148 19,259
Share of results of joint ventures ELHEELXXSE 148,343 129,773
Profit before tax i B AT R 256,617 207,352
Income tax expense FTS i 12 (26,706) (32,284)
Profit for the year from continuing operations #5484 & %75 2 A F £ 5 9 229,911 175,068
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
Profit for the year from discontinued BRILEEER 2 RER R
operation 13 - 53,433
Profit for the year REE s A 229,911 228,501
Other comprehensive income (expense) AFEEEMEERA (ZH)BE
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E&AIGEEH D EEIBE
to profit or loss: BHH :
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AHEEREZAREEZS o
investments 22 - Ky
Reclassification adjustment of HEAHEERER BT KRS =
cumulative gain upon disposal of Mo EAE i
available-for-sale investments (15) -
Other comprehensive income for the year REFHMPERAEE 7 =
Total comprehensive income for the year REE2HRALLE 229,918 228,501
FRERERAA

2017 - 20185



Profit for the year attributable to: THIEIE 2 R FE %A :
Owners of the Company AARHEA A
Profit from continuing operations FECEEB 2 5H
Profit from discontinued operation ERIEEEER 2 m M
Non-controlling interests RS
Profit from continuing operations FECEEL 2T

Total comprehensive income attributable to: N5 f&{5 2 2 H A 4A%E :

Owners of the Company AARHEA A
Profit from continuing operations FEEEER 2T
Profit from discontinued operation ERIEEEER 2 m M
Non-controlling interests RS
Profit from continuing operations FECEER 2
Earnings per share FRRAH
From continuing and discontinued operations 3 B #3548 I & 4% I 45 & 2 7%
~ basic - EXR
— diluted — 5
From continuing operations REHELEER
~ basic - AR

— diluted — #E

NOTE
Pt

15

2017
RMB'000
ARBETT

152,462
53,433

205,895

22,606

228,501

152,462
53,433

205,895

22,606

228,501

RMB2.96 cents 7

RMB2.96 cents 7

RMB2.20 cents 7

RMB2.20 cents 7



2017

NOTES RMB'000
B 5 ARBEFT
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB K& 16 619,984
Investment properties REME 17 13,200
Prepaid lease payments A 18 59,306
Goodwill kS 19 14,051
Intangible assets B EE 20 26,825
Interests in associates REE N R 2 21 107,566
Interests in joint ventures REBLFE 2R 22 917,556
Available-for-sale investments Al ERE 23 15,032
Long-term deposits EHZ® 24 31,844
1,805,364
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 25 21,401
Trade, bills and other receivables and B ZEREMEWRGRIENR
prepayments T 5R0R 26 112,056
Amount due from a joint venture W —EEECENE 27 24,556
Prepaid lease payments e 18 1,494
Bank balances and cash RITER KRS 28 392,287
551,794
Current liabilities NIRRT
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EH M FE T IR 29 216,352
Tax liabilities MIEAE 41,635
Amount due to an associate FEAS — B & 2 B 5KT8 27 299
Amount due to a joint venture R —HeEENRE 27 4,103
Consideration payable R RERIE 30 155,768
Bank borrowings RITEE 31 62,000
480,157
Net current assets MEEEFE 71,637

Total assets less current liabilities BEERTESEE 1,877,001



2017

NOTES RMB'000
B 7 ARET T
Capital and reserves AR AN R 7
Share capital & 7R 33 453,328
Reserves i 1,203,848
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEER AEILERE
Company 1,657,176
Non-controlling interests FEFE R HE = 50 168,937
Total equity 1B A 1,826,113
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITIEE 31 42,500
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBEAE 32 8,388
50,888
1,877,001

The consolidated financial statements on page 89 to 221 were BNELIZ22N B iR BHRERCEESTERN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 201856 H29H #h/fE R I - W A TR &K

June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: #=E:

DR. MO SHIKANG MR. FAN FANGYI
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BEEEL WHEXE

EF EF



Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity
FERESEDE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 # Z201853A31HLLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRAEEARERR
(Accumulated
Surplus Investment ~ Share-based losses)/ Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed reserve Deemed Capital ~ revaluation compensation Other retained controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus fund  contribution  contribution reserve reserve reserve  eamings  Sub-Total interests Total
%% NBRHRER (BiER)/

ks RHEE  ERER  AARR BBORE  BEER EAEE  EREBR  ZMEBR  ReRRE  REEd M FEREE ait
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RVBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBO00  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB000
ARMTT ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR ARETR ARETR

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Hite) (Hiitb) (Hio (Hiitd)

At 1 April 2016 R201654A18 453328 944,616 2,086 92,665 71210 26,628 7121 (1] = 7175 (172,060)  1,439422 164,938 1,604,410
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ AEEEFIR2ERALE

for the year = = = = = = = = = = 205,895 205,895 22,606 228,501
Appropriations & - - - - 17,898 - - - - - (17,89) - - -
Recognition of share-based payments ~ BRHRABERAH - - - - - - - - 12212 - - 1212 - 12212
Dividends paid to a non-controlling gl PoEE S

interest of a subsidiary #ZRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (23310 23310
Acquisition of partialinterests i a hE-EHELTBAER

subsidiary (note ¢) (Wiike) - - - - - - - - - (353) - (353) 253 (100)
Capital injection from non-controlling & AL HB A HER

interests of subsidiaries newly BaTE

incorporated during the year - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,400 4,400
At 31 March 2017 R201753A318 453,328 944,616 2,086 92,665 95,168 26,628 m (7 12,212 6,822 15,937 1,657,176 168,937 1,826,113
Profit for the year RERER - - - - - - - - - - 201,456 201,456 28,455 29911
Change in the fair value of avallable-for- ~ T ERER L HES

sale investments - - - - - - - n - - - n - n
Reclassification adjustment of cumulative (&ML ERE | ZaH

gain upon disposal of available-forsale  HEFHEHE

investments - - - - - - - (15) - - - (15) - (15)
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ AEEEFIR2ERALE

for the year - - - - - - - l - - 201,456 201,463 28455 229918

&R

Appropritions 88 - - - - 1 - - - - - (1) - - - 2 %
Recognition of share-based payments ~ BRHRABERAH - - - - - - - - 1323 - - 13283 - 13,223 =
Issue of Award Shares (as defined innote - #/T%EIR{ (% B £

39(5) 390)) 12402 13033 - - - B - - (50) . . . . . -
Issue of Subscription Shares (as defined in %72 R{ (£ B

note 30) 30) 104,844 50,924 - - - - - - - - - 155,768 - 155,768
Dividends paid to a non-controlling R -ENELDELRE

interests of subsidiaries #IRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (29,610) (29,610)
Capital injection from non-controlling & AL B A HER

interests of subsidiaries newly BaTE

incorporated during the year - - - - - - - - - - - - 13375 13,375
Deemed disposal of partil interests in ~ B{EHENBR A HERS

subsidiaries (note f) (W) - - - - - - - - - (84) - (84) 3533 3,449
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HERBAF (Ki37) - - - - - - - - - - - - (4161) (4161)
At 31 March 2018 R201853A318 570,574 1,008,573 2,086 92,665 108,606 26,628 A - - 6,738 203,955 2,021,546 180,529 2,208,075

PRERBRAH
2017 - 2018F 3k



Notes:

Capital reserve was recognised as a result of acquisition of additional
interest in an associate which became a subsidiary.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s share capital issued as consideration in exchange for the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries acquired at the
time of the Company'’s listing in 1997.

The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") state that they should make an
appropriation of 10% of their profit for the year (prepared under generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC) each year to the surplus reserve
fund until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in capital. The surplus
reserve fund shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into
paid-in capital and expansion of their production and operation.

The other reserve of the Group represents the effect arising from the
change in the Group's equity interest on existing subsidiary without losing
control.

On 23 December 2016, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with a non-controlling interest to acquire 10% equity
interest of Chengdu Zhonglian Hua'an Investment Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu
Zhonglian”, a 90% owned subsidiary of the Group) which is engaged in
sales and distribution of cylinder gas at a consideration of RMB100,000.
Accordingly, the Group increase of its shareholding in Chengdu Zhonglian
from 90% to 100%. The difference between the consideration paid and
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in Chengdu Zhonglian
of RMB253,000 was debited to equity as other reserve during the year
ended 31 March 2017.

On 19 December 2017, the equity interest of Chanshun County Civigas
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Changshun Civigas Group”), the then
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group, was transferred to a 60%
owned subsidiary of the Group upon group-restructuring. Accordingly,
the Group's effective interest in Changshun Civigas Group had been
reduced from 100% to 60%. The carrying amount of the partial interest in
Changshun Civigas Group deemed disposed by the Group of RMB80,000
was credited to equity as other reserve during the year ended 31 March
2018.

On 1 April 2017, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with an independent third party to dispose 49% equity interest of
Zhijiang Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Zhijiang Civigas"”), the then non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group with effective interest 55% held through
investment in non-wholly subsidiary, Hunan Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Hunan
Civigas”), at a consideration of approximately RMB3,449,000. Accordingly,
the Group's effective interest in Zhijiang Civigas has been reduced from
55% to 28.05%. The difference between the consideration received and
the carrying amount of the partial interest in Zhijiang Civigas disposed by
the Group of RMB164,000 was debited to equity as other reserve during
the during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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2017

RMB'000
ARBEFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Profit for the year N F S g A 228,501
Adjustments for: M THNIEE EHFEE
Share of results of joint ventures Bk EHEEE (129,773)
Share of results of associates JE(L B N R AR (19,259)
Bank interest income SRITH B UL A (2,587)
Interest income from loan to a joint venture RE—HEELEZERMNBEWA (1,241)
Interest income from loans to non-controlling 2R B i B A B 3FIE iz 2 BERA B
interests of subsidiaries WA (241)
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHEEHERE 2R BMA
investments (63)
Fair value changes of investment properties KREMEAREE -
Loss (gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEE (WR) (54,174)
Waiver of overdue interest on consideration HRENRERB 2B E
payable -
Income tax expense Fri8fiF 32,284
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and ~ HE¥WE  HEMKREZ CEF)) 8
equipment 2,741
(Gain) loss on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEHEREZ Cafl) BB
investments 62
Amortisation of intangible assets HEETEE 1,217
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BHTENES 1,478
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERRETE
equipment 34,054
Share-based payments VARR A9 23 ZRE AT 5K 12,212
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MAIHHERERABZRERERE
available-for-sale investments -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of REERRZREER
goodwill 11,620
Net allowances charged in respect of trade BLE 5 K H Ath R U FRIB ET 1R
and other receivables ZEHE T 2,927
Finance costs 81 7% AR AR 14,983



Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in trade, bills and other receivables
and prepayments

Increase in amount due from a joint venture

Increase in trade and other payables

Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary

(Decrease) increase in amount due to a joint
venture

Cash generated from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

LEETEIPHIKERENE

BFE (3Gm)md

Z5 ZEREMERZUENRIBAMNR
TE4E N

FEU — & B ¥ FRIEE N

Z 5 Ko H A FE - R IEE AN

JE AT — R BT B8 ) FE 42 R A i SR TR Rl

BN —HaBERERRIE D)

REXBGELERS
Eft R EMEMEH

G EHEER LR

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

134,741
4,582

(31,659)
(1,286)
24,474
(656)

810

131,006
(33,050)

97,956



INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-
sale investments

Acquisition of available-for-sale
investments

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Disposal of subsidiaries

Addition of prepaid lease payments

Advance to a joint venture

Repayment from a joint venture

Dividend received

Dividend received from associates

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Proceed from disposal of prepaid lease
payments

Repayment from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Interest received from a joint venture

Interest received

Settlement of consideration payable

Net cash used in investing activities

NOTES
i

REEH
BEVE BELERE

W= BEERERBNEE
REZENERE

HER I EREMEHKA
WA ERE

I B8 — R BT B A A 38
HENB AR 37/13
B AEE

m—EEERERR

—MEELEER

B B

EwwMﬂﬁkg

HEME  MERZHBTS A

HERNEEAFHRIEA
P /88 x B) FE 122 A M 2 8 K
BER—FHEELENE

B WA B
EEEMNREHEA

KREFRSAARSFR

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

(96,307)

(2,130)

718

(17,284)
16,824
(1,040)
(6,000)

63
41,732

457

6,800
241
2,587

(29,755)

(83,094)



FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceed from disposal of partial interest
in a subsidiary without losing control

Acquisition of non-controlling interests
in a subsidiary

New bank borrowings raised

Repayment of bank borrowings

Other borrowing raised

Repayment of other borrowing

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

(Repayment to) advance from an
associate

Interest paid

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
year, represented by bank balances
and cash

BMEEH

HE Y EREENEZHEA

AR s 2 P 1S 3RIR

Wis— M B ARz FERkiEs

FrERHRITHE
BERITIER
ESHEMBESR
EEEMER

7 M8 2 BRI g o 2 A

B AR R E

A — M QR &) B;

EMFE

MEERDEEZHREFHE

RehkReFEEBEINFR

FNHREe AR EEERE

FREEMRESFEEAB  RIRTT

mHp MR 27

2017
NOTE RMB’000
P = ARETT

(100)
104,500
(11,000)

488
(77)
(23,310)

4,400

223
(2,846)

72,278

87,140

305,147

28 392,287



Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997, the
Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of the Company’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 49.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the current
year:

Amendments to Hong Kong  Disclosure Initiative
Accounting Standard
("HKAS") 7

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual

Improvements to HKFRSs

2014 — 2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group's performance and financial position for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments
also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash
flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will
be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be
disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (i) changes
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates;
(iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in note 36. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not
disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart
from the additional disclosure in note 36, the application
of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs and the new interpretation that have been issued but

are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23
Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related Amendments'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts?

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle!

Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017
Cycle?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
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HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial
assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are:

3 All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"). All
other financial assets are generally measured at their
fair value at subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group's financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 March 2018, the directors
anticipate the following potential impact on initial
application of HKFRS 9:

Unlisted equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at cost less impairment as disclosed
in note 23: these securities qualified for designation
as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 and the Group
will measure these securities at fair value at the end of
subsequent reporting periods with fair value gains or
losses to be recognised as other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve.
Upon initial application of HKFRS 9, the fair value
changes relating to these securities would be adjusted to
investment revaluation reserve as at 1 April 2018.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
currently measured under HKAS 39.
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In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised costs and other items that subject to the impairment
provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 has no
material impact on the financial position of the Group as at 1
April 2018.

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
“Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

3 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation
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Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
may result in change of the identification of performance
obligations and allocation of total consideration (including
connection fee received from the customers for the
construction of the Group’s main gas pipeline) to the respective
performance obligations which may affect the timing and
amounts of revenue recognition. In addition, application of
HKFRS15 may result in adjustments to the carrying amounts
and presentation of the related contract assets and contract
liabilities.

The application of HKFRS 15 may also result in more disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS
17 "Leases” and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.
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The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows respectively by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset for
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group
is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of RMB4.2 million as disclosed in note 42.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for short-term leases or leases of low-value assets.
Furthermore, the application of new requirements under HKFRS
16 may result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB1,049,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of RMB5,000 as rights and obligations under leases to
which HKAS 17 applies.

Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16,
such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use
the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of
such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such
adjustments are considered as additional lease payments.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be
included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received would be
considered as advance lease payments.

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new and revised
HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective will have no material
impact on the results and financial position of the Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transferred at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
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o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has the power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e., reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
associate and joint venture is described below.
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An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from the provision of natural gas, sales and
distribution of cylinder gas, gas appliances and barrelled
drinking water are recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed.
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Service income is recognised when the services are provided.

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from gas
connection construction contracts is described in the
accounting policies of construction contracts below.

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant lease terms.

Dividend income from a financial asset is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably).

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost or fair value as deemed cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, pipelines and other assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or deemed
cost of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal and retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amount of
prepaid lease payments released during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).
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Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

If an investment property becomes an item of property, plant
and equipment because its use has changed as evidenced by
commencement of owner-occupation, the property’s deemed
cost for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss rising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets below).
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially measured
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity
at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to
date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where
this would not be representative of the stage of completion.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments
are included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent
of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in
which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
shown as amounts due from customers for contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract
work. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.
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Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are calculated using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and
liabilities.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation
in relation to the Group’s investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

Current and deferred tax for the year are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recorded until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and the retirement funds scheme managed by local
social security bureau in accordance with the government
regulations of the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: available-for-sale investments and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade, bills and other receivables, amount due from
a joint venture and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment (see accounting policy on impairment
losses on financial assets below).
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Loans and receivables (Continued)

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale investments and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale
investments are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses
on financial assets below).

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on financial
assets below).
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Impairment losses on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

] breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.
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Impairment losses on financial assets (Continued)

For available-for-sale investments that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When trade and other receivables
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale investment is considered to be
impaired, cumulative losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investment carried at
fair value, impairment losses previously recognised in profit
or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in
fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve.
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Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts
due to an associate and a joint venture, bank borrowings and
consideration payable) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

DERBEBLRE

SHERBRTNESABETANRES
RAZHNEEEsRAERRETANE
EPHRTRMABIRE-

BKETA

BETADEAREBINBMEAEBER L
BETRANGERZZEFMAR - AAF
TTHBET AR WAEHRIE (NRER
BITRA) 5K

BRI FZ

ERFMEEDAESRBEZHHEKRAR
RERBRES NBRAX 2%  BEN X
REEHMBEZRAMER (RERBERMN
E)BEAEBRREHRERESKA (Eh
BREAEBKEREMNEZRI ZENKRER
BER RXHIRAREMEELTE) NS
HRRREFE B L X

MBI RE R REERER -

BEBHKAGTEZ A A

TRAE (BEES REMEMNE  EN
—ABERRNAEEENER  RITEER
FERT B FIR) R R ERF SORZ#H
FX AN B B



The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
directors are measured at the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

EEREEWRBESREZANERNER
B A EEEECREERRNERERE
HEEZBRBRREERER TS —
%ﬁ%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%@@ﬁéo

REBUEERSMEER EERAEEDW
REKKERCEEREM 2 @K AER
IF%miﬁZ%?E S M ZR B
R HER

NEFENAER 2 BT ERRE  BUS
B A RIEERCRBE RIEERZS
BREENEREECNKEMNREBZEZ%
ERAE-

LHEENREFZUARGEERNAER L
MRBEREE B AR BRERD A
REFE YERBREABREHE M
e (AR AER M E) JIEEE
ame

KilﬁﬁiﬁifE\Tﬁ%%%ﬁ%
MBRE B ETF ST RBHRZ
RAEGABFELEANZE BN EENE
2 JAim R 2RAXRBEER 2B H
FoUWR AR RER 2 S FEEEER
2

= °

ARE L BRMERRE CERENS EX
HEREZ AR ENERERH-



When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of awarded shares granted at the grant date, in
exchange for the grant of awarded shares is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share-based compensation reserve). When
the awarded shares are vested and issued, the amount
previously recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital with the corresponding
adjustment made to share premium. When the awarded shares
are not vested or are forfeited during the vesting period, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be reversed to profit or loss.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on the historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainties at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires estimation of the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of
disposal and value in use. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash generating unit (“CGU"”) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
discount rate represents the rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates
have not been adjusted. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill and
intangible assets were RMB7,064,000 (2017: RMB14,051,000)
and RMB25,596,000 (2017: RMB26,825,000) respectively.
Impairment loss of RMB4,868,000 was recognised for goodwill
during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: RMB11,620,000)
with details set out in note 19.
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An analysis of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations
for the year is as follows:

FREEXR
PR B BINR

Continuing operations
Provision of piped gas

Piped gas connection construction contracts & & #A R IZ BB E S 4

HERD HEERR
Production and sales of barrelled drinking 4= 2 % $ & 18 2 £k A 7K

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

water

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), being the managing director of
the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
sold or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis
of organisation of the Group.

The Group ceased the lottery agency business (“Discontinued
Operation”) upon the completion of disposal of a group of
subsidiaries completed on 30 June 2016 as described in note
13. Accordingly, the results of lottery agency business for the
year ended 31 March 2017 had been separately presented as
discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group's reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are as follows:

(1) Provision of piped gas — provision of piped gas and
construction of gas pipeline networks;

(2) Sales and distribution of cylinder gas (formerly named
s “Transportation, distribution and retail of LPG"”) — the
sales and distribution of gas using tank containers to end-
user residential household, industrial and commercial
customers; and

(3)  Production and sales of barrelled drinking water.
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2017
RMB’000
ARBFIT

397,914
138,641
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No operating segments have been aggregated to derive the
reportable segments for segment information presentation.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2018

Continuing operations

Segment revenue from external customers

Segment profit (loss)

Unallocated income

Central administration costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Finance costs

Profit before tax from continuing
operations
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

Continuing operations

REREES f#

Segment revenue from external customers IR B SNEEF K2 HURA

Segment profit 2 2% A

Unallocated income APEBA

Central administration costs RRITHEFE X

Share of results of associates IR E AR ERE

Share of results of joint ventures EheBELERE

Finance costs HHERA

Profit before tax from continuing BECEEBBRBANEF
operations

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in
both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment result represents the profit (loss)
earned by (incurred by) each segment without allocation of
share of results of associates, share of results of joint ventures,
central administration costs, finance costs and certain other
income. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Provision of
piped gas

EEERR
RMB'000
AREFT
536,555

53,452

HE2017F3A31BIEFE

Production
and sales of
Sales and barrelled
distribution of drinking
cylinder gas water Total
e R 84 HERBEE
BRME  RESKAK G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT AREFTL
424,081 8,888 969,524
39,714 6,274 99,440
4,068
(30,409)
19,259
129,773
(14,779)
207,352
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segments.

Segment assets

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

Production and sales of barrelled drinking
water

Total segment assets
Investment properties
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Available-for-sale investments
Bank balances and cash
Unallocated assets

Consolidated assets

Segment liabilities

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

Production and sales of barrelled drinking
water

Total segment liabilities
Bank borrowings

Tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

DEEE
HEEBRR
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FENMEERERAK

DEBEERE
REME

REERE 2
REBELEZHEm

AHEERE
RITHEBRERE
ADEEE

REEE

DEEME
HEEBRR

HE R o HER MR
HEERHEEREKRAK

DEP R ERE
RITEE
HMIRAE
EXERBARE
ANBEAE
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2017
RMB’000
ARETT

601,048
282,527

4,641

888,216
13,200
107,566
917,556
15,032
392,287
23,301

2,357,158

156,330
136,562

80,115

373,007
104,500
41,635
8,388
3,515

531,045



For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than o
investment properties, interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, available-for-sale investments, bank
balances and cash, certain property, plant and equipment

and other receivables; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other o
than bank borrowings, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities

and certain other payables.

Provision of
piped gas
HEEERT
2017

Continuing operations RMB'000
RESEER AREFT
For the year ended 31 March  BIZE3A31RLER
Amounts included in measure 514 HEFIRER

of segment profit or loss or A BEEEF &

segment assets: L8R
Depreciation of property, plant 9% - HE kiR &

and equipment il 2307
Impairment loss on goodwill  FEAERNERER L

recognised in profit or loss ~ JEERE 11,620
Impairment loss on available-  (HEAIEHERE 2

forsale investments REEE =
Loss (gain) on disposal HENE BER

of property, plant and i BE (A7)

equipment 218
Loss on disposal of HENBAAES

subsidiaries -
Amortisation of prepaid lease T4

payments 698
Amortisation of intangible ~ BHEHEE

assets 1,217

TERKEDE R

Sales and distribution of Production and sales of

cylinder gas barrelled drinking water
HRERDEREMR  LEREEREMAA
2017 2017

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT

9,818 50

2503 =

23 =

Unallocated

i

2017
RMB'000
ARETT

1,782
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BRIRTTIEER BIRAE BEEHREAE
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Consolidated
it
2017
RMB'000
ARETT

33977

11,620

2,741

1421

1,217



Continuing operations

BERLER

Net (reversal of allowances) ~ 3t8 B RE L
allowance made in FE (BERE)
respect of trade and other 3 REIEFE

receivables

Capital expenditure in respect AERMES
of prepaid lease payments 2 ARER

Capital expenditure in respect BEHE HE R
of property, plant and R ERRY
equipment

Capital expenditure in respect EBEFEEL
of intangible assets BAREx

Amounts regularly provided to EHRAEEEERRE
the CODM but not included  REBREEH T

in the measure of segment ~ FHEEHNHTEE
profit or loss or segment  BUEF Rz £
assets:

Interests in associates RBEQFZER

Interests in joint ventures ~~ RNABELEZER

Share of results of associates  E(FBEEAAI£E

Share of results of joint EiEaEL5%E
ventures

Provision of
piped gas
HEEEMRR
2017
RMB'000
AREFT

9,811

9,561

Sales and distribution of Production and sales of

cylinder gas
HERD HRERR

2017
RMB'000
ARETT

2,788

4,433

17,782

The Group's business is principally carried out in the PRC. All
the revenue of the Group for both years are derived from the
PRC based on the location of goods delivered and services
provided and the Group’s non-current assets are physically
located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical information is

presented.

None of the customers contributed over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2018

and 2017.

barrelled drinking water Unallocated
TEREERRRAXK AR
2017 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
- 150
- 368
- 107,566
- 917,556
- (19,259)
- (129,773)

Consolidated
it
2017
RMB'000
ARETT

2,921

10,300

114,961

9,561

107,566
917,556
(19,259)

(129.773)
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Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant

and equipment

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of

goodwill (note 19)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

available-for-sale investments

Fair value changes of investment properties
Gain (loss) on disposal of available-for-sale

investments
Net foreign exchange gain

Net (allowance made) reversal of allowances

in respect of:
— trade receivables (note 26)
— other receivables (note 26)

Bank interest income
Waiver of overdue interest on consideration

payable (note 30)

Dividend income from available-for-sale

investments

Interest income from loans to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
Interest income from loan to a joint venture

Rental income

Repair and maintenance services income
Sales of gas appliance, net
Government grant

Others

HEME  BFE K& 2 F
(&1#8)
HEMB AR ZEE (ME37)
AEERERREREE (FFE19)

MAHHEREER ZRERRE

REMELNAREES
HEAHBERE 2 W= (BER)
BEE 34, Wi s )RR
BRNLTIEE 2 (FHEBHE) B = 5
(GhE 25

—Z FrEIE (MsE26)
— H b pE U ZRE (BI5E26)

BT ERA
MEENREFE QBT E
(F3E30)
AIHHEREZRERA

KEHBA R TR EE 2 BN
M EHA

XA -—HABREZERNBWA
HE WA

HERERB KA
HEMRSRFER

B 68 B &

Hl

2017
RMB’000
ARBETT

(2,741)

(11,620)

(62)
708

11
(2,938)

(16,642)

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

2,587

63

241
1,241
880
2,825
2,162
450
1,155

11,604



Profit for the year from continuing operations has been arrived

at after charging:

Staff costs

Directors’ emoluments (note 10)

Other staff costs
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets

Operating lease payments in respect of
rented premises

Contract cost recognised as expense in
respect of gas connection construction
contracts

B TRA

EEMe (HE10)
HAh 8 TR

e REMEREDA S
PAR A7 73 B R A 3R
BRARAEFFT B 15K

BRRAXZFERAR
% BREM BN &
ME BB ERRETE

BHEBENES
BHELEE

REFRBLEEBH BN HE TI%
18 :

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

13,812

95,567
5,106
12,658

127,143
584,538
2,255

33,977
1,421
1,217

HMEMERB KLEHERSXH

8,233

BRRAX ZMREREESH

B & KR

62,478



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERMNE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

10.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 10.E5 - THEZ R IV E

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SEFMALZME
INDIVIDUALS" EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executives’' emoluments (a) EEBRITHARMNE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of 8 (2017: 9) Bk EM8E (2017F :9R)EE R
directors and the chief executives were as follows: THER MENT :

Salaries, Performance

allowances related
Directors’ and benefits incentive Share-based  Retirement Total
fees inkind  payments  payments benefits emoluments
e 2HR REEE ROAER
20k BNRE RBAR ES BHREH CH

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR AR¥ETn AR%Tn ARETR ARET:R
(Note ii) (Note ii)

(W&Fii) (B zEii)

For the year ended BZ201853A31R
31 March 2018 LEE

Executive directors: B7ES:
Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo") BtEEL ([RE1]) - 1,503 - - 58 1,561
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAELE - 1,223 - 933 - 2,156
Mr. Fan Fangyi BhREE - 690 - 1,368 46 2,104
Miss Mo Yunbi REEME - 605 - - 31 636
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus REREE - 993 - 4,92 15 5,300

Independent non-executive BUFBTES:

directors:

Mr. Liu Junmin FEREE 110 - - 311 - 41
Mr. Zhao Yanyun BEZEE - - - 311 - 311
Mr. Sin Ka Man RREEE 110 - - 311 - 41

220 5014 - 1,526 150 12,910

Financials

FRERERAE 143

2017 - 20185

8%




For the year ended
31 March 2017

Executive directors:
Dr. Mo
Mr. Zhang Hesheng
Mr. Fan Fangyi
Miss Mo Yunbi
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Non-executive director:
Mr. Jin Song (Note i)

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Liu Junmin
Mr. Zhao Yanyun
Mr. Sin Ka Man

HZ201753A318
LEE

HES:
Ll
RMERE
EhERE
222/

ARERE

FHOES:
ikt (W)

BUFHTES:
AERELE

BEERE
REGEE

Directors’
fees

ER 0k
RMB'000
ARBTT

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

He 2ZHR
ENFla
RMB'000
ARETT

5,006

Performance
related
incentive
payments
~RIEH
RETH
RMB'000
ARETT
(Note ii)

(B i)

Share-based
payments
ki BER
I3
RMB'000
ARETT
(Note ii)

(B i)

881
1,292

4,051

294
294
294

Retirement
benefits

RINER
RMB'000
ARBTT

20

Total
emoluments

At
RMB'000
AREFTE

1,806
2,284
2,039

632
5775

407
294
407



Notes:

(i) Mr. Jin Song has been re-designated from the managing
director and executive director to non-executive director
on 1 September 2015. He was then retired as a non-
executive director of the Company and did not offer
himself for re-election at the conclusion of the 2016
annual general meeting held on 9 September 2016. After
his retirement, Mr. Jin became the chief strategy officer
and the Award Shares granted to him were treated as
employee benefit. Details are set out in note 39.

(i) The performance related incentive payments and share-
based payments are determined by reference to the
individual performance of the directors and approved by
the remuneration committee.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’'s emoluments shown above
was for his services as director of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2017: four) are directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the above disclosures.
The emolument of the remaining one (2017: one)
individual is disclosed as follows:

Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind ¥4 28 R E W=

Discretionary bonuses BIFIEAL
Share-based payments VARR 9 A RE AT 5K
Retirement benefits BRIREF

Imputed interest on consideration payable  J&{ {8 218 2 fE 57 FI
Overdue interest on consideration payable 71 8 f& {< X (& 5% 18 Z 7
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFRE

=]
=]

/
/

No borrowing costs capitalised during both years arose on the
general borrowing pool.

i

[
(Y

AEB AN &S H M A T @A
(20175 UL ) BA R A E S - H Bl
SEREXHEE BT (201745
—)ATZMEHBENT

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

586
260
998

16

1,860

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

12,137

2,642

14,779

RAFEALBEFTERNZEERAIRE —
RIEEFEE-



2017

RMB'000
ARBFTT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: BB PRS-
— Current tax —RIEATR IR 31,924
— (Over)underprovision in prior years —BEFE (BEEB) BETR 500
Deferred taxation (note 32) EIEFRLTE (F5E32) (140)
32,284
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in HRASERZMEFEARREEEZ
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no EAAIERB G A - B I BAELR A M wEK
assessable profit derived in Hong Kong for both years. HBEBMNER IR LR
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BEFBECEMSEE ([REMETHE])
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax RABFEMERE 2 EHBMAR - MESE R
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except MIEB AR ZHEA25% - IRIKE AN T EH
certain PRC group entities are entitled to the preferential FAEbihE v bR 2 ABEER R THES
tax rate pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to BERBFZAEERE MEFEXFTESE
enterprises situated in the western regions of the PRC. The EER ERBERI5% °

applicable tax rate of those PRC group entities was 15% for
both years.



The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled FEBERREMEEARAREK 2 HFELE
to the profit before tax from continuing operations per XBREBANENEAREE 2 FEHFT
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other BRanh -

comprehensive income as follows:

2017

RMB'000

ARBEFIT

Profit before tax from continuing operations ¥ 48 4% & 3 74 B& %% 411 & 7 207,352
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% ZEANFTERH E25% (20174 :

(2017: 25%) 25% )EtE 2 BiE 51,838
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures BT A BEDEEBE 2 RIGTE (32,443)
Tax effect of share of results of associates IR A AR EE 2 RIGHE (4,815)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBTBA ZHBE &

purpose (278)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A~ Al 1% 5z HH 2 i 7% 52 28

purpose 14,363
Tax effect of profit which are under tax MIER R IE a2 M E

concessions (8,222)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARTHEATEBEEZE B E 11,341
(Over)underprovision in prior years BAEFE (BBEEE BETR 500

Income tax expense for the year RNEEMBHAX 32,284



On 28 June 2016, Beijing Zhongmin Yongheng Investment
Consultant Co., Ltd. (“Zhongmin Yongheng”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the Company (collectively
as the “Vendors”) and Yongheng Development Corporation
Limited and Yongheng Development Group (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd (collectively as the “Purchasers”), which were held by a
director of Shenzhen Le Cai (as defined below) who regard
as connected persons at the subsidiary level of the Company,
entered into equity transfer agreements, pursuant to which
the Vendors agreed to sell and the Purchasers agreed to
purchase the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Yongheng Le
Cai Technology Development Limited (“Shenzhen Le Cai”),
Shenzhen Yongheng Jin Cai Technology Development Limited
("Shenzhen Jin Cai”) and Shenzhen Cai Cai Le Electronic
Entertainment Technology Development Limited (“Cai Cai Le"),
then wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (collectively
as "Lottery Companies”) for the total consideration of
RMB73,000,000, which was satisfied by the Purchasers as to
(i) RMB20,000,000 in cash and in instalment to the Vendors
and (ii) RMB53,000,000 settled through assumption of all
the shareholder’s loans and other debts owing by Zhongmin
Yongheng to Shenzhen Le Cai (“Debt”). The disposal of the
Lottery Companies was effected in order to minimise the
Company’s exposure on the short term difficulties to the PRC
lottery market which resulted from the current regulatory
development of the PRC lottery industry. Upon the disposal
of Lottery Companies completed on 30 June 2016, the Group
discontinued its lottery agency business. The profit for the
period from 1 April 2016 to 30 June 2016 (date of disposal)
from the Discontinued Operation is presented below.

720165679280 It RHRKEXREZN
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Period from

1 April 2016 to
30 June 2016
(date of disposal)
H20165F4A1H

£2016F6H30H
(HEBH) ILHMAE
RMB'000
ARBFTT
Loss for the period from the discontinued operation B #% I 45 & 75 2 A B &8 (741)
Gain on disposal of Lottery Companies HEFEARZ W= 54,174
53,433
The results of the discontinued operation for the period from 52016%4)?1 H §2016¢§ﬂ 30H I HifE
1 April 2016 to 30 June 2016, which have been included ERIEREEB2XE (Bt ARG BaRR
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other Hip2mBAREAR) T
comprehensive income, were as follows:
Period from

1 April 2016 to
30 June 2016
(date of disposal)
H2016F4H1H

Z£20165F6H30H

(HEBH) HHM

RMB’000

AREF T

Revenue A 1,648
Cost of sales and services $HE KRG A AR (1,427)
Gross profit EF 221
Other income E g A 20
Finance costs B 75 A AN (204)
Administrative expenses THHAX (778)
Loss before tax B T A BT 1B (741)

Income tax expense FrS B =

Loss for the period from discontinued operation BRI EEL 2 ANEEE (741)



Loss for the period from the discontinued operation including
the following:

ERIITEEEB 2 ARHBERETIIE
I8 :

Period from 1
April 2016 to 30
June 2016 (date of

disposal)
B20165F4A1H
220166 A30H
(& B E) 1EEARE
RMB'000
AREF T

Staff costs B TR
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EMEREYATE 424
Retirement benefits scheme contributions ROKAE R FT B4 5K 24
448
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y- WEREETE 77
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BiEENER 57

No charge or credit arose on gain on discontinuance of the
operation.

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operation are
as follows:

Operating activities BEEE)
Financing activities BEEE

Net cash inflow BERAFHE

ERIEREEB 2 RA T BELRMIHIE
%0

ERIIREXBEENRSREFRMNT :

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

(394)
410

16



RMB’000

ARET T
Consideration received: BRARE:
Cash received B YR & 17,000
Deferred cash consideration REFRSRE 3,000
Assignment of Debt to Purchasers mE 5 EEER 53,000
Total consideration BRE 73,000
Gain on disposal of the disposed group: HEHESE 2 W& :
Consideration received and receivable B U K e AR (B 73,000
Net assets disposed of HEFEE (18,826)
Gain on disposal & W a 54,174

Details of the net assets of the disposal group disposed as at 30
June 2016 (date of disposal) are as follows:

B2 R2016F6H30B (L EBH) HE/MH
EEEEEFEMNFBOT:

30 June 2016

201656 A30H
RMB’000
ARMET T
Property, plant and equipment W WEMEE 299
Prepaid lease payments AN 4,538
Long-term deposit RHZ S 1,500
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRERIRE 176
Trade and other receivables and prepayments B 5 & Hh FE Y SR IE A R TE A RRIB 790
Amount due from Zhongmin Yongheng FE W Rk B 5RIR 53,000
Trade and other payables B 5 R H M ER IR (6,339)
Amount due to a former director B — R AT E B RHIA (31,528)
Other borrowings HMEE (3,610)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 18,826
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRESRANTFHE
Cash consideration ReRE 17,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZHReRRSEEER (176)

16,824



No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended
31 March 2018 (2017: nil), nor has any dividend has been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

Earnings EF

Profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company

Less: Profit for the year from the

discontinued operation

W BE AR RS
2 A R

FERBEREERBZER
EXREERN 2B

Earnings for the purposes of basic and
diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations

g 4|
AAESRELREF

Z EBBEAE
BEEEEBR T E:
RE RO, (& RHE39)

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Award Shares (as defined in note 39)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares &t & % #5% & 5
for the purpose of diluted earnings per 2 NN m AR B
share calculation

REE201843 A31 H IEFE NI & X {3k
T AIRE (20174 - &) - BRE R
RIVER R T ERRRE -

ARRFEEABIEFBELLEEHTERER
NEER N TRBIA T BURRTE -

2017
RMB’000
AR TIT

RRBHEA NEAEARFE i 7

205,895

53,433

152,462

2017

6,944,954,136

314,391

6,945,268,527



For the year ended 31 March 2017, the calculation of the basic
and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the
Company was based on the following data:

Earnings B

HZE2017F3R31BILFEE  KAR#EA A
JEMH SRR E AR RSB R F TR T A T U5
SIrEL ¢

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

Profit for the year attributable to owners of FFESREARREERF 2 A QA

the Company for the purposes of basic
and diluted earnings per share

The denominators used are the same as these detailed above
for basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations.

* As the discontinued operation was disposed on 30 June 2016
with details in note 13, there is no earnings from discontinued
operation during the year ended 31 March 2018.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, basic and diluted earnings
per share from discontinued operation was RMBO0.76 cents,
based on the profit for the year from discontinued operation of
RMB53,433,000 and the denominators detailed above for both
basic and diluted earnings per share.

R DN AN YR

205,895

FERZABEEXHL S HEGERE
KRBTy BREARBEENZH
B4R -

o HARERIEELEKEN2016F6H30F
HE (FIBHRME13) RE £201843
A31BILFETERFRAECRIELEE
7}’%0

HE2017F3A31HILFE BRIEEEE
B2 ERERREERF AERARKE0.76
o IIRBE R IEREEB 2 ANFEERERA
R¥#53,433,00070 A B _ESGFEAl IR E AR
HERN 2 D RETE -



COST

At 1 April 2016

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)
Additions

Transfer

Disposals/written off

At 31 March 2017

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)
Additions

Transfer

Disposals/written off

At 31 March 2018

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2016

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/ written off
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)

At 31 March 2017

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/ written off
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

At 31 March 2018

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2018

At 31 March 2017

A

R2016%F4F1H
WE-BHBAR (H33s)
HEWBAT (Hi13)
hE

i

HE/His

R2017E3A318
HERBAR (H37)
hE

£

HE /3

R2018%E3A31H

MERRE
R2016%451H
AEERE
HERHE /M
HENBAR (H13)

R2017%3A318
AEEHEE
HERHE /M
HEWBAT (H337)

R2018%F3A318

EHE
R2018%E3A31H

®2017%3A318

Leasehold

Buildings improvements
ik

B  NXE8
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTL  ARETR
131,651 3,869
8,289 -
28,698 -
2,231) -
166,401 3,869
(70 -
387 M
10,601 -
(365) -
176,954 3,980
18,986 3,071
4,863 403
(139) -
23,710 3474
5,596 297
81) =

B3) =
2922 3771
147,732 209
142,691 395

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment
G £8
RBLERE
RMB'000
ARETTL

14,696
63
2,017)
3,306

(522)

15,526
(205)
2,01

(1,110)

16,282

7,988
2,003

(456)
(1,866)

7,669
2,241
(542)
(69)

9,299

6,983

7,857

Plant,
machinery
and pipeline
BE #%
KEE
RMB'000
ARETT

503,833
10,066

9,639
31,098
(580)

554,056
(1,168)
19,814
60,150
(1,147)

631,705
155,978

19,557
(160)

175,375
21,244
(633)
(71)

195,915

435,790

378,681

Transportation
vehicles

L LEL]
RMB000
ARETT

67,791
148
(3.276)
1,665

(1,91%)

64,412
(551)
15,379

(14,203)

65,037

33873
7,228
(1,302)
(3,128)

36,671
6,633
(12,083)
(214)

31,007

34,030

21,141

Construction
in progress

ERIE
RMB000
ARETT

40,630
1,819

79,966
(59,796)

62,619

(99)
78,011
(70,751)

69,780

69,780

62,619

Total

4t
RMB'000
NEST7

762,470
12,09
(5.293)

102,865

(5,25;)

866,883
(2,093)
115,773

(16,825)

963,738

219,89%
34,054
(2,057)
(4,994)

246,899
36,011
(13,339)
(357)

269,214

694,524

619,984



The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or the
remaining terms of leases
Over the shorter of 5 years or the
remaining terms of the leases
Furniture, fixtures and 20%
office equipment
Plant, machinery and
pipeline
Transportation vehicles

Leasehold improvements

3.3% - 20%
12.5% - 20%

The buildings are situated in the PRC, and are for own use
under medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged certain property, plant and
equipment with carrying value of RMB146,014,000 (2017:
RMB94,795,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 44.

Bz - BERREERR (EEIRERIN)
TIABE SRR T O FRFTE

1EF A0F sk TR T E F 1
(AR E AE)

TAEMERE 54 ok ol gr & F 5
(AR E AE)

R EE R 20%

PN E R

BB #eEENEE  33%-20%

188 i) B 8 12.5% — 20%

ANEEDEIFREEAR146,014,0007T
(20174 : AR #94,795,00070) 2 & T4
¥ WEREEAMEAE TASEE S TIRTT
BEZER (FEERHEL4) o

RMB’000
ARBFTT
FAIR VALUE NRE
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 1201664818 2017438318 &
20174 H18 13,200
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss REEER AR EE (1,900)
At 31 March 2018 M2018F3H31H 11,300

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC, and
are held under medium-term leases.

ERBREMRMNSE - RREH PR
5o



The investment properties are under Level 3 fair value
measurements. At the end of each reporting period, the senior
management works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between senior management and
the directors of the Company at least twice a year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31
March 2018 and 2017 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Asset Appraisal
Limited (“Asset Appraisal”). Asset Appraisal is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

The fair values of Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2018 and 2017 were determined based on direct comparison
method and making references to comparable market
observable transactions of similar properties in the nearby
locations as available in the relevant market. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

RENERE =R A EFE -NERE
R SREEERBYEERFEXMAEM
BUAE NWEY METFE & ENEERM R
BWARE SREEEEARREFTEFE
PRRTwmEBEERFRER-

R EZ AR ER  ZEVWENRAKL
RERGAHIBERS-

R2018%F K2017F3A31H  AEEKEY
EZAREDNREGRHEEENERMAE
AR (THHENE]) EHERRET S
HESH dHETELEBISMED
2 VTABBEERRNOHEE B
2B EETHE LR

MR2018F K2017F3A31H  AEE 2K E
MEZAABEREEZLEEZEEY AS
ERBHIS AR 2RI 2 2 D
EZAEBMGABRRSEE - EFHME
2 S E R I Lo

AREBA MK EMEE T A H8 ARE
SWAREERRER G Z M EEDE A
MARERAFE XD BAREMEATK-



Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2018 and 2017,
are as follows:

Fair value
Commercial properties in the PRC hierarchy Valuation techniques
RABZEFENF MREER HESE
2017
RMB13,200,000 Level 3 Direct comparison method
ARE =4 based on market
13,200,0007C observable transactions

of similar properties

ERLRARBRENEN
MEABEER S

The key inputs is:
TRHAZE:

Price per square meter

F¥HAER

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

REEEM 20184 2017563 A31 A 28 E& Y
EEBLARBEEBRZEREHNNT

Relationship
Significant of unobservable
unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

FABRBAYE

EATIERRARE BAREZBR

Price per square metre, The higher the price per
based on gross floor area square metre, the higher
using market comparables  the fair value
and taking into account
of location and level
adjustment in individual
floor of the property

FYHEREREETS L SYIRERES AREY
RM@REEE YA B
BERZDERREE LS
2

1E

RMB4,400 to RMB9,000
(2017: RMB4,100 to
RMB15,000)

ARE4,400c %
AR#9,0007T (20174 :
AREA100TEARKE
15,0007T)

FABEBARBLE=HH-



2017

RMB’000
ARMET T
The Group's prepaid lease payments REBEZEMNHESBE:
comprise:
Leasehold lands in the PRC under medium A B R d B &
term leases BEZHEELTH 60,800
Analysed for reporting purposes as: LERE DT
Current portion BN EREE 5> 1,494
Non-current portion FEBNHA &R 3 59,306
60,800
The leasehold lands are released to profit or loss on a straight- METHAESFEERERAAEFHTA
line basis over the term of leases. = En
At 31 March 2018, the Group's prepaid lease payments R2018F3A31B AEBEZENEE L
amounting to RMB5,293,000 (2017: RMB3,346,000) were A AR ®5,293,000T (2017F : AR
pledged to secure the Group's certain bank borrowings, as 3,346,0007T) B FIRIFIEAR FTASEE T

disclosed in note 44. IRITEE 2 ER (HERHIFE44) -



COST

At 1 April 2016

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)

At 31 March 2017
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

At 31 March 2018

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSS

At 1 April 2016

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)

At 31 March 2017
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill

At 31 March 2018

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2018

At 31 March 2017

BN

HR2016F471H

U B — R B A | (BMIEE38)
HEMH B AR (MEE13)

7201793 A31H
£ E KB AR (FiFE37)

20183 H31H
REBEEE
R2016F481H
TR ZREEIE
HEKBE AR (H3E13)

M20179F3A31H
MEAERRZBESRE

20183 H31H

AR A
M2018F3H31H

M2017F3H31H

RMB’000
AR®ETT

46,636
11,620
(32,585)

25,671
(2,119)

23,552

32,585
11,620
(32,585)

11,620
4,868

16,488

7,064

14,051

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and
in the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying value of
the goodwill set out above has been allocated to the respective
CGUs which operating in the sales and distribution of cylinder
gas segment.

AEBFF RN HRNE 2 MRFERHR
BRE XMHERRBREEAEERE:
AIE AT AEIT A -

AETRERNR  EAmEZREESE SR
EREHEERDHERMRRNEREESL

oo

o

fog



As at 31 March 2017, there was goodwill of RMB14,051,000
allocated to the CGUs of sales and distribution of cylinder gas
operation. During the year ended 31 March 2018, goodwill
amounting to RMB2,119,000 was derecognised after the
disposal of a subsidiary with details in note 37. In view of the
operating loss in certain subsidiaries operating in cylinder gas
segment during the year ended 31 March 2018, management
reviews each CGU's recoverable amount for comparison with
the carrying amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate
carrying amounts of the CGUs comprise goodwill of
RMB11,932,000 (2017: RMB14,051,000) and property, plant
and equipment of RMB56,450,000 (2017: RMB40,594,000).
The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined
based on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the
following assumptions for 2018 and 2017:

Period of cash flow projections

Growth rate within 5-year period in the
financial budgets approved by the
management

Growth rate beyond 5-year period
extrapolated in the financial budgets
approved by the management

Discount rate

5 years (2017: 5 years)
2% (2017: 2%)

0% (2017: 0%)

14.21% (2017: 14.21%)

The growth rate of 2% is based on the relevant industry
growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development. At 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of
certain CGUs exceeds its respective recoverable amount and
accordingly impairment loss of RMB4,868,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2018.

M2017F3A318 ' 52 AR #14,051,000
TENEEHERDHERMRZASES
B -EE2018F3831HIEFE BAEA
R¥2,119,000tE R HE — BB A A%
BB R (B A M E37) - B8 =2018
FIABUEFELERRERREBNET
MBARzEEBEME EEERMSR
CEABMAINESE  WEESRSEELS
MEEEETHR - BeEEEM IR
RHEEREHEAR11,932,0005T (2017
F: AR%14,051,000T) R WE BER
&1 AR ¥56,450,0007T (20174F : AR
40,594,0007T) - BIH S EAEM 2 A IKE
CHERESHeELEEN 2 FREENE
EF  R2018F K201 7FFE B 2 BREZWT ¢

Hen g
EEBEHRVBRE

54 (20174 : 5%)
2% (20175 :2%)

AFPERzERE

PEIEEENBRASFH 0% (20175 :0% )
BISEEMEE 21

BhIR & 14.21% (20179 : 14.21% )

BER2% HARBITEERENAEER
ToRaBAETE s FHRBEEER -FH
BEFESAZZ " BIEBRIABEE
MR HENEEECELEEMIBERRR
EEEHMBEER 2HEETE - 11201843
A31B ETReELEMNZRMEBRHE
ZFEZARESE AR EZE2018F38
318 L FERRREEEAKK4,868,000
=



During the year ended 31 March 2017, there was goodwill
allocated to the provision of piped gas operation. In view of
the operating loss and annual impairment review, management
has assessed the recoverable amount of this CGU which has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation was determined based on the financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a 5-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 13.42%. The cash flows
for the financial budgets were using a steady growth rate of
2% for a 5-year period. The cash flows beyond this 5-year
period are extrapolated using a zero percent growth rate. At
31 March 2017, the carrying amounts of the CGU exceeded
its recoverable amount and accordingly impairment loss of
RMB11,620,000 was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2017.

BE2017F3A31ALFE  EEESKE
HEEERRER REEBEEFERE
ZEMs BEEECTEREERAEEFE
BT2ARSESEMN 2 RO S5 &aT
HREBEASEEREENEZHEER ORE
SHEHAM) MR AT IR R13.42%E T - BT K
EEZReRERASFHRHEZEEEREE
2% BESFHECHERERATERE
HH - R2017F3A8318 ZBEEL BN
ZEAESEARENKESE AEE
2017F3A3 1B LS EMRABEBBARE
11,620,0007T °



Cost

At 1 April 2016

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38)
Additions

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)

At 31 March 2017 and
31 March 2018

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment loss

At 1 April 2016

Charge for the year

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 13)

At 31 March 2017
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2018

Carrying values
At 31 March 2018

At 31 March 2017

LA
201654815

W -RHBAR (H:38)

RE
HERBAF (Hi13)

R017E3A3ER
2018%3A318

S ERRAERR

R2016%4R 18
REEMR
HEWBAT (H3H13)

R2017%3A318
REEMR

R2018%E3A31H

Eaf
R2018%3A31H

R2017%3R318

Construction
permission

BE#X
RMB000
ARBTT

187314

187,314

187,314

187,314

187,314

Water
drawing
permit

BkFuE
RMB'000
ARETT

162,633

162,633

162,633

162,633

162,633

Exclusive
rights
of purchase

BRRBERN
RMB000
ARETT

10,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

Exclusive
rights of
operation

of

piped gas
BEE
by o]
RMB'000
ARETT

21,500
7533
2,028

37,061

10,236
1,229

11,465

25,59

26,825

Exclusive
rights of
operation

of

lottery sales
BR¥Z
HELEEN
RIB'000
ARETT

639,226

(639,226)

639,226

(639,226)

Total
&

RMB000
ARBTT

1,026,673
7533
2,028

(639,226)

397,008

1,008,192
1,217
(639,226)

370,183
1,229

311,412

25,59

26,825



The exclusive rights of purchase was acquired separately, while
the construction permission, water drawing permit, exclusive
rights of operation of piped gas, and exclusive rights of
operation of lottery sales were acquired from third parties in
business combinations. The above intangible assets have finite
useful live. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the following periods:

Construction permission 20 years
Water drawing permit 9 years
Exclusive rights of purchase 20 to 25 years

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas 30 years
Exclusive rights of operation of lottery sales 20 years

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas represent the rights
to operate in gas pipeline infrastructure and provision of
piped gas granted by local government in various cities in the
PRC. The directors of the Company conducted an impairment
review on the CGUs for purposes of impairment testing. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based on
value in use calculation. That calculation was determined based
on the financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a 5-year (2017: 5-year) period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 13.42% (2017: 13.42%). The cash flows for
the financial budgets were using a steady growth rate of 2%
(2017: 2%) for a 5-year period. The cash flows beyond this
5-year period are extrapolated using a zero percent (2017: zero
percent) growth rate. At the end of the reporting period, the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceed its carrying amount
and no impairment loss is considered necessary.

The Group has pledged certain exclusive rights of operation
of piped gas with carrying value of RMB1,939,000 (2017:
RMB1,990,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 44.

BREEENZEBWE - mEZEH B
IKFFA R BREEMRRELENALBR
FRHEREENDNEBEHTEFE=T
WiE- LB EERREANERFH &
FEVEEN T AEREREERN:

RS 204F

EX K 7 Al 78 94
BRI B AR 20E 254
BREERRCEER 304
BRY EHELEER 204

BREBRRCEENEEPRE TR
ZHEBFR FEERREBERIER
REEERRTZEF - BETRERNR &
AREECHBEELBUETRESS -
BeELEM Kb ¢ESENFERE
B EEE ZTERBEAEEEEE#
ZBTEE ORESTF (20174 54 ) BiFE)
K 5 B BE 28 R13.42% (20174F : 13.42% )
BT -MBEE ASRERASF AR
STERRE2% (20174 : 2% ) © HBHEI5F Hf
MZREREHRAT 2017F ) HEE R
WERR ReEABMN 2 RESEEBR
HIEEEBELRMERESEBEERBLE-

AEEDEFE®EARE1,939,0007T
(20174 : AR#1,990,0007) 2 & THER
EBRACEEFN N EARTAERSR T
RITEEZER (FEBERHEL4) ©



2017

RMB'000

ARBFTT

Cost of unlisted investments I ETRE AR 68,799
Interest retained in a disposed subsidiary —HEEHENB AR ZRE =

(note 37) (BE37) -

Bargain purchase gain = BB W as 22,330
Share of post-acquisition profits and other DN 1R T K B b 2 E A

comprehensive income, net of dividends (BB WE 2 R 2

received 16,437

107,566

Amount due to an associate JE 1~ — BB & A B RKIR (299)

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group had interests in the 20184 K2017F3 8310 » 78 & B 72 T 51| Bk &
following associates: NEEBRER

Place of  Proportion of nominal value

Form of establishment of registered capital held by
Name of company business structure and operation the Group Principal activities
BIREE EEERFECEMER
DNEER FBRBERA P ZEELH TEXH
2017
Southwest Panva Gas Co. Ltd. Limited liability company PRC 49.90%  sales and distribution of
("Southwest Panva”) BEREMTAA i cylinder gas
BIREMRAERAT HERD HEEMR
(lBIrml)
Yunnan Panva Gas Co.Ltd. Limited liability company PRC 20.12%  sales and distribution of
("Yunnan Panva”)* BREELQA H e cylinder gas
EHAIMRARAF HERD HERMR
(IE@AI)
Qiannan Zhou Civigas Co. Ltd. Limited liability company PRC - sales and distribution of
("Qiannan Zhou Civigas")**  BRETL A i cylinder gas
BEMNTRARERAF HE R 7 HRERR
(TBEMHER])
* Yunnan Panva being subsidiary of Southwest Panva with 56.94% * EEHIAEBIRAE 2 MEB AR HE
registered capital was held by Southwest Panva. 56.94% KM EARNEH B IAEEAS -
**  During the year, the Group disposed its 60% equity interest in > KREER AEEBLERBEEMNFREDN
Qiannan Zhou Civigas and Qiannan Zhou Civigas became an 0% A EZ LN EENTREKARER 2

associate of the Group (note 37). B N A) (fF3E37) ©



Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners of Southwest
Panva
Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to:
Owners of Southwest Panva
Non-controlling interests

Dividend received from the associate during
the year

mEEE
FERBEE
mEBaE
BERE
BIIRMEA ARG ER

IR aR

YA

TOI A 2 AR A
SEIET YN R
BIIAEES A
FEIE A aR

AREEE W E R RIS

BRASEEABERBZHBENBRE
I - NI B ERR RN Z & F
ERBEAVBREENRR A %FH
ERAEARDETAARNKRE 2T H
W&o

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

168,640
129,833
(79,640)

218,833

167,559
51,274

218,833

970,570

33,062
5,905

38,967

31,672



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB EREERNEGS B HRE
to the carrying amount of the interest in Southwest Panva REIAEER < REE R
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2017
RMB’000
ARBTT

Equity attributable to owners of Southwest B LA A A JE(h £ 25

Panva 167,559
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ZN& B BT PR 249.90% % A

in Southwest Panva at 49.90% (including R 2L (BREARERR

28.41% Group's indirect effective interest in ~ EF H)128.41% 2 [ B i

Yunnan Panva) ) 83,612

Carrying amount of the Group's interestin ~ ANEBRETIABMEE 2 EH 2

Southwest Panva Group IRAE 83,612

2017

RMB'000

AR®T T

Current assets mENE E 73,945

Non-current assets IERBEE 69,206

Current liabilities mEBE (24,094)

Net assets BEFE 119,057

Revenue WA 419,923
Profit and total comprehensive income AEEGMNREEBARE

for the year 13,722

Dividend received from the associate REE B UL HE & R R A% B

during the year 10,060



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Panva recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan Panva
Proportion of the Group’s direct ownership

interest in Yunnan Panva at 20.12%

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
Yunnan Panva

Information of associate that is not individually material:

The Group's share of profit and total
comprehensive income for the year

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in this associate

Cost of unlisted investments (Note)
Share of post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income

Note: The cost of investments includes goodwill amount of

RMB76,846,000 (2017: RMB76,846,000).

31.3.2017
RMB’000
AREF T
EmATIHES ABELERS 119,057
AREENREEHLZ20.12%H
a2 Ll 23,954
AEBREF AT Z
Z BRHEE 23,954
BERITBEAR ZEERNRZER:
31.3.2017
RMB’000
AREF T
KEB B AFEE G X
2HERA BT _
AEBRZBEARERZ
4B ER B -
2017
RMB’000
AREF T
JEETIREKA (HaE) 303,929
JEAL BB 18 3 4R
FE KA 613,627
917,556

Fat B E R E RN AR S BT R R
REFA IR REEZEK:

Wk ERABEE 2S5 ARET6,846,000
7T (20174 : AR #76,846,0007T) °



Details of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31 March 2018 and

2017 are as follows:

Name of company

DNEER

RRERAMAREBERLA

([BRZR])

(Fujian Province An Ran Gas
Investment Co., Ltd.)
(“Fujian An Ran")

ERRICPRBRERERD
(FEmmE(L])

(Yunnan Jiehua Civigas Clean

Energy Co., Ltd.)
("Yunnan Jiehua")

The relevant activities that significantly affect the return of
Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua require unanimous consent
from the other joint venture partners holding the remaining
49% equity interest in each of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan
In addition, the joint arrangements do not result
in either parties having rights to assets and obligations to
liabilities of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua, hence the Group

Jiehua.

Form of
business structure

ERRBER

Limited liability company
BBREAEAT

Limited liability company
BBREAEAT

EFHBOT:

Place of
establishment

Proportion of nominal value
of registered capital held

and operation by the Group
BIREE rEEER2EMR
M BXZHELA

2017

PRC 51%

i

PRC 51%

i

BEE - o

has accounted for Fujian An Ran and Yunnan lJiehua as joint

ventures.

REEM2018F K2017E3A31 B2 A& D

Principal activities

TEXH

Investment holding in
subsidiaries which are
engaged in distribution
and supply of gas and
installation of gas
distribution facilities

REEDHRERRRARE
SMREBRELMBAF
ETRERR

Engaged in the
distribution and supply
of dimethoxymethane
("DME") and wholesale of
cylinder gas
REHHEREEL B PR
([=FB )
Rt ERERR

HEELZARERMB 2B BRBEERNTE
ZHBARDEERERELANEEEL
BT A9% R AR s EMAEBLERN 2 —
HRABLZHY e EHT
— FHEELTARREmB L2 EEREE
FREEaEREET AAEEEHE
BEZARERMBIEREELEAR-



Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs. The joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method in the Group's consolidated financial

statements.

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners of
Fujian An Ran Group
Non-controlling interests

mEEE
FERBEE
mEBaE
FRBAB

BERE
BEZASEEE A

FEAh Z 2
Y e

BERASEEARELR U BENBE
I - NI B ERR RN Z &
ERBEEBYBHREEARE - 8 EDEK
REREAFARNEE 2 G A ERE -

31.3.2017
RMB’000
ARETT

826,089
2,132,904
(787,348)
(428,922)

1,742,723

1,603,159
139,564

1,742,723



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERMNE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

A AN Mg S L
22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES NREELEER »
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint ventures BRAEECLEZHBERBE (B)
(Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EELZ A RANE N F] (4578 [15 LA
Group”) (Continued) &) (&)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the il BEERGESEBETISE:
following:
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents BeMIRE&EBEIER 190,098 140,299
Property, plant and equipment M HEREE 2,112,676 1,865,225
Prepaid lease payments B HEE 100,359 98,161
Trade receivables B 5 el F0E 576,239 459,210
Current financial liabilities EgcmaeE(T8EES
(excluding trade and other payables) N E M fERFRIE) (263,954) (305,029)
Non-current financial liabilities JERNEIe A E (TaE
(excluding other payables) H b fE A FE) (473,135) (407,822)
b
E o
©
£

FREBRBRAT 171
2017 - 2018F R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 # Z2018%3HA31HILLEE

AN g S
22 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES D2 NEELERERS @
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint ventures BRAEECECHBEERME (8)
(Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EEZARAN BRG] (77 [1E5ELZARE
Group”) (Continued) &) (%)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
BE H=E
31.3.20181t 31.3.20171F
FE FE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Revenue A 1,776,057 1,295,292
Depreciation and amortisation e K 80,186 71,163
Interest income PSRN 1,453 873
Interest expense B FAX 30,356 31,928
Income tax expense Frisfif X 101,972 87,856
Profit and total comprehensive income THI AL 2 R FE i F
for the year attributable to: PEAT PN
Owners of Fujian An Ran Group BEZASEHEEA 285,912 232,427
Non-controlling interests FE4E I 2R 28,017 29,104
313,929 261,531
Group's share of results of the joint venture ANEBELEABEREES 145,815 118,538

172 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE MR FTMEE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

A AN Mg S L
22 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES D2 NREELERES @
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint ventures BRAEECLEZHBERBE (B)
(Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EEZARAN BRG] (77 [{5EZAKE
Group”) (Continued) &) (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB EREERNEGS B HRE
to the carrying amount of the interest in Fujian An Ran Group RERLZASEE R CREBECHER:

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

31.3.2018 31.3.2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Equity attributable to owners of Fujian An Ran {232 % R B A A B 2 2

Group 1,889,071 1,603,159
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest AEBERBELZRER Z51%

in Fujian An Ran Group at 51% A ERER LD 963,426 817,611
Goodwill [EES 76,846 76,846
Others EAh 10,740 10,740

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in =~ AEBRERLAEE 2w

Fujian An Ran Group ZERmE 1,051,012 905,197
Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Jiehua EFEERAENE I E] (4718 [ ZFEAFEEE
Group”) &)
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREF T eha
E o
Current assets MEEE 44,332 42,607 =
Non-current assets EREBEE 43,857 45,302
Current liabilities nEaE (41,741) (45,662)
Net assets BEFAE 46,448 42,247
Equity attributable to owners of TR EEHEEA
Yunnan Jiehua Group FEAG 2 = 29,191 24,234
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR 5 17,257 18,013
46,448 42,247

PRERBRAH
2017 - 2018F 3k 1=



The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the =

following:

Cash and cash equivalents
Property, plant and equipment
Trade receivables

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade
and other payables)

Revenue

Depreciation and amortisation
Interest income

Interest expense

Income tax expense

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year
Owners of Yunnan Jiehua Group
Non-controlling interests

Group's share of results of the joint venture

=
5

RehkReFEERAB

EN N

B 5 WA

e aE (TeEES
K E At B AN RIR)

YA

FrEREHE
B A
MBRX
PSR

AREE N K 2 ERA LR

EERLEEEEEA
FEFRR M 51

AEERGEAELFEFA

BERABERERTIIREA:

31.3.2017
RMB’000
ARBTTT

10,074
23,258

17,688

(39,639)

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

73,171
1,914
40
1,251

2,708

22,029
2,478

24,507

11,235



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Jiehua Group
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

LR BEEREE RN S M HE
REMMCEERD 2 REE I HER:

31.3.2017
RMB’000
ARETTT
Equity attributable to owners of T EBEEE ARG ZER
Yunnan Jiehua Group 24,234
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ ANEBERZm AL ER 251 %
in Yunnan lJiehua Group at 51% HEAEEERLLD 12,359
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in =~ NEBREmMMALEE 2 2
Yunnan Jiehua Group IRAE 12,359
2017
RMB’000
AR¥ETTT
Available-for-sale investments comprise: AHHERES
Listed securities EmEE
Securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value RBEBEWM &S EARE 14
Unlisted securities FEEHFEH
Equity securities (Note) RARES (M) 15,018
Total &t 15,032

Note: The unlisted investments represent investments in unlisted equity
interests in private entities incorporated in the PRC. They are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

B 3

#iﬁ&ﬁh#ﬂfjléiﬂ%}ﬁ?iz&/\a
B LMBRAED RE - ARSER
REGBFNOEEEN  UBARREER

%E’Aﬁfﬁ%ﬁéﬂ%f&ﬁ% B RIRE

R E BRI A BB E 2 -



2017

RMB’000
ARMET T

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant B & ¥ % - 55 K& & A
and equipment and prepaid lease payments rIEMEEE MRS 31,844
2017
RMB'000
AR¥ET T

Construction materials, spare parts and BEEDE - HH KB m
consumables 9,619
Gas appliances MR 2E A 1,298
Cylinder gas EEIRR 10,484
21,401
2017
RMB'000
AR¥ET T
Trade receivables =) 3¢ 45,473
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts o REREE AR (1,440)
44,033
Bills receivables B EWFIE 1,075
Other receivables and prepayments L 8 YR IR K TR FOR 66,948

Total trade, bills and other receivables and 25 ZENEMERFKIEA
prepayments I SRIB AR EE 112,056



The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods
normally ranging from 30 days to 90 days and extending to
180 days for major customers. The bills receivables are matured
within the range of 30 days to 180 days as at the end of the
reporting period. The Group does not hold any collateral over
the balances. The following is an aged analysis of the trade
receivables (net of impairment loss recognised) presented based
on the invoice date as at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates for
sales of piped gas and the billing dates for work performed for
construction contracts. The aged analysis of bills receivables at
the end of the reporting period is presented based on the date
of the Group's receipt of the bills.

0 to 90 days 0&90H

91 to 180 days 91HZ180H
Over 180 days 1808 LA E
Trade receivables 5 rWRIE
0 to 90 days 0Z90H

Bills receivables IR W R IR

Trade and bills receivables

The trade receivables with carrying amount of RMB51,433,000
(2017: RMB42,279,000) are neither past due nor impaired at
the end of the reporting period for which the Group believes
that the amounts are considered recoverable.

g5 MEBERWHR

AEBERTEESEP ZEEH—MN T30
HEOR FAFEEFERZEIS0H R
WEAR  ZREKRFIERN F30HE180
BrEES AEETERZSEHITEE
A IF G T ARREHAR (EEENHE
EEBRTWMAERBERETIARETT
MItEzRAEBBBEE)LZEZABHEN 2
ZHEKFIE CREBRZRERE) ZE
BN - ZEEWHERRER R ZRERD
WMHRBEASBEWREERE 2 HEHZ7 -

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

39,608
2,671
1,754

44,033

1,075

1,075

45,108

IRE B A AR ¥51,433,0007T (20174 A
R #42,279,0007T) 2 B 5 W HRIBER R E
HRMABEERE AEBRAZESE
B U [El o



The Group has policies for allowance of bad and doubtful
debts which are based on the evaluation of collectability and
age analysis of accounts and on the management’s judgment
including the past collection history of each customer. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group uses a system to assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits
by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on a
regular basis.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB4,396,000 (2017:
RMB1,754,000) which are past due as at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. The average age of these receivables is 372
days (2017: 210 days).

Trade receivables EBEZEWE
At beginning of the year F1
Impairment recognised on receivables

Disposal of subsidiaries HEN B A A
Amounts recovered during the year FABKEEFE
At end of the year FR

Other receivables HE i EW s HE

At beginning of the year F9
Impairment recognised on receivables

Disposal of subsidiaries & I B A A
Amounts recovered during the year FABEKE &R
At end of the year FR

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired trade receivables, which were either in severe financial
difficulties or overdue for a long period of time. The Group has
made full allowance on these receivables and considered that
they are generally not recoverable.

J& W R IR E TR RUE

JE Y SR IE B 7RO E

REEA RIFRBEER - UL TIREFFA A
I FRPZREDTREEERR B
BERP 2 BERMWE - R MERFE
Frl ARERA—ERXGHEEEREF Z
EERMERATHEERE -BEFPZEER
HeEHER-

AEECE SRR ARBEEGBERERT
E AR #4,396,0005T (20175 : ARE
1,754,0007C ) 2 FEUWRBR 30 2 5 R W
HHIRE @A S E W &R E R B E
HEE AEETERZSEHFTEEMN
B Gh- Z ERUNGRIE 2 FH IRk A372H
(20175 :210H) »

2017
RMB’000
ARBETIT

32,294
3,938
(37)
(1,000)

35,195

ERI2RIEZ B 5 YR IART AR R
ZRERREAMBRAX DAY —BE
By ] © 7N 55 [ 2 Bt % 5 B MORROR 1 H A B
o WRZEFRA SR -



As at 31 March 2018, included in other receivables, there are
deposits and advance payments to suppliers of RMB35,909,000
(2017: RMB13,822,000) in relation to the purchase of natural
gas and cylinder gas products, which will be delivered within
one year from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2018, included in other receivables, there is
advance payment to the non-controlling interest of a subsidiary
of RMB3,318,000 (2017: RMB141,000) for the purchase of
natural gas.

Out of the amount due from a joint venture, balance of
RMB 14,000,000 (2017: RMB21,300,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at the rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable on
demand.

Other than that, the amount due from a joint venture, and
amounts due to an associate and a joint venture are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

F2018F3A31H Kt E MK ITEBIEE B
ERBAARAARBEERRERZES R TH#
JiE g 2 FB 1~ kT8 A R #635,909,0007T (2017
F: AR®13,822,00070) REB B RS
HERE—FRZf -

201843 A31H - H M fE Y GRIE B 15—
B BB A B FE 5 Ax i 2 B A ER BB R A RUE f
Z BB A R#3,318,0007T (20174 -
AE#141,0007T) °

JEU—FElA B EFIAN AR 14,000,000
7T (20174 : AR #21,300,0007T ) H) 4% £
AEIEIR IR ERRA35% T B RBEREK

P8R o

BRIL 251 U — & B B XFIA N LB
—HBERARE—HAELE L KERE
HHR 2ERARBREE-

2017

Interest rate RMB’000

= AREFIT

Cash at bank and on hand 0.02% to 3.50% (2017: 0.02% to 392,287

3.50%) per annum
HF40.02%%3.50% (20174 :
H0.02%%3.50% )

RIRTTRFEARS

As at 31 March 2018, the bank balances and cash of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB400,313,000 (2017:
RMB381,692,000).

R2018F3 8318 REBUARKEFEZ
RITEHRRIRE A AR400,313,0007T
(20174 : AR #381,692,0007T) °



Included in bank balances and cash, the following amounts are
denominated in currencies other than RMB:

B ([E%])
S ([=mx])

Hong Kong dollars (“HKD")
United States dollars (“USD")

Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases and ongoing costs with the average credit
period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The following is an
aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

0 to 90 days 0£290H

91 to 180 days 91H £180H
Over 180 days 180H M E
Trade payables 2 5N IR
Advances received from customers for gas REMRRERSE

connection contracts
Piped gas customers deposits and other
deposits received Hihizs
Piped gas income received in advance
Accrued charges and other payables

Total trade and other payables

EREBRREFPEER

B E B RIA
FE&H & M K o FE 5 R IR

B 5 K E A e SRR AR R

RITEBERESBETIRARBUINE
BitE2®:

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

7,252
3,343

BOREMENRAREESRBLESE
KAz AN EE REER 2 FHEER
HI/R90H - T BNMEMRREZTZ A
2B HEMNFIBZ Rk D

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

26,886
3,473
5,683

36,042

HIUER 2 B TR

14,175
44,408

71,206
50,521

216,352



On 5 September 2014, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Dr. Mo, the chairman of the
Board, to acquire the entire interest in True Vanguard Holdings
Limited (“True Vanguard”) at the aggregate consideration
of RMB370,000,000. The consideration consists of exercise
of warrants and consideration payable. RMB184,499,000
was settled by offsetting the subscription proceeds upon the
exercise of warrants while the remaining amount of payable
to Dr. Mo will be settled on the sixth business day after the
issue of the profit certificate for the year ended 31 March
2017, showing the actual year 2017 True Vanguard and its
subsidiaries’ (“True Vanguard Group”) consolidated profit
or loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA") not less than RMB30,000,000 (“Profit Guarantee
Amount”). The recorded actual EBITDA of True Vanguard
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately
RMB31,767,000, and thus, the Profit Guarantee Amount as
set out in the sale and purchase agreement was fulfilled. The
effective interest rate to discount future cash payment is 7%
per annum. The fair value adjustment for imputed interest of
RMB26,628,000 was recognised as deemed contribution from a
shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2015. During the
year ended 31 March 2017, RMB12,137,000 imputed interest
was recognised as finance costs in profit or loss.

On 30 June 2017, the Company confirmed that the Profit
Guarantee Amount has been met. During the year ended
31 March 2018, RMB5,335,000 overdue interest on the
consideration payable to be paid by the Company to Dr. Mo
was recognised as finance costs in profit or loss.

MR2014F9A5H AR R HEEB L (EF
IR —MEBEHE NBREARE
370,000,000 C 42 i BERIERR AR AT ([ &R
#BI)zeHEz - RESSTERRESR
AR (BFRIE - AR ¥184,499,000 T
BRTERRESHREERBEMENRIEAEL
FALA MENEELZHEENREEE
E2017F3ANBILEFEERFEBEER 2F N
EEEREN HESEBRRERENE
NAEI([BEER]) 2 BEBR2017FERFIE
RiE- - EREHEAGRE B ([BFE T
B EREBHEASEGERE ) TERAR
#30,000,0007T (& FIER 5] ) - B2
EEEHE2017F3A31B L FEHB 2 BE
BRFE FRIE- - TERBEARABE ALY
AR#31,767,0007T - A It E & 3% AEH 7
R FERSREEEMN o BHIR R IR & 3K
CEBENERTI% - EBEMNEZAAESR
BEAR®26,628,0007TAE ZE201543 A31
HIEFERRBEERE —BRETE B
E2017F3A3MBLEFE EEAEARK
12,137,000 T E R IB 2 TR A B TS A AN o

MR2017F6 430 ' KRB FERE ZEE & F
RESHE-EHZE2018F3A31B IEFEF KA
AREAEFEEI SN ZEMNREREZS
HAF B A R #5,335,0007T 2 R IB 25 E R A
B FE RS o



On 29 December 2017, the Company and Dr. Mo entered
into the subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”)
whereby Dr. Mo agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
agreed to allot and issue an aggregate of 1,888,865,067
subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”) at the subscription
price of HKDO0.104 per Subscription Share to set off the
consideration payable on a dollar-to-dollar basis. Dr. Mo
also agreed to waive all the interests incurred and to be
incurred from the consideration payable. The Subscription
Agreement was approved by the independent shareholders
of the Company at the special general meeting held on 9
March 2018. The completion took place on 16 March 2018.
Upon completion, 1,888,865,067 Subscription Shares have
been issued and allotted as fully paid to Dr. Mo. Pursuant
to the Subscription Agreement, the aggregate subscription
price of approximately HKD196,442,000 (equivalent to
RMB155,768,000, based on the exchange rate of RMB1 to
HKD1.261115 pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement)
payable by Dr. Mo to the Company was set off with the
consideration payable, and all overdue interest incurred from
the consideration payable of RMB5,335,000 was waived by Dr.
Mo. Details of the Subscription Agreement are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 2 February 2018.

Secured bank borrowings ABHEMRITEE
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRFRITEE
Carrying amount repayable: FE(ERARTE S :
Within one year or on demand —FARHNE R
Between one and two years —FEMF

All secured and unsecured bank borrowings are floating rate
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of People’s
Bank of China plus 0.44% to 3.45% (2017: 0.44% to 3.05%)
per annum.

Certain assets of the Group are pledged for the secured bank
borrowings, details of which are set out in note 44.

MR2017F 128298 - AR Al B EH L+ 357
VREmE ([RBEHE]) Bt EF L
AERBEAQNARERZEREITAH
1 ,888,865,067 R M ([RERMD])

REERERABERMBE0.1047T  LUIR
ﬁgﬁg/ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂéﬁwﬁﬁklﬁ EBLTIRAE
EREEMNBReRERBAEERBES
ZEENEBE -REHZEDEARRIB LK
HMA2018F3A9A BT o BERE I K e
R TR EA2018FE3 168K T o A
A 1% 0 1,888,865,0678 4 B RBEBRMD T
zfiﬁﬁf”‘&@a%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ;i 1B IE R
ERLIEMNTFAA ,umﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬁ\%ﬁ%
1%AunwE(@FEE%H&E$AE
BT H B 261115t E HER AR
#155,768,0007T ) B B FE TR B F IR -
MEFTEREENRERBEMELEZH
BB H R B AR ¥5,335,0007C ° R 7
ZHBHNARARBHAE2018F2H2H 2
A o

2017
RMB’000
ARBETIT

91,500
13,000

104,500

62,000
42,500

104,500

Pﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ&ﬂﬁ}mﬁﬂfﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬂ7%5‘?@
EXEBE FEENTHFRARREITH
$73u0.44%i3.45% (2017%F :0.44% %=
3.05%) °

AEEZETEECHAEMRITBEE
R HF TN 44 -



The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

At 1 April 2016 20165418

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38) UgiE — M B A &) (F{:E38)

Credited to profit or loss (note 12) W i8zssF A (MIFE12)

At 31 March 2017 201753 H31H
Credited to profit or loss (note 12)  Ri8z55t A (Mf&E12)

At 31 March 2018 M2018F3H31H

Note: The deferred tax was recognised in prior years in respect of
the Group’s gain on disposal of certain property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments. According to the
respective EIT Law, the Group can defer the EIT on such gain
after considering deductible reconstruction cost, if any.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of RMB135,972,000 (2017:
RMB143,998,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These
unrecognised tax losses will expire in various dates up to 2022
(2017: 2021).

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to retained earnings of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
RMB1,134,075,000 (2017: RMB1,001,015,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

THARAEERBEFE ERALE
BB AR AR LS

Accelerated

tax

depreciation Others Total
hEBETE Hts Xl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT

(Note)

(Bt=E)
130 4,442 4,572
3,956 - 3,956
(140) - (140)
3,946 4,442 8,388
(140) = (140)
3,806 4,442 8,248
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Number of shares

RH®E

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HKD0.07 each &R EE/&#0.0775
Liak
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At the beginning of the year F14
Issue of Award Shares (note (i)  Z{7EEEI AR5
(F3EG))
Issue of Subscription Shares BIRERM
(note (ii)) (B &£ i)
At the end of the year RER

Presented in consolidated financial statements as:
At the end of the year

Notes:

@)

RER

On 30 September 2017, a total of 208,000,000 shares of the
Company were issued and allotted to the entitled grantees
pursuant to the terms of Award Shares as defined in note 39(b).

On 29 December 2017, the Company and Dr. Mo entered into
the Subscription Agreement whereby Dr. Mo agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company agreed to allot and issue an aggregate
of 1,888,865,067 Subscription Shares at the subscription price
of HKDO.104 per Subscription Share to set off, on a dollar-to-
dollar basis the consideration payable regarding the acquisition
of the entire interest in True Vanguard as described in note 30.
The Subscription Agreement was approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 9 March 2018. The Company issued and allotted the
Subscription Shares to Dr. Mo on 16 March 2018. Details of the
Subscription Agreement are set out in the Company’s circular
dated 2 February 2018.

2017

38,000,000,000

6,944,954,136

6,944,954,136

REEHMBERREINNRG:

GE2

2017
HKD'000
AT

2,660,000

486,147

486,147

2017
RMB’000
ARBFIT

453,328
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39(b)) Z R BHAT R E T & B AIR
A°

MR2017F 12298 A AR EEB T
YREWRE B BBETRAERBREA
AE R EALE KT A ££1,888,865,067
BRREBIG  RBEATRRERG B
0.10470 IR SRR IR S Uk B8 62
22 ERERS (M EE30RT A ) B e N R AB
RB- RBEHZEDEADRANBILRER
2018F3 AR BIT 2R FFRIAE L#t
A R2018F3F16H KA R A EH L
BaRBITRERMD -REHEZFE
HNALQF BEA2018F2H2H 28 K
ﬁqo



The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings as disclosed in note 31, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves as
disclosed in note 33 and the consolidated statement of changes
in equity respectively.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories
of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are set out as follows:

Financial assets TREE
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE
Loans and receivables (including cash and & 7k & J& I3k

cash equivalents) kIR EMEER)
Financial liabilities =R

g BN

At amortised cost

K’ilﬁfiﬁﬁﬁ LMEH'%$EIW%§

%’zﬁifi«”* A JT 5 B 1B L B 75 B

BRMARRFRERER ARE 2 E
i%i"* % BB F R ARR e

AEBZEARERIEAR (BERHE3T
BR2IRTEE) R RASEBEEEMN
RANEHE AELER (BEERITRA
MER DRIEBERW T3 RS R
K)o

EEERBAEEEBREABHIEARMNK
AREBRRTEANRE - RIFEHEE B
BER AKE®EBIRMNEE - BITHIIA

RETHEAGREERRAEH S A FE
BEREARE-

UTEEREREEREBRABNR
SHRZREERINAT

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

15,032

AR (BRERE

491,937

506,969

337,454



The Group's major financial instruments include available-
for-sale investments, trade, bills and other receivables,
amount due from and to a joint venture, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to an
associate, bank borrowings and consideration payable.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (note 28) and bank
borrowings (note 31). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
bank deposits and bank borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group's fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate amount
due from a joint venture (see note 27 for details). The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

AEEZFESRIABEAHEE
BRE B ZBEREMEEFRE
WEEN—BEERERIEA RITHE
BRERE B REMENRIA B
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B RRITER (HI5E28) A RIRTTHE
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RIARRITEEZBFRG B
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The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near
future and therefore the financial impact to the Group
is not significant. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amounts outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If interest
rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2018 would decrease/increase by RMB484,000 (2017:
RMB392,000).

Currency risk refers to the risk associated with movements
in foreign currency rates which will affect the Group's
financial results and its cash flow. As at 31 March
2018 and 2017, certain bank balances of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities. The Group does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging the potential foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated bank balances at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

AT 2 URRE o i T5 IR 15 )F 8h A1 R 4R
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Assets
HKD g
usD xTT

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to HKD and USD currency
risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2017: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2017: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A negative number below indicates decrease in post-
tax profit for the year where the functional currency
strengthens 5% (2017: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of functional
currency against the relevant foreign currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss
for the year and the balances below would be positive.

HKD Nidicd
UsD ETT

2017
RMB'000
NS
7,252
3,343
HEEDH
AEEEEAHBERETL KB
o

TRFAFNAEEREARE K HEINE
FHEREZES5% (20174 : 5% ) Z G
JE°5% (20174 : 5% ) BN EE £ B
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BB E5% (20175 :5% ) @ S & ¥ F
EEEENSRBERER ZFZEMmMUT
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2017
RMB’000
ARBETT

(272)
(125)



The Group's trading terms with its industrial customers
in piped gas are mainly on credit, while commercial
customers are normally required to pay in advance.
The normal credit period is generally for a period of
30 days to 90 days and extending up to 180 days
for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade, bills and other
receivables are disclosed in note 26.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC or banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amount due from a joint venture of RMB16,338,000
(2017: RMB24,556,000). During the year ended 31 March
2018, the Group received interest income of RMB969,000
(2017: RMB1,482,000) and recognised as other income
in profit or loss. In view of the timely interest repayment
from the non-controlling interest of a subsidiary, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the credit risk
in respect to the loan receivable is not significant. Having
considered the financial status of the joint venture, the
directors of the Company considered the credit risk in
relation to the amount due from a joint venture is not
significant.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is in the PRC, which accounted for 100% (2017:
100%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at 31
March 2018.
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In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains the level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flow. The management manages
liquidity risk by monitoring adequate reserves, banking
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 March 2018 R2018%3A31H
Trade and other payables BHREMERNIE
Amount due to a joint venture [ —FEELEE
Bank borrowings RIBE

Financing quarantee contracts issued BEH ZBEERAD
~ Maximum amount guarantee -RRERER
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Weighted

average
effective
interest rate
MmEFH
ERFI=
%
At 31 March 2017 #2017%3A31R
Trade and other payables BHREMERNTA -
Amount to an associate JEfT— S A AR -
Amount due to a joint venture EN—HAELEHE -
Bank borrowings ROEE 5.54
Consideration payable FERRETE 7.00

Financing quarantee contracts issued 2%t 7 BEERAH
— Maximum amount guarantee -RREREE -

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Within

one year

or

on demand
—ER
RMB'000
ARETL

72,784
299
4,103
64,086
155,768

100,000

397,040

Total
Within the  undiscounted Carrying
second year cash flow amount
REH
FZEN FRenE8E REME
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT  ARETT  ARETT
- 72,784 72,784
- 299 299
- 4,103 4,103
46,899 110,985 104,500
- 155,768 155,768
- 100,000 -
46,899 443,939 337,454
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The fair value of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded in active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial instruments are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable.

R R AR R EBIRE T
BEBCERMEEZARE  TIDR
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RZAARBEFERAZERES RS

— BRI EE=RH

Valuation
Fair value techniques
Financial instruments Fair value hierarchy  and key inputs
REFER
$WMIA DRE RAERE EEWABIE
2017
RMB'000
ARET T
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 14 Level 1 Quoted bid price in
classified as available-for-sale investments F—H an active market

in the consolidated statement of financial

position
REEMBIRABRRSBER/AIHEERE

ZEE L MRAZ S ARE

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined by in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair value.
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The table below details changes in the Group's assets and
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Assets and liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2017 R201754R1R

Financing cash flows BERSNE

Dividend declared of non-controlling interests WA rl3E2 KR
of subsidiaries BRZRE

Settlement through the allotment of BAREIRRNER
subscription shares (detail in note 30) (FERNE0)

Waiver of overdue interest Akl

Consideration for disposal of partial interestin  HE—H T &% ET4E L
a subsidiary without losing control WEARHIERRE

Finance costs recognised ERARERA

At 31 March 2018 12018538317

Note:

(i) The amount includes amount due to an associate.

Consideration
receivable for
disposal of
partial

interest in a
subsidiary
without

losing control
(included in
other
receivables)
HETRELE
HEZHEAR
BoEm RN
RfE (G ALM
el 5E)
RMB'000
AREFTL

2,000

(3,449)

(1,449)

Consideration
payable

E
RERE
RMB'000

ARBTT

<

155,768

(155,768)
(5,335

5335
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RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFTT AREFT AREFT ARBFT

- 104,500 299 260,567

(29,610) 17,187 (299) (10,722)

29,610 - - 29,610

- - - (155,768)

- - - (5,335)

- - - (3,449)

- 1313 - 12,648

- 129,000 - 127,551
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On 10 November 2017, Guizhou Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou
Civigas”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
into equity transfer agreements with independent third parties,
pursuant to which Guizhou Civigas disposed of 60% equity
interest of Qiannan Zhou Civigas, the then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, at an aggregate consideration of
RMB3,000,000. Qiannan Zhou Civigas is principally engaged
in the sales and distribution of cylinder gas. The completion
took place on 10 November 2017, upon which the assets and
liabilities in relation to Qiannan Zhou Civigas were dercognised.
Qiannan Zhou Civigas became 40% owned associate of the
Group after completion. Loss on disposal of Qiannan Zhou
Civigas amounted to RMB13,000 was recognised in the profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 3 January 2018, Hunan Civigas entered into two equity
transfer agreements with an independent third party, pursuant
to which Hunan Civigas disposed of its entire 60% equity
interest in Shangrao City Civigas Xinlong Energy Co., Ltd.
(“Shangrao Civigas”) and lJiangxi Civigas Xinlong Energy
Co., Ltd. ("Jiangxi Civigas”) respectively, at an aggregate
consideration of RMB1,950,000. Shangrao Civigas and Jiangxi
Civigas are principally engaged in the sales and distribution of
cylinder gas. The completion took place on 3 January 2018,
upon which the assets and liabilities in relation to Shangrao
Civigas and Jiangxi Civigas were dercognised. Loss on disposal
amounted to RMB335,000 was recognised in the profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 20 March 2018, Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Civigas”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
an equity transfer agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which Beijing Civigas disposed of its
entire 51% equity interest held in Zhongmou Xiancheng LPG
Co., Ltd. (“Zhongmou Xiancheng”), at a consideration of
RMB3,734,000. Zhongmou Xiancheng is principally engaged in
the sales and distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took
place on 20 March 2018, upon which assets and liabilities in
relation to Zhongmou Xiancheng were derecognised. Loss on
disposal of Zhongmou Xiancheng amounted to RMB2,996,000
was recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2018.
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The aggregate net assets of Qiannan Zhou Civigas, Shangrao BEMNPE FERR IARRE R 2
Civigas, Jiangxi Civigas and Zhongmou Xiancheng at the date ERLERBM T BEEFERNT
of disposal were as follow:

RMB’000
AR®T T
Net assets disposed of: HEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment W WEMEE 1,736
Goodwill Bk 2,119
Inventories FE 891
Trade receivables B 5 rW A 193
Other receivables E {th g U 3108 7,554
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRR S 7,720
Trade and other payables B 5 K E A e~ 508 (2,015)
Net assets BEFE 18,198
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 (4,161)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 14,037
Cash consideration ReRE 8,684
Fair value of retained interests RBERZAAE 2,009
10,693
Loss on disposal HEEE 3,344
Net cash outflow on disposal: HEELEZESRLFRE:
Cash consideration received (Note) BUIR & R(E () 5,282
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTEHRNIRS (7,720)
(2,438)
Note: Cash consideration of RMB3,402,000 was not received as at MizE: BLE2018F3A31H M ARKE AR
31 March 2018. Such amount is subsequently received in April 3,402,000tz HEREB-Z2BHEER

2018. 201854 A Y8l »



Guizhou Province Zhenfeng County Ping’an Gas Co., Ltd
(“Zhenfeng Ping'an”)

On 17 March 2016, Sichuan Civigas Investment Co., Ltd
(“Sichuan Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered an equity transfer agreement with the
transferors of which one of the transferors is a connected
person at the subsidiary level of the Company, pursuant to
which, Sichuan Investment acquired the entire equity interest of
Zhenfeng Ping’'an at a total consideration of RMB31,700,000.
The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method. Zhenfeng Ping’an is principally engaged in the
construction and operation of gas pipeline infrastructure,
sale of gas and gas appliance and repair in Zhenfeng County,
Guizhou Province. The acquisition is completed on 1 April
2016, on that date the control in Zhenfeng Ping’an was passed
to the Group.

EMEAEEFRRREREELR([5E
Fil)

R2016F3 /5178 U)IHFRMARIEE SR
AR ([ENIEE]) AEENEZENBAR
RAF HERES (AP —REET AR
RAINBARE®m BEALT)T LR E
EZGE Bl IR EREREARKE
31,700,000c i 5 & %2 2 2 SPhAxfE - Uit
BEERBWEEAR SLFYLETERE
MEBESZENENREEEMREERR
LB MREKMAREHEREE WES
IHER2016F4 1B - BEF %2 2 15
BERZBBRXTFAER-

Consideration transferred: EEBAE:
RMB’'000
AR%T T
Cash He 26,945
Consideration payable (included in other payables) ERERIE (Bt AR FEMFIE) 4,755

31,700



Guizhou Province Zhenfeng County Ping’an Gas Co., Ltd
(“Zhenfeng Ping’an”) (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

EMNEEEFRRREREELRA([E
F]) (&)

REBEEHERBEERERBABNT

RMB’'000

AR¥®T T

Property, plant and equipment W WEMEE 12,096
Intangible assets EmREE 7,533
Prepaid lease payments ENEe 5,867
Inventories FE 385
Trade receivables B 5 WA 93
Other receivables (Note) Eith pEUg 308 (BEE) 2,064
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIRE 151
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EH M FE R 5RIA (4,153)
Deferred tax liability EERIAEEE (3,956)
20,080

Note: The fair value of other receivables at the date of acquisition
amounted to RMB2,064,000. The gross contractual amount of
those other receivables acquired amounted to RMB9,610,000
at the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition date
of the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected
amounted to RMB7,546,000.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB200,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the current year, within the
Administrative Expenses line item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

MieE: RIKBEHEMERGEZAREAAR
#2,064,0007T ° 7AW & B H E fib B U 5K IB
ZAaMEE A ANRE9,610,0007T ° AU EE
AFE REEREANB S RE 2 RER
5t /A AR®7,546,0007T °

WS MR A~ & 58 A R¥200,000LERE
EERERHG  TERAFESESBRE R
Hap2mWARKITHRE LB TN ER AEF
glzo



Guizhou Province Zhenfeng County Ping’an Gas Co., Ltd
(“Zhenfeng Ping’an”) (Continued)

EMEAEEFRRREREELR([5E
F]) (&)

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEEEZEE:
RMB’000
AR®T T
Consideration transferred BEENRE 31,700
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired & : EWERIERIEE FEZ AR E (20,080)
11,620

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Zhenfeng Ping’an because
the cost of the combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce of Zhenfeng Ping’an. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be
deductible for tax purpose.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Zhenfeng Ping’an:

MR & BF S B 1 12 I # s (B - [tk Wi
HEFRELRHE - AHENREER
RERES T ERBERHRNE Kk
R RARRTHERRERBETINGE ISR
BRI AR BB EECEALER B
It 5% S M) 25 3 R B2 7 B ) B AR

EXBRBZEBERMNMENNAR-

WEESFR 2R R EIFHE:

RMB’000

AR¥F T

Cash consideration paid BENESRE 26,945
Less: deposit paid during the year ended B EE2016F3A31H IEFEEMIES

31 March 2016 (9,510)

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired W BEWEBReNIREEMEIER (151)

17,284

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 was
loss of RMB3,717,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Zhenfeng Ping'an. Revenue for the year ended 31
March 2017 includes RMB1,670,000 generated from Zhenfeng
Ping‘an.

HEEYZEAZBIINEBREEBEAR
#3,717,0007T E 5T AE =2017F3A31H
IEEE 2% - #HE2017F3A31B IEFE
WABEEEFERESE 2 ARE1,670,000
=



The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of
its full-time employees (including directors), consultants, agents
and advisors of the Group. Also, shares awards were granted
by the Group for remuneration to the Group's directors, chief
executive of the Company or employees of the Group.

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share
options and award shares are measured at their fair value.
These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value
of share options and awarded shares granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
full-time employees (including directors), consultants,
agents and advisors of the Group. The Share Option
Scheme is valid and effective until 8 September 2026.

As at 31 March 2018, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 694,495,413 (2017: 694,495,413), representing
approximately 7.68% (2017: 10%) of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2018. Without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the total
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any point in time, and the aggregate number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual
in any year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time.

FEESAEEERER (BRES) E
A I R B A Z F R S — TR AT
g-FR AREERD RN BZEIESAE
BrEF ARANEIETBRAEBRAEHE
M e B 2 B

BB BB T i i i & SR E) A% 0 0 AR 7%
TRERRERE T2 EFRE TRERE
LEBERO AR EmHEEEE  EEER
?“HjElHﬂ%ﬁ]ﬂiﬂ?&ﬁﬁlﬁkﬁiﬁm%25

MBI (Pl - BHEE N REEERE
B2

ARARE—HEEBREE ([FERE
FrEl) BATBREERHEAEE
RN EEHERMZAERBEE -
BREASZAERSEEREAE
BezBEE (BHRES) #RA-
IR AR - BB BT 810202659 A
8H ZHI BB RB AR

MR2018%3A31H ' IR i& B8 M w1 &
A] B 17 2 B 10 #A 81 5694,495,4130%
(20174 : 694,495,4130%)  (E AR
Eﬁﬁézo18¢3ﬂ31aaé’§ﬁﬁx$i’7
7.68% (20175 :10% ) ° R1FA R

P& 3R = S HE A &%Hﬂgﬁiﬂ%&
EZERESRZBHDARTER
BAABRNAEMNEEBEETRDZ
10% M 5 (1] 4 = 8] @) (E {2 1@ Bl A
TR ZERE S K2 RO BETE
BEAN R R EREEE TG Z
1% o



No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant
an option to subscribe for the shares of the Company
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the
"Offer”). The Share Option Scheme may be exercised
at any time for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of acceptance of the Offer, subject to the
conditions imposed by the board of the directors. The
exercise price of the option shares would be at a price
equal to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the options; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted, exercised or outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

On 27 July 2016, the board of directors of the Company
resolved to grant share awards in respect of 208,000,000
shares (the “Award Shares”), to the entitled grantees,
who are certain directors, chief executive of the
Company and employees of the Group by way of issue of
208,000,000 new shares approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting held on 14
October 2016. Details of the Award Shares are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 23 September 2016.

EMRBEBEEEESREAREAR
AR cBRECEZN (BN B
AN IE BRI TR B ER
Z 4 B R FI810F A E (AT BF 1T -
WAXRRESZ MBI G- B
BENZITEEERBERTIZES
()R ERLBEREZ AR AERR
ERMIIARA A ZWHE: (iR
BRI B 2 AR5 AR 5 B R AT
PR AR R BB 2 g Ui 8 ¢ K Giii)
B fn mi{E -

BEREYEXTHRBEAZTEREIR
BERRE LIREZ2HER -

NE E2018%F K2017F3A31H 14
B BERT - 1TE A ARITEERE
[i% 4 -

R2016F7H278 KR AIEFERE
HEERERA (BEARREHES -
FETHRABRAKBEZEE)ETS
1:.208,000,0008% i 5 (42 B A n 1)
%D 2R 5N AREAR RRE
MR2016F10A14B BT 2 REERIK
@ FHEEZE17208,000,000R% A% 1D °
HERG ZFBEINNRAARB A
2016F9 A23H 2B A »



The Award Shares were vested and allotted and issued to
the grantees on 30 September 2017 (“Vesting Date”). If
a grantee resigns or be terminated his/her employment
before the Vesting Date, no shares will be allotted and
issued to the grantee. The grantee is not entitled to
receive dividend during the Vesting Period.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, share awards
expense of RMB13,223,000 (2017: RMB12,212,000) has
been recognised by the Group as staff costs in profit or
loss and the corresponding amount has been credited to
the share-based compensation reserve. No liabilities were
recognised as these were all equity-settled share-based
payment transactions.

On 30 September 2017, a total of 208,000,000 shares
of the Company were issued and allotted to the entitled
grantees pursuant to the terms of Award Shares.

RN D 2017F9A308 ([BFE A
)BT AE R EIT T AR A iH
AR AR R E B B R B s AR EE
BIBET & M ez A% AR B R EITHR
15 o B IR AT 57 B HA A P 4 4 UL BN AR

B o
o

HZE2018F3A31HILFE i {H 2R
FA 2 AR #13,223,0007T (20174 :
AR ¥12,212,00070) E A £ B R
BHEANERBEIRAANEES S
BRt AN BER 2 B &
EERBE REREEIARELS
BUBRMDAEBER AR S -

R2017F9A308  BIERBEI KD 2
B EEEREARABITRAEEES K
208,000,0000% & A &) A% 15

Number of Award Shares

RBRHEE
Granted Shares vested
Grantees and chief As at during the during As at
executive Date of award 1 April 2017 year the year 31 March 2018 Vesting date
R2017% £ 1420185
ARARTETHAE RBAH 4818 EREL HERH 3A31F HERH
- Directors and chief 14 October 2016 121,000,000 - (121,000,000) - 30 September 2017
executive of the 2016F10A 148 201799308
Company
-ADAES
REETHAER
- Employees 14 October 2016 87,000,000 - (87,000,000) - 30 September 2017
-E& 20165107148 201749A308
208,000,000 - (208,000,000 -

Note: The total fair value of the Award Shares at 14 October
2016 which is the grant date of the Award Shares
being HKD29,328,000 (approximately amounted to
RMB25,435,000) which was calculated based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at 14 October 2016.

MifsE: ZEE AR5 R20165F 108148 (&
RO ZEFTEH)ZAABERE
)8 129,328,0007T (M A AR
25,435,0007T) * JIIRBEAR R AR5
7201610148 2 W Bt & -



The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute defined percentages, ranging from 12% to 25%,
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits in compliance with the applicable regulations of the PRC.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under the rules and regulations of the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs or capped at HKD1,500
(2017: HKD1,500) per month per employee to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution
is matched by employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions under the respective schemes above.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
RMB13,859,000 (2017: RMB12,838,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these schemes by the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2018. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

AEER T ERER
EEAEEF WA

Transportation expenses to Yunnan Jiehua
Interest income from Yunnan Jiehua

Purchase of cylinder gas from Southwest BEIAEABREERR
Panva
Purchase of cylinder gas from Yunnan Panva EH =/ & /T HRERE l”’*ﬂ

Sale of cylinder gas to Qiannan Zhou Civigas [F] 25 M AR R § & 5
Purchase of natural gas from Shaanxi

Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note) RERAR (M)

ARBRFEBARZEE TRBEBFZ
%E17HE%J§+§\JEZ§\°%EW 150 P /BB /A ) 78 LA
TEXKAZEEBRD L (N TF12%=E25% )
B R R & A B BUARF A R B 2 AR
o

REBERFABEREERIIMERAESEERDR
B ERB T 2EERE B EERIBESD
HE-HEEERASBEESFABEE B
EEANE S ABE AEERETEER
ZERBHEIEKRAMBIESFTEELS%
gt PR &% 1,5007T (20174 : 5 #1,500
TR B B INER A R B I 3R e R &

Bz ME— %%ﬁ*ﬁﬂ%%i L 51 &) A 3R K 8
Flsr 8t e E K e
RIBmER 2 M 8% AR %13,859,000

7T (20174 : AR #12,838,0007T ) f8 A &
£2018F3A31H L FEALE MZETE
AT E R Z 3 o 720184 2201743 A
318 @ BHEE QU 2 3R AT AR B R R 2R F
E NP

BRINEE MR A MMy A EEIN - K
SEHERBATINRFABTL IR

N

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

10,547
1,241

5,748
573

E@iﬁ%i%ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ

122,422



The above transactions were made on terms mutually agreed
between both parties.

Note: Shaanxi Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. is also a connected
person of the Company by holding 40% equity interests in Xi‘an
Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas"), a subsidiary of the Company.

The directors of the Company considered they are the sole
management personnel of the Group, and their remuneration
during the year is disclosed in note 10. The remuneration of the
directors is determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individual and market trends.

The Group leased its investment properties, as set out in note
17 under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 2 to 3 years at fixed rental. The terms
of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases.

Within one year —FRA
In the second to fifth year, inclusive
Over five years AFE

Net property rental income earned during the year was
RMB960,000 (2016: RMB880,000) with minimal outgoings. All
of the properties held have committed tenants for the next 3
years (2017: 3 years). No contingent rent was arranged for the
above operating lease arrangements.

A LR 5 TR TT i E 2 RFETT

iz : BRAARARBKROBERQBFEAREM
BRARALZFRMRERAR ([BELF
R1) Z40% B Az AR RE 2@ E
ALe

ARREERRRE/AKEE —HERE
AE BERFRZME XM FE10AHEE
ExvvMmFHEzaeREEAMNALZ
RELNGBEETE -

RN AE ARBRBEEHEE LB
BEHe b BEREYME CRHHKREESF
HIm2 235 - MEHR—RITERBEFHR

17 4o
REEE -

RBEYR  ARERBETAIRHELLHE
BEFTAGNZARRKEREESIT-

2017
RMB’000
ARBFTT

403

RE_Z2FRF (BEEEWFE) 339

147

889

RAFERDMZUWERESFURABARE
960,0007T (20174 = A K #880,0007T)
MEELZAX - FTEMERRRKRIF
(2017F 3 )EAAHEL  -pt Ll &2
HETETEZERAES-



Certain office premises of the Group were leased under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of 1 to 10 years (2017: 1 to 10 years).
Rentals are fixed for the relevant lease term. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

REBELEHERH AEEAEETHAE
ME KRN EREEFHSIE105 (2017
FE10%F) RERAHEPRAES AT
o R mERR AEERBTEBUBE L
HEZRRKEHSAEINRERWAT

2017
RMB'000
ARMET T
Within one year —F A 3,945
In the second to fifth year, inclusive REZZERF (BREEEMSE) 3,927
Over five years AEFE 402
8,274
2017
RMB'000
ARMET T
Capital commitment BARAISE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not BEAERREETEREBEZ
provided in the consolidated financial N
statements in respect of:
Property, plant and equipment W WEMEE 20,143
Prepaid lease payments ENEe 2,051

22,194



The Group pledged certain assets to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets
pledged were as follows:

EN N &

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of

operation of piped gas 1 RER
Prepaid lease payments FENEE

B 5 WA

Trade receivables

As at 31 August 2015, Beijing Civigas together with the joint
venture partner entered into a guarantee agreement with a
bank, whereby Beijing Civigas and the joint venture partner
have agreed to provide a joint and several corporate guarantee
in favor of the bank for the loan of RMB100,000,000 granted
to Fujian An Ran (as borrower), a joint venture of the Group.
Details of this transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 August 2015. Up to 31 March 2018,
Fujian An Ran has repaid the whole facility line while such
facility line is revolving in nature and could be drawn in future.

B AE-BREERE

AEEEMBTERE TEEUREARE
ErETRITEE BEMAEEZREENR
T

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

94,795

1,990
3,346
2,943

103,074

1201588310 It RFRERGERE
BHHE-—MRTEIREAR  BitdtR
FPREGECEBHRAEMBTARTA
EEEGERERERA ERABRA)AR
#100,000,000 Tt EFRE L EA R EDFEE
Rt R 5 ZFHBEHNARF BEIA20154
8A31H 2 A - EE2018F3A31H ' @i
ZABEERERERE MLz EEEBE
BERMEE  HA RN &R



On 16 March 2018, 1,888,865,067 Subscription Shares have MR2018%F3 A16H © 1,888,865,067% A B
been issued and alloted as fully paid to Dr. Mo as for the RHBEETRER (BHEE) TEBTIU
settlement of consideration payable. Details of the arrangement HEENRENRE BETHEZFERIIN

are set out in note 30. MI3E30 ©
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the RmEREREREZEARRE A XA F]
date of this report, the Company repurchased its own shares BB R ATEEERMD AT

through the Stock Exchange as follows:

No. of
ordinary Aggregated
shares of Price per share repurchase
HKDO0.07 Highest Lowest cost
E{E & ¥0.07 T BRER

EERHE RS RE EBREEHE
HKD HKD HKD’000
BT BT BT T

Month of repurchase R ARG
April 2018 201854 H 43,828,000 0.120 0.104 4,992
May 2018 2018%5H 63,430,000 0.129 0.119 7,933



Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of

the reporting period includes:

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale investments
Investments in subsidiaries
Amount due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other receivables and prepayments
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Consideration payable

Net current assets (liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital (Note 33)
Reserves (Note)

Total equity

FRBDEE
W= WE RRE
A ERE
RHTBRRZKE
& s FfY /B8 1~ B 5k 0R

mBEE

P& Ui ff 188 X B R0R

H Al & Wk I8 I FB A OB
RITHESREIRE

mEAE
Hfth FE A 50R

F& A~ Bt B8 X B 5R0R
FEA B BR

mBEE (BE)FE

REERRDAR

& AN K %
A& A (BFFE33)
T (HisE)

Bk

R

AR ERRZ A AN RREIE

2017
RMB’000
ARETT

75

14
772,866
77,576

850,531

1,452
609
9,831

11,892

2,291
20,812
155,768

178,871

(166,979)

683,552

453,328
230,224

683,552



Note: M5

TREFIARRBEEZ BRI D R ERARFE R

The following table sets out the components of the reserves of the

Company and the movements thereof during the current and prior BEFE2E-
years.
Deemed Share-based  Investments
Share  Contributed contribution Capital compensation  revaluation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RIETE URBAER REEMR
BRAEE BB i BXfEE  <HMeRE & 2HEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR%Tr ARBTT ARETT ARETR AR%ETR ARET:
At 1 April 2016 1R2016F4 818 944,616 104,932 26,628 1,121 - @ (832,910 250,980
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - (32,968) (32,968)
Fquity-settled share-based S ENER {775 B £ A RR

payments in relationto  EFE LRI AER

Award Shares S - = = = 12,212 = = 12212
Total comprehensive income ZAEEZAMA (FiH)

(expense) for the year ag = - - - 12,212 - (32,968) (20,756)
At 31 March 2017 12017934318 944,616 104,932 26,628 1,721 12,212 7 (865,878) 230,224
Profit for the year AEREA = = = - - - 4,609 4,609
Change in the fairvalue ~ AEHERE AR E

of available-for-sale 2

investments - - - - - 22 - 22
Reclassification adjustment HEAHHEEREH R

of cumulative gain upon  FHREEF A EAE

disposal of available-for-

sale Investments - - - - - (15) - (15)
Equity-settled share-based S E)R 1 A B 0 ARk

payments in relation to B IR AR

Award Shares I35k - - - - 13,223 - - 13,223
Issue of Award Shares FIRBRN

(note 33) (3£33) 13,033 - - - (25,435) - - (12,402)
Subscription of new shares B F (A (M733)

(note 33) 50,924 - - - - - - 50,924
Total comprehensive income AEEZAMA (FiH)

(expense) for the year k) 63,957 - - - (12,212) 7 4,609 56,361
At 31 March 2018 120183 A318 1,008,573 104,932 26,628 7,721 - - (861,269) 286,585



Note: (Continued)

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company may not declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or would after
the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and
(i) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
March 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Capital contributed  Group effective
Name of company*# establishment by the Group interest
AL/
AEET I AEEIE  AREERER
2017
LRAR PRC* US$60,000,000 100%
(Beijing Civigas) R 60,000,005 ¢
m)I&E PRC* RMB300,000,000 100%
(Sichuan Investment) M (2017: RMB111,260,000)
AE%300,000,0007T
(2017%:
ARH111,260,0007)
PR RAEMRARLA PRC* RMB152,222,200 100%

MBLRTBEZREARAR) T8 (2017: RMB68,500,000)
(Beijing Zhongmin Tongjin Gas Co,, ARH152,222,2001
Ltd.) (formerly known as Beijing (2017%:
Zhonglian Hauan Investment Co., AR 68,500,0007)
Lid)

B : (4)

EMABREARAEHTROEEES KEN
BB AR ZBEEFEZZR - REBEFRE1981
FRRE(EER)  REAEATERTARE
BEHERT RO R EHIEH DK 0F 25
EHAFOARRIKMNZ SR AT REEEDH
B R)VAREE<AZREGRLINEER
B BEBTRARRORER B -

R2018%F K2017%F3A831H AR RIZEE
NPEER/NET = =3 NE

Held by the Held by the
Company directly  Company indirectly Principal activities

HALT HARR
ERRE BERE  IERE
2017 2017
100% - Investment holding

REER

= 100%  Investment holdings

REER

= 100%  Investment holdings

REER



Name of company?#

TR

REHRRANRERAA
(Tianjin Civigas Technology Co.,
Ltd)

BHTERRRRARAA
(Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural
Gas Co., Ltd.)

BAhRBRERLA
(Mian Zhu Civigas Co., Ltd.)

BHTERMRZRARALAT
(Mian Zhu City Long Teng Gas
Installation Co., Ltd.)

EonRRAARAF
(Yan Ting Civigas Co., Ltd.)

BERRRRARAT
(Bei Chuan County Civigas Co.,
Ltd)

ERTRIRBRAA
(Chongging Civigas Co., Ltd.)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
AL/
RubE

PRC?
PR

PRC?
PR

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC

R

PRC?
PR

Capital contributed
by the Group

AREEER

RMB100,000,000
(2017: RMB80,000,000)
AE100,000,0007
(20174 :80,000,0007C)

RMB10,000,000
AK10,000,0007

RMB70,000,000
(2017: RMB30,000,000)
AE70,000,0007
(Q017%:
AE30,000,0007)

RMB15,000,000
ARH15,000,0007

RMB20,000,000
AR%20,000,0007

RMB16,762,000
ARH16,762,0007

RMB44,080,000
(2017: RMB20,080,000)
AREH44,080,0007
(Q017%:
AE20,080,0007)

Group effective
interest

ARERRER
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Held by the

Held by the

Company directly ~ Company indirectly Principal activities

RN
EREA
2017

BALE
CE3EE
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TERE

Investment holding

REBRK

Provision of piped gas
REEERR

Provision of piped gas
REEERR

Installation of piped gas distribution
facilties
RRMAEERE

Provision of piped gas and
installation of piped gas
distribution facilities

HEEERAIRERMREE

R

Provision of piped gas
REEERR

Provision of piped gas and
installation of piped gas
distribution facilities

HEEERAIRERMREE

R



Name of company?#

AR

ERPRERIEMARRAA
(Chongging Civigas Fugiang
Industrial Gas Co., Ltd.)

ERPRAGEENAERAT
(Chongging Civigas Xiangyang
Compressed Gas Co,, Ltd.)

=TSRRI ARDT
(Fu Ping Civigas Co., Ltd.)

BRHR
("Xi'an Civigas")

1

3

baisg

;Ti
(Zhen

=

eng Ping'an)

HETRIRBRAR
(THmHhR])
(Hunan Civigas Co., Ltd.)
("Hunan Civigas")

RETRIRERL &
(THARR])
(Xupu Civigas Co., Ltd.)
("Xupu Civigas”)

EMTR

("Yunnan Civigas")

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
AL/
AABY

PRCH
E

PRCH
;ch

PRCH
E

PRCH
;ch

PRC?
PR

PRCH
;ch

PRC
il

PRC?
PR

Capital contributed
by the Group

AREEER

RMB2,000,000
AR%2,000,0007C

RMB10,000,000
AK10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR10,000,0007

RMB62,080,000
AR62,080,0007C

RMB20,000,000
AR20,000,0007

RMB26,000,000
(2017 RMB18,180,000)
AE26,000,0007

(Q017%:
AE18,180,0007)

RMB1,000,000
AR%1,000,0007C

RMB66,260,000
(2017; RMB26,260,000)
66,260,000

(Q017%:
AE26,260,0007)

Group effective
interest

ARERRER
2017

60%

100%

55%

28.05%

100%

Held by the
Company directly
HARR
HREA

2017

Held by the

Company indirectly Principal activities

BALE
L3
2017

51%

51%

60%

51%

100%

55%

28.05%

100%

TERE

Provision of fuel gas and installation
of fuel gas distribution facilities
R RN R EERE

Provision of fuel gas and installation
of fuel gas distribution facilities
R RN R EERE

Provision of piped gas
frEEEnR

Provision of piped gas, design of
fuel gas pipeline and related
maintenance

e BT SR EERES
ilEEE

Provision of piped gas
frEEEnR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREME

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDBREMR



Name of company?#

TR

BEERRRRERAT
(Baise Civigas Co., Ltd.)

RERGTRMAEERRAA
(Ji County Civigas Co., Ltd.)

REREHERRBERTARLF
(Tianjin Binhai New District
Civigas Co., Ltd.)

ZN:AEES

(Tianjin Heng'an)

REMEREANMMRARL T
(Tianjin Yun Ze De Biotechnology
Ltd)

AR RIRAAR A e
(Hebei Civigas Co., Ltd.)

ERER
(Heng'an Ruitai)

MR RIAR R A g
(Henan Civigas Co., Ltd.)

EMRR
(Guizhou Civigas)

BthREBRESERAA
(Huaihua Civigas Petroleum
Gas Supply Co,, Ltd.)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
AL/
RubE

PRC?
PR

PRC?
PR

PRC?
PR
PRC?
PR
PRC?
PR
PRC

PE

PRC?
PR

PRC
PE

PRC?
PR

PRC?
PR

Capital contributed
by the Group

AREEER

RMB10,000,000
AK%10,000,0007

RMB6,640,000
AEH6,640,0007

RMB16,000,000
AK%16,000,0007C
RMB32,500,000
AR32,500,0007
RMB3,010,000
AR%3,0100007
RMB13,925,483

ARH13.925,4837

RMB34,000,000
AR34,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AK10,000,0007

RMB76,000,000
AK%76,000,0007C

RMB26,000,000
AK26,000,0007C

Group effective
interest

ARERRER
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

100%

100%

Held by the
Company directly
HALH
HREA

2017

Held by the

Company indirectly Principal activities

BALE
CE3EE
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

100%

100%

TERE

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREME

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HREMT

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HREMT

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HREMT

Production and sales of barrelled
drinking water

EERBERRRAK

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HRERR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDHREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HRERR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDHREMR

Distribution of cylinder gas

PHERMR



Name of company?#

AR

EETRBEMRARLA
(Chongging Civigas Lianhua Gas
Co., Ltd)

ARPRACRERAA
(Xi'an Civigas LPG Co., Ltd.)

HENRTR
RACRARA me
(Zhenfeng Civigas Ping'an LPG
Co,, Ltd.)

EERRIRERAE
(Deyang Civigas Co,, Ltd.)

ERARIAERRERAR
(Chongging Xianlu
Gas Co,, Ltd.)

LENRR (F)
(Qinanan Zhou Civigas) (Note)

LERR
(Shangrao Civigas)

LERR
(Jiangxi Civigas)

FEIG

(Zhongmou Xiancheng)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
AL/
AABY

PRC?
PR

PRC?
PR

PRC
il

PRC?
PR

PRCH
;ch
PRC
G

PRC
il

PRC
il

PRC
il

Capital contributed
by the Group

AREEER

RMB25,700,000
(2017 RMB14,700,000)
AEH25,700,0007

(Q017%:
AE14,700,0007)

RMB9,000,000
(2017: RMB8,000,000)
AR 9,000,0007
(Q017%:
AE8000,0007)

RMB10,000,000
AR10,000,0007

RMB9,700,000
AR%9,700,0007C

RMB300,000
AR%300,0007
RMB5,000,000

AR5,000,0007

RMB2,700,000
AR%2,700,0007C

RMB3,300,000
AR%3,300,0007

RMB8,600,000
AR%8,600,0007C

Group effective
interest

ARERRER
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

60%

60%

Held by the
Company directly
HARR
HREA

2017

Held by the

Company indirectly Principal activities

BALE
L3
2017

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

100%

60%

60%

51%

TERE

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD HREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDBREME

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDBREME

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERDHERRR
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
HERDHERMR
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
HERDHERRR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

HERD BREMR



i Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.
i Sino-foreign joint equity enterprise registered in the PRC.

##  The Group obtained control through investment in non-wholly-
owned subsidiary, Hunan Civigas.

####  English translated names are for identification only.
#### - Being deregistered during the year.
it Being newly incorporated during the year.

Note: 60% equity interest of a Qiannan Zhou Civigas is being disposed
during the year ended 31 March 2018 with details disclosed in
note 37.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the years and at the end of both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

# R BEMZINEBERSE-
# o RPEEMzRIIeERE-

o OAEEEBRENGE2EHREHE R RN
7 P R BRAS £ Il 4 -

i R TR E R o

A NG ERUH B AT ©

AR E R TR ©

izt BEMPRZ60%RAERENEE2018
FIANBIFERLE  FHERERH

37 ¢

FRARBEERFETHE WBRRBIERT
EAEHES-

FiiFrEMB LR E2EHE BB EMAK
SR

ARAREERR ERMIZAREZHB
REHAEE 2 XELEEFEREAY
Z-MREEBHBRARZFE AARAE
ERREFEERBERTTE-



The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

Place of

incorporation and Proportion of ownership

principal place of interests and voting rights held

Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interests
AR AR L 4 B R FERERRRL

WEAFARR TRERBY RERRERRERLA
2017

Hunan Civigas PRC 45%

MEHR e

Xi‘an Civigas PRC 49%

BZPR hE

Xupu Civigas PRC 71.95%

BETR e

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

FAFEREG  BUFEANBLR

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

TRINTEREAFERBREZASEFE
2ERAWNBRAFE:

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to non-  Accumulated non-controlling

controlling interests interests
FEREREE
BARZARALE Rt ERRER
2017 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR
5,264 27,707
6,423 75,489
8,081 25,144
40,597
168,937

BREERNFERERZEAKEKE LA
ZHBERBZHEINNT » T BB
ERSEARRREHEN S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31HILEE

50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY

50.%E B EAIF#ED

OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

|NTERESTS (Continued)

RFERR 2

?i%:’f%ﬁﬁﬁﬂf’z}ﬂﬁ
(&)

() Hunan Civigas (i) HEFPE

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETF T
Current assets mEEE 37,267 53,380
Non-current assets ERBEE 34,664 39,700
Current liabilities mEAE (36,295) (31,386)
Non-current liabilities IERBERE - (123)

Equity attributable to owners of the KRGS AELER
Company 19,600 33,864
Non-controlling interests IEVE R = 16,036 27,707

216 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fRE MR FTMEE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

SO.MEEE REEERERZ
?i%ié??ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁé
IEEE))

50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Hunan Civigas (Continued) (i) MEHPE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
BZE H=E
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
IHEE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Revenue WA 122,158 96,501
Expenses > (108,093) (84,804)
Profit for the year NG R 14,065 11,697
Profit and total comprehensive income — ARG HEHE A FE1G 2 % A
attributable to owners of the KE2ER AL
Company 7,736 6,433
Profit and total comprehensive income — FE4% A% 4 25 FE 16 2 % F)
attributable to the non-controlling RE2ERAEEE
interests 6,329 5,264
Profit and total comprehensive income  ZN4F [& 35 FI| & 2 T WA 48 58
for the year 14,065 11,697
38
Dividends paid to non-controlling T IEERER 2 IR E g -
interests 18,000 6,750 £
Net cash inflow from operating activities #&X& ¥IEELE 2 &R AFRE 13,057 15,540
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing #&EFBEL 2EERA GRE)
activities HER 3,082 (9,984)
Net cash outflow from financing MEETHEEZRESREFE
activities (30,000) (8,200)
Net cash outflow 2y ian -2 (13,861) (2,644)

PRERBRAH
2017 - 2018F 3k =



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEeMBEERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31HILEE

50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY SOBEBERFEERER Z
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE T EEEWE R B
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 )
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i)  Xi‘an Civigas (i) AZHE
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Current assets mEEE 81,942 66,484
Non-current assets ERBEE 163,132 158,232
Current liabilities mEAaE (83,896) (70,657)

Equity attributable to owners of the KRGS AEMLER
Company 82,200 78,570

Non-controlling interests IEVE R = 78,978 75,489

218 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

|NTERESTS (Continued)

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

SO.MEEE REEERERZ
?i%ié??ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁé
IEEE))

HReMBERRNE

(i) Xi'an Civigas (Continued) (i) AZHE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
BZE =z
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
IHEE IEFE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
Revenue A 182,290 160,572
Expenses > (165,169) (147,464)
Profit for the year NE Z i T 17,121 13,108
Profit and total comprehensive income — ARG HEA A &1 2 4% A
attributable to owners of the Company & ZE W A58 8,732 6,685
Profit and total comprehensive income  3F¥2 AR 4 25 & {5 2 )i F
attributable to the non-controlling e N L
interests 8,389 6,423
Profit and total comprehensive income — ZN4F 55 Al 2 & WX A 4858
for the year 17,121 13,108
52
Dividends paid to non-controlling T IR 2 R B &
interests 4,900 9,310 =
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & ¥EEE 2R RAFHE 27,703 26,348
Net cash outflow to investing activities & & EBEL 2R M L F5E (12,086) (5,373)
Net cash outflow to financing activities FEEEEBELE 2R &R IF5E (10,000) (19,000)
Net cash inflow WERAFHE 5,617 1,975

PRERBRAH
2017 - 2018F 3k =



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEeMBEERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31HILEE

50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY SOEEE RFEIZERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE FEE %ﬁ*ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ?/z} Bl 5
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 (®)
|NTERESTS (Continued)
(i)  Xupu Civigas (i) BHPE
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Current assets mEEE 21,350 19,148
Non-current assets ERBEE 17,170 17,862
Current liabilities mEAE (2,797) (2,064)

Equity attributable to owners of the KRGS AEMLER
Company 10,020 9,802

Non-controlling interests IEVE R = 25,703 25,144

220 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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50.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii)

Xupu Civigas (Continued)

HReMBERRNE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2018 & Z2018%3H31BILLEFEE

S0.EBERFER
HREERERMBE DA

15 (@)

(i) WEPR (&)

AY

R 2

Year ended Year ended
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
B=E HE
31.3.2018 31.3.2017
ILFEE IEFE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR¥BTT
Revenue KA 47,626 41,890
Expenses > (36,849) (30,659)
Profit for the year RNEF A 10,777 11,231
Profit and total comprehensive income — ARG HEA A &1 2 4% A
attributable to owners of the Company & ZE W A58 3,023 3,150
Profit and total comprehensive income  3F¥2 AR 4 25 & {5 2 )i F
attributable to the non-controlling e N L
interests 7,754 8,081
Profit and total comprehensive income — ZN4F [& 35 FI| & 2 WA 48 58
for the year 10,777 11,231
ke
Dividends paid to non-controlling T IEERER 2 RE g
interests 7,195 5,757 =
Net cash inflow from operating activities #X&¥MEL ZE SR AT 12,387 11,893
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing H®EEHELZRERA (L)
activities HER 65 (1,221)
Net cash outflow to financing activities B & EFEL 2 &L F5E (10,000) (8,000)
Net cash inflow BemAFHE 2,452 2,672

PRERBRAH
2017 - 2018F 3k =
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RESULTS
Revenue

Profit (loss) before tax

Income tax expense

Profit (loss) for the year from
discontinued operation

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

ES
WA

BRBATE A (BR)
FIEHR X
ERIEEERS
ZAERER (BR)

RERRMN (BR)

THIEME 2 A FE i A
(E8)

ZNNGIE 2N
2l e o

BERAR
BEMBR
AfEBRE

BEFE

NNGIE 2 DN LY

TR et
BER

2017
RMB'000

2016
RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT

969,524

207,352
(32,284)

53,433

228,501

205,895
22,606

228,501

2,357,158
(531,045)

1,826,113

1,657,176
168,937

1,826,113

(restated)
(&E5)

951,504

(93,794)
(30,209)

(3,928)

(127,931)

(147,281)
19,350

(127,931)

2,065,786
(461,376)

1,604,410

1,439,422
164,988

1,604,410

2015
RMB’000
ARBTI

968,325

251,238
(27,418)

223,820

204,050
19,770

223,820

2,190,086
(457,326)

1,732,760

1,586,714
146,046

1,732,760

2014
RMB’000
ARBFT

832,595

68,244
(10,301)

57,943

47,298
10,645

57,943

1,554,379
(271,589)

1,282,790

1,168,605
114,185

1,282,790



Principal Activities
EFERD

Cylinder Gas
5 1R SR,

e Sales e Distribution

e 7

Piped Gas
EEMRR

* Construction and Operation of City Gas Pipeline Network
P2 R E WA R E BEA

* Provision of Piped Gas
HIEEBIRR

N

¥
[N~

Barrelled Drinking Water
A 5 BRI K

¢ Production e Sales

HE HE
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